A QUIET REVOLUTION: MEDICINE, INTERSEX ACTIVISM, AND THE POLITICS OF CONSENSUS

By

Erin Michelle Bergner

Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Vanderbilt University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Sociology

May 31, 2021

Nashville, TN

Approved:

Laura M. Carpenter, Ph.D.

Holly J. McCammon, Ph.D.

Jonathan M. Metzl, M.D., Ph.D.

Sharon E. Preves, Ph.D.

To Laura, swim coach extraordinaire

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation would not have been possible without the contributions and support of numerous people. I would first like to thank those who participated in my research. I am especially grateful to the intersex activists and health care professionals who shared their time and experiences with me. In addition, funding from the Fahs-Beck Fund for Research and Experimentation at the New York Community Trust through the Doctoral Dissertation Grant Program and from Vanderbilt University through the College of Arts and Science Summer Research Award and Department of Sociology Small Research Grant helped support my data collection efforts.

I am very fortunate that this research has been aided by a brilliant and inspirational dissertation committee: Dr. Laura Carpenter, Dr. Holly McCammon, Dr. Jonathan Metzl, and Dr. Sharon Preves. My committee has generously offered their time, knowledge, and encouragement, and this work has benefited greatly from their insights. Dr. Laura Carpenter has been not only an incredible dissertation chair, but a mentor throughout my graduate career at Vanderbilt. Laura has been a source of unwavering support and encouragement, providing invaluable feedback and navigating any and all of my questions and uncertainties with patience and compassion. Thank you for pushing me to "keep swimming."

I also extend gratitude to the many friends and colleagues who have supported me throughout this journey. My experience at Vanderbilt would not have been what it was without Sandra Arch, Katherine Everhart, Allison McGrath, Art Reed, Erin Rehel, Carly Rush, and Blake Sisk. The conversations and coffee shop sessions over the years, and especially cabin writing retreats with Sandra and Carly, not only benefited my work, but also benefited my soul. I also

have collaborated with an amazing group of people at Vanderbilt University Medical Center, especially Dr. Sarah Jaser, Lauren LeStourgeon, Dr. Lindsay Mayberry, Dr. Lindsay Nelson, and Sarah Williamson. Thank you for continuing to support my development, both personally and professionally. I am fortunate to have worked with Dr. Derek Griffith and the Center for Research on Men's Health (especially Team E!). Derek has provided valuable mentorship while I was writing this dissertation, and I am grateful for the many impromptu whiteboard brainstorming sessions and copious amounts of chocolate.

I could not have completed this journey without my family. To my husband, Jeremy Bagwell, who I met when I was just beginning this project, thank you for believing in me. You are the ultra-runner, but this was my marathon and you were my aid station. My English bulldogs, Hank and Lola, have been loyal companions and stayed by my side during many, many late nights over the years. Thank you to my sister, Dana Bergner, who has never doubted me. Lastly, but certainly not least, to my parents, Dr. Donald and Sharon Bergner: thanking you does not even begin to cover it. I share this dissertation with you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | | Page |
|----|---|-------|
| D | EDICATION | . ii |
| A | CKNOWLEDGEMENTS | . iii |
| LI | ST OF FIGURES | vii |
| Cl | HAPTER | |
| 1 | CONCEPTUALIZING INTERSEX IN MEDICINE AND SOCIAL MOVEMENTS | . 1 |
| | INTERSEX: BRIEF OVERVIEW AND PREVIOUS SCHOLARSHIP | . 3 |
| | THEORY AND LITERATURE | . 9 |
| | DATA AND METHODS. | 20 |
| | OVERVIEW OF CHAPTERS | 26 |
| 2 | CHRONICLING INTERSEX MEDICAL MANAGEMENT: A SITUATIONALANALYSIS | 28 |
| | MAPPING THE SITUATION | 30 |
| | SITUATING INTERSEX. | 32 |
| | OPTIMAL GENDER AND THE TRADITIONAL TREATMENT PARADIGM | . 39 |
| | CONTESTED MEDICINE: POLITICAL, SCIENTIFIC, AND PROFESSIONAL CHALLENGES. | 45 |
| | DSD AND THE POLITICS OF CONSENSUS | . 51 |
| | CONCLUSION | . 60 |

| 3 | THE TRAJECTORY OF INTERSEX ACTIVISM: TENSIONS AND TACTICS | 62 |
|----|--|-----|
| | HEALTH SOCIAL MOVEMENTES AND STYLES OF ACTIVISM | 65 |
| | THE GROWTH OF INTERSEX ACTIVISM | 68 |
| | EMBODIED TENSIONS: DSD TERMINOLOGY | 75 |
| | STRATEGIES FOR CHANGE | 85 |
| | CONCLUSION | 98 |
| 4 | COORDINATING CARE POST-CONSENSUS: MULTIDISCIPLINARY TEAMS AND ENGAGINGFAMILIES | 100 |
| | PATIENT-CENTEREDNESS | 102 |
| | SITUATING INTERSEX CARE | 103 |
| | MULTIDISCIPLINARY PROVISION OF CARE | 107 |
| | ENGAGING WITH FAMILIES | 119 |
| | CONCLUSION | 132 |
| 5 | CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS | 135 |
| | SITUATING KEY FINDINGS. | 137 |
| | LIMITATIONS | 142 |
| | POLICY IMPLICATIONS | 143 |
| RI | EFERENCES | 145 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Fi | igure Ordered Situational Man of Intersey Medical | |
|----|---|----|
| 1 | Ordered Situational Map of Intersex Medical | |
| | Management | 31 |

CHAPTER 1

CONCEPTUALIZING INTERSEX IN MEDICINE AND SOCIAL MOVEMENTS

Intersex has been framed almost exclusively as a biomedical issue given that, until recently, the classification and treatment of intersex has been under the purview of biomedicine. Intersex traits may be associated with any of dozens of diagnoses, but generally refer to atypical sexual anatomy—chromosomal, gonadal, and genital characteristics considered non-standard for "male" and "female." The birth of a child with intersex traits has often been considered a medical and social emergency. What intersex is and how—or whether—it should be treated has been a source of, at times, acrimonious debate among multiple actors, including clinicians, researchers, activists, intersex adults, and parents of intersex children. That is, "[w]hatever intersexuality may be physiologically (and it is many things), intersexuality as a category of person (requiring medical treatment) is not natural" (Karkazis 2008: 11; see also Holmes 2002). This dissertation will show, in part, that such contestations are struggles for legitimation; they challenge who has the authority to classify and treat particular bodies and more broadly, raise questions over the credibility afforded to embodied experiences.

Central to the debate over the medical management of intersex is a debate about defining the "normal" body. Developments in medical knowledge and technology have offered tools to

¹ Most children born with atypical sexual anatomy do not require medical intervention for their physiological health. In rare cases, intersex is associated with life-threatening concerns (e.g., one form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) is characterized by severe salt and hormonal imbalances) that warrant immediate medical intervention. Additionally, though also rare, immediate medical attention may be needed to allow for the elimination of urine or to close open abdomens with exposed organs (e.g., cloacal exstrophy).

understand intersexuality chromosomally, leading to more precise diagnostic categories and a greater ability to identify intersex conditions at birth. While some in the intersex community staunchly oppose medicalization, others are forming alliances with medical professionals in order to "gain a seat at the table" and change medical care. As a result of medical advancements and growing pressures from intersex activists, a group of experts convened to evaluate clinical protocols, and subsequently published the "Consensus Statement on Management of Intersex Disorders" (Lee et al. 2006). Along with outlining new clinical recommendations for care, the Statement also endorsed the new clinical nomenclature of "disorders of sex development" (DSD) (Lee et al. 2006).

My research uses the case of intersex to examine a set of controversial diagnoses that have changed as a result of both technological developments and the visibility of new social groups who challenge medical authority with collective, experiential knowledge. Medical clinicians suggest the DSD classification schema reduces confusion, increases precision and standardization, and emphasizes genetic etiology (Lee et al. 2006; Vilain et al. 2007). Others outside of the medical profession argue the reclassification is an attempt to reassert medical authority amidst increasing lay challenges (Davis 2015). Specifically, my dissertation responds to calls in the sociology of diagnosis (e.g., Jutel 2011) to investigate how and why particular conditions are framed as they are by examining the layers of negotiation, compromise, and interests that surround the scientific evidence of disease and illness. My dissertation examines how understandings of and responses to intersex have changed as a result of these new classifications, amidst a backdrop of evidence-based medicine, technological innovations (e.g., genetics), and vocal advocacy communities.

INTERSEX: BRIEF OVERVIEW AND PREVIOUS SCHOLARSHIP

There are few reliable estimates of the prevalence of intersex, in part, because there is debate about what individuals or diagnoses count as intersex. Medical professionals also do not fully understand the biological causes of intersex. Medical experts agree that sex is multifaceted, but as my research will show, the attributes used to differentiate males from females have varied over time and remain controversial.² Moreover, there is no national census or tracking method for recording intersex births (Karkazis 2008). One oft-cited study (Blackless et al. 2000) that attempted to develop estimates of the frequency of intersex concluded that the frequency of all causes of non-dimorphic sexual development are approximately 1 in 100 or 1.7% of all live births. Elsewhere, Anne Fausto-Sterling (2000) estimated that between 1 in 1000 and 1 in 2000 live births may be subject to genital surgery.

Medical intervention was not routine for intersex before the twentieth century. Advancements in medical knowledge and practice (e.g., surgical techniques, chromosomal testing, the discovery of "sex" hormones) in the early-to-mid twentieth century expanded understandings of the biological markers of sex (Oudshoorn 1994; Dreger 1998b) and paved the way for interventionist models of treatment. In the 1950s, John Money and colleagues (Money et al. 1955b; Money and Ehrhardt 1972) introduced a systematic model for the medical management of intersex conditions. Money and his team at Johns Hopkins University emphasized swift clinical workups to determine a sex for these infants, and then recommended surgery to modify the infant's body, especially the genitals, to conform to the assigned sex. Money's protocol was rapidly and widely adopted, in part because it offered a systematic

² Since the late 1970s, many scholars have distinguished between sex and gender, using the terms in a general way to refer to biological (sex) versus social dimensions (gender) (see also Jordan-Young 2010).

approach to previous imperfect and uncertain knowledge (Karkazis 2008). Money's protocol was virtually uncontested from within the medical profession for decades, and by the 1970s, the medical protocol for intersex diagnoses almost exclusively reflected Money's paradigm, forming "a consensus rarely encountered in science" (Kessler 1998: 136).

While Money's protocol retained widespread dominance throughout the latter half of the twentieth century, divergent ideas were also developing, both within and outside of science, about the medical management of intersexuality. By this time, the first generation of those treated according to Money's protocol had reached adulthood, and began seeking information about their condition, as well as about others who had similar experiences (Preves 2003; Karkazis 2008). Feminist scholars, parents of children with intersex diagnoses, and eventually clinicians, ethicists, and legal experts also began to critique intersex medical management. These critiques facilitated the development and formation of the intersex movement, beginning with the founding of the Intersex Society of North America (ISNA) in 1993.

Intersex activists have increasingly claimed knowledge and authority about the meaning and responses to intersex. Activist groups, such as ISNA, have been a partner and resource to medicine—although limited—for knowledge about intersex conditions. Clinicians initially approached the emergence of early activist groups as a collection of outsiders toward whom they felt deep suspicion (Karkazis 2008). Over time, some activist efforts began to include the formation of alliances with clinicians in order to challenge medicine. For some activist groups, the growing collaboration with clinicians slowly strengthened activists' credibility in the medical arena.

After a decade of efforts to challenge conventional medical approaches to intersex, from both medical professionals and lay activists, fifty international experts convened in Chicago to

review medical guidelines for intersex diagnoses (Lee et al. 2006). At this Chicago meeting, and later summarized in the published Consensus Statement (Lee et al. 2006), the new classification schema, "disorders of sex development" (DSD) was endorsed. In addition, the Statement outlined a more cautious approach to early genital surgery, and recommended the use of multi-disciplinary teams, including the integration of psychosocial support (Lee et al. 2006). It is unclear, however, the extent to which the protocols have been adopted in clinical practice. The historical and contemporary controversies over intersex illustrate that understanding and classifying certain bodies are debated by actors both within and outside of medicine, and change with time, place, and technologies. My dissertation seeks to understand the shifting boundaries of medicine's jurisdictions, especially since the emergence of the Consensus Statement, particularly as a result of diverse efforts to manage uncertain knowledge.

Previous Scholarship on Intersex

While the medical literature on intersex has largely focused on gender identity and surgical outcomes, some clinicians have begun to question the psychosocial ramifications of medical management of intersex. This research has challenged the effectiveness of surgery and questioned whether interventions promote well-being (e.g., Creighton et al. 2004; Liao and Boyle 2004; Roen 2004). Scholarship in the social sciences and humanities has also focused on the stigma and trauma associated with surgical normalization (Dreger 1999; Preves 2003; Karkazis 2008), drawing attention to ethical concerns and even calling for medical reform (Dreger 1998a; 1999; Parens 2006; Sytsma 2006). There is also a growing body of research utilizing legal and human rights perspectives to examine and critique intersex and medical management. Lawyer Julia Greenberg (2012) examined the emergence of intersex activism and

explored the potential of several legal strategies, including disability law, sex discrimination, and human rights protections to support the goals of intersex activists.

Feminist scholars were among the first to critique the ways in which intersex medical management contributes to processes of regulating gender and to lend support to the growing intersex movement of the early 1990s. Suzanne Kessler (1998) and Anne Fausto-Sterling (2000), for example, began to examine how biomedical approaches to intersex draw upon and reinforce dominant ideologies of sexed embodiment. Kessler (1990, 1998) revealed how the medical management of intersex ultimately relies on normative understandings of gender. Based on interviews she conducted with physicians involved in intersex medical management, she demonstrated that physicians' decisions were influenced by cultural factors, including notions of proper genital size.

Fausto-Sterling (2000) also exposed the politics of sex and gender implicit in research on brain organization and gendered behavior, sex hormones research, and outcomes research on genital surgeries. Along with critiquing intersex medical management, her research illustrated how beliefs about gender affect definitions of sex as well as the kinds of knowledge scientists produce about sex in the first place. Historian Alice Dreger (1998b) examined medical treatment of hermaphroditism in France and Britain in the late nineteenth and early twentieth century. Using archival research, she traced negotiations and disagreements among medical professionals about which bodily parts would count as essentially masculine or feminine. Her historical analysis highlights the role of normative ideas about proper genital size and sexual partners in shaping medical treatment for hermaphroditism.

Scholarship in the social sciences has focused on the lived experience of intersex persons and experiences of parents of intersex children, drawing largely from qualitative interviews with

these two groups. This research has highlighted problems inherent in medical practices and the negative consequences of medicalization, including stigma, shame, and other psychosocial concerns (Preves 2003; Holmes 2004). Sharon Preves (2003), a sociologist, examined the experiences of intersex adults and how they coped with their differences. She conducted life-history interviews with intersex adults to examine how they learned of their intersex status, their medical experiences, and how they negotiated issues of identity (Preves 2003). She argued that medical interventions often contribute to—rather than mitigate—stigma about their differences. Preves (2003) also highlighted the role of support groups in providing a forum to connect intersex persons, and helping to mobilize the intersex movement. She later conducted research on intersex media activism and examined how activists used mass media strategically, particularly through their framing processes, to make claims for cultural and medical reform (Preves 2005).

Anthropologist Katrina Karkazis (2008) examined contemporary intersex medical management by conducting interviews with intersex adults, parents of children with intersex traits, and clinicians. She examined the ideologies of sex, gender, and sexuality at the core of intersex medical management and that guide medical decisions over gender assignment and treatment. Her work extends that of Kessler (1998) by interviewing clinicians after the emergence of intersex activism. Moreover, like Preves (2003), Karkazis (2008) examined the ways in which the subjective experiences of intersex people challenge medical authority.

Building upon Karkazis's (2008) work, sociologist Georgiann Davis (2015) investigated how intersex became a DSD. Drawing from interviews with adults with intersex traits, parents of children with intersex traits, and medical experts, she argued that medical professionals replaced intersex with DSD in an effort to reclaim their authority over intersex in the face of ongoing

challenges from intersex activists. She also examined tensions over terminology among intersex individuals, finding that those who adhered to a binary or essentialist understanding of gender were more accepting or more likely to endorse DSD nomenclature.

A group of researchers at the University of California at Los Angeles, led by sociologist Stefan Timmermans analyzed parent-clinician consultations to examine decision-making processes pertaining to surgery (Timmermans et al. 2018). Their findings illustrated that that while clinicians were sensitive to external critiques about surgeries and expressed caution, they also presented surgery as beneficial in their communications with parents. Clinicians strategically steered parents toward decisions clinicians perceived as most appropriate (Timmermans et al. 2018). In a subsequent article, Timmermans et al. (2019) similarly examined parent-clinician consultations to examine decisions around gender assignment, finding that parents and clinicians choose an "appropriate" gender based on the child's potential for sexual intimacy, fertility, gender dysphoria, stigma, and cancer risk.

Much of this previous scholarship uses the case of intersex to explore the politics of sex and gender (e.g., Kessler 1998; Fausto-Sterling 2000; Karkazis 2008; Davis 2015), and often assumes a "top down" approach, focusing on medicalization and the consequences of medical control over intersex bodies. However, as ISNA once declared, "intersex is a problem of stigma and trauma, not gender" (ISNA 2008a). My research examines the processes and consequences of medicalization, and how the process occurs both from the top down and bottom up. Little research has explicitly examined the strategies and tactics of the intersex movement, and their role in medical reform. Specifically, I build on the work of Preves (2003, 2005), Karkazis (2008), and Davis (2015) to examine current debates around intersex, particularly the ways in which medical practice has (or has not changed) since the publication of the Consensus

Statement (Lee et al. 2006). I examine how and why the material and discursive practices of medicine have changed, and also investigate the ways in which medical professionals adopt and/or resist protocols in their clinical work. My research also investigates the trajectory of intersex activism, and examines the ways in which intersex people have actively engaged in efforts to reform medical practice.

A brief note on terminology. I acknowledge that terminology used to refer to intersex is a source of ongoing debate. Indeed, I explore some of this tension over nomenclature in this dissertation. I predominately use the language of intersex, intersex traits, and people with intersex traits throughout my research. The term "disorders of sex development" (DSD) is now common in the medical literature and among medical professionals. I use DSD when discussing the terminology changes and related debates, and in order to maintain clarity and consistency when referencing the medical literature or medical profession. "Hermaphrodite" was the common label used, particularly in medicine, prior to the shift to DSD. I use the labels of hermaphroditism specifically when it is relevant to the historical context.

THEORY AND LITERATURE

I situate this research in the literatures of a.) the sociology of diagnosis and medicalization; b.) knowledge and practice, particularly the symbolic interactionist framework of social worlds/arenas and c.) health social movements.

Diagnoses and Medicalization

Diagnoses are "social" for two reasons. First, diagnosing a condition is connected to political, economic, cultural, and/or social factors. Diagnoses are made on the basis of the

technology and values available at a given time. As classification tools, diagnoses delineate and organize the continuum of human conditions, and validate what counts as disease. Classifications operate as social framing devices, and perform the work of "making it appear that science describes nature (and nature alone)" (Bowker and Star 1999: 46), yet the work of diagnosis is often invisible (Bowker and Star 1999). In other words, diagnoses are presented as natural factors, yet they hide a deeply grounded, socially negotiated genesis (Jutel 2011).

Second, multiple actors conduct diagnosis, and the actions of one group often spill over to affect the actions of others (Brown et al. 2011). Diagnoses are shaped by the complex interactions among lay individuals, professionals, institutions, and organizations (Brown 1995). Once a diagnosis is made, a treatment can be planned, a prognosis determined, and resources are allocated. Given the power of diagnosis to confirm status and allocate resources, the diagnosis is an important site of contest and compromise (Jutel 2011). By engaging with a social model of diagnosis, I do not presume that categories like intersex or DSD are not real or useful. Rather, I consider how and why particular conditions are framed as they are and examine how many forces and agents interact to shape diagnoses, binding the biological, the technological, the social, the political, and the lived (Jutel 2009, 2011).

Medicalization is frequently, although not invariably, enabled by diagnostic categories. According to sociologist Peter Conrad (1992), medicalization "consists of defining a problem in medical terms, using medical language to describe a problem, adopting a medical framework to understand a problem, or using medical intervention to "treat" it" (211). Diagnostic labels affix a medical model to conditions, behaviors, or processes and thus, define, understand, and treat phenomena through medical practices (Zola 1972; Conrad 1975, 1992; Conrad and Schneider 1980).

Medicalization has been the subject of sociological inquiry for half a century, with research often focusing on how non-medical problems become medicalized, as well as the negative and positive consequences of medicalization (Zola 1972; Conrad 1992, 2007). Some work in this area built upon labeling theory and focused on the medicalization of deviant behaviors such as same-sex attraction (Conrad and Schneider 1992). Other work built upon feminist theory and the women's health movement, focusing on the medicalization of "normal" aspects of women's bodies and experiences such as childbirth and menopause (Riska 2003; Lock 2004; Conrad 2007). In these works, medicalization is often shown functioning as an agent of social control (Zola 1971; Illich 1976; Conrad and Schneider 1980; Conrad 1992; Williams and Calnan 1996) and as a "top down" process, or with physicians as the active agents in facilitating medicalization (Conrad 2007). Moreover, in the literature, medicalization is often synonymous with overmedicalization, or inappropriate medicalization (Conrad 1992, 2007).

Foucault (1973, 1977) contributed to a more complex understanding of medicalization, suggesting how the discursive and material practices of medicine are both sites of control and productive in constituting new categories, identities, and bodies (Rabinow 1999; Klawiter 2008). Research began to highlight additional factors driving the expansion of medicalization, such as professional dominance, patriarchy, the growing reliance on science, as well as the efforts of people experiencing illness to gain recognition and seek treatment for their conditions (Rabinow 1999; Barker 2002; Brown and Zavestoski 2004; Klawiter 2008). Work has also examined the role of people outside the medical professions in medicalization processes, shifting focus to how lay people actively participate in the process, at times resisting, while at other times, embracing medicalization (Barker 2002; Dumit 2006; Brown and Zavestoski 2004; Zavestoski et al. 2004; Conrad and Leiter 2008). Although medical beliefs and institutional interests often facilitate

medicalization, processes are not always "top down," and often involve collective organizing and strategic claims-making across multiple arenas. Lay individuals and groups, including individual patients and advocacy organizations, also negotiate medicalization processes, and may involve sympathetic medical professionals (Brown 1990, 1995; Conrad 1992).

Scholars have argued that medicalization is intensifying and changing. Clarke et al. (2003) conceptualize this shift as biomedicalization, in which medical authority is widening through increased technoscientific formulations, where risk is monitored, medical knowledges are produced, information is standardized, and identities are created along genetic lines. Central to biomedicalization processes are clinical innovations, such as new diagnostics, treatments, and practices. Whereas medicalization practices often emphasize exercising *control* over medical phenomena (e.g., diseases, bodily malfunctions), biomedicalization practices emphasize *transformations* of bodies and lives, particularly through technoscientific interventions (Clarke et al. 2003).

Critics have argued medicalization is individualizing and depoliticizing, locating the source of the problem in the individual rather than the social, encouraging medical interventions rather than collective solutions (Conrad 2007). Research on the medicalization of gender variance and more specifically, intersex, has echoed these critiques. Scholars argue that diagnoses such as inversion, homosexuality, and hermaphroditism represent attempts to control individuals who pose fundamental threats to both gender and sexual norms and the sex/gender system itself (Hausman 1995; Dreger 1998b; Fausto-Sterling 2000; Meyerowitz 2002; Preves 2003; Matta 2005; Reis 2009).

Despite a tendency to focus on negative consequences of medicalization, research has also suggested positive implications of medicalization (Broom and Woodward 1996; Conrad

2007), including the potential for greater social tolerance and a more humanitarian approach to atypical behaviors and bodies (Conrad and Schneider 1992; McGann and Conrad 2007). Similar to work in the sociology of diagnosis, research suggests that medicalization can have benefits such as legitimating patient's concerns and support for their problems (Broom and Woodward 1996; Nettleton 2006; Conrad 2007). Through diagnosis and medicalization processes, patients can form collective identities and facilitate the formation of support and advocacy networks (Barker 2002; Brown and Zavestoski 2004; Jutel 2009).

Davis (2015) has demonstrated how, in the face of intersex activism, the shift from "intersex" to "DSD" allowed physicians to reclaim authority over intersex. Building on this, my dissertation will show that diagnosis is a site of both intergroup *and* intragroup contestation. Some activists critique and reject DSD as pathologizing, while others endorse DSD pragmatically, viewing it as a route to work with medicine and reform treatment. Indeed, whereas medicalization studies document patient resistance to diagnosis and the expansion of medical jurisdiction, scholarship on contested illness illustrates how individuals work to achieve diagnosis and thereby increase medicalization (Conrad and Stults 2008). In this way, DSD is constructed in a "contradictory symbolic position" (Hutson 2011: xxxiii)—simultaneously normalizing and stigmatizing.

At the same time, both patients and clinical providers express ambivalence and anxiety about medico-scientific interventions (Kaufman 2005; Landzelius 2006). My own research seeks to better understand how patients and providers engage with medicalization processes so that policies and practices might be improved to better meet people's needs and preferences—as individuals and as members of patient groups (e.g., Loe 2004; Mamo 2007, 2010; Fishman 2010). Ethically charged situations when one person makes decisions for another, such as a

parent deciding for a child, are particularly fraught, as with surgical modifications in the case of intersex (e.g., Parens 2006).

Knowledge and Practice

Scholars at the intersection of medical sociology and science studies have emphasized the relationship between medical knowledge and the social context in which it is embedded (Conrad and Barker 2010). Freidson (1970) showed how the medical profession has a set of assumptions of what illness is that reflects, in part, biological realities, but also the social world. In considering lay beliefs, one can understand how medical knowledge is constructed, both formally within the medical system as well as informally in the community. There are multiple interpretations of illness and professional and lay understandings of illness are often at odds. Scholars have also highlighted ways in which our notions of biological disease or biomedical evidence are negotiated and interpreted within a specific social context (Timmermans 2007; Joyce 2008). Certain groups have the power to define what is an illness and how it should be treated, whereas others are largely the subject of the medical gaze (Foucault 1973). My dissertation builds upon this body of work, which underscores the different knowledge systems that often clash in interpretations of health, disease, and illness.

Symbolic interactionism is a theoretical tradition that explicitly asserts the situational, perspectival nature of knowledge, and further contributes to the notion of knowledge as constructed through interactions (e.g., Mead 1934; Blumer 1969; Strauss 1993). According to Blumer (1969), society is constructed through human interaction. Individuals make meaning individually and collectively in social groupings of various kinds from professions to social movements. Anselm Strauss (1993) built on this work with emphasis on interaction and

organizations. Strauss and others (Strauss 1978, 1991; Becker 1982) proposed social worlds/arenas theory where social worlds constitute the shared realities within which people act, interact, and make meanings of their situations.

The social worlds framework focuses on meaning-making among collectivities or groups of actors, and on collective action, or people "doing things together" (Becker 1986), and working with shared objects, technologies, or tools (Clarke and Fujimura 1992). Strauss (1978, 1982, 1993) and Becker (1982) defined social worlds as groups with shared commitments to certain activities, sharing resources of many kinds to achieve their goals, and building shared ideologies about their work (Clarke and Star 2008). The social worlds framework relies heavily upon Mead's (1934) key concepts of perspective and commitment—that all actors, including collective actors as social worlds, have their own perspectives, sites of work, and commitments to action vis-à-vis the situation or arena. The social worlds framework thus seeks to examine all the human and non-human action and elements contained in the situation from the perspectives of each. It seeks to analyze the various work activities involved in creating and utilizing science, technologies, and medicine, elucidating multiple levels of group meaning-making and material involvements, commitments, and practices (Clarke and Star 2008).

Social worlds are "universes of discourse" that, over time, intersect with other worlds with which they share topical interests and commitments (Strauss 1978). Scholars can analyze these wholes/intersections as an arena, which is composed of multiple worlds organized around issues of mutual concern and commitment to action. Social worlds theory assumes multiple collective actors—social worlds—in negotiations in a broad and often contentious arena. Arenas are focused on matters about which all of the involved social worlds and actors are 1.) committed in action and 2.) produce discourses about arena concerns. Arenas, therefore, are sites of action

and discourse (Clarke 2009). Social worlds (e.g., an occupation, a social group) generate a shared perspective that form the basis for collective action while individual and collective identities are constituted through commitments to and participation in social worlds and arenas (Strauss 1959). Within social worlds and the arenas in which worlds intersect, knowledge is constructed in an ongoing fashion vis-à-vis the everyday practices of a given social world. The social worlds framework became the conceptual infrastructure of situational analysis on which my study relies (Clarke 2005; further explained under DATA AND METHODS).

By attending to diagnostic or clinical work, the researcher can see how knowledge and practice are intimately connected. The practices involved in categorizing pathologies, establishing treatment protocols, and determining treatment are all linked to assumptions about health, illness, and appropriate care (Pickering 1992; Casper and Berg 1995). Biomedical and scientific work are collective and heterogeneous. Understanding the coordination and negotiation of practices in diagnostic work, which takes place across disciplines and domains (e.g., social worlds), is key to understanding knowledge production. The arena of intersex medical management demonstrates one such setting. This is a contested arena, at the intersection of multiple practitioners (e.g., urologists, endocrinologists, psychologists) with a range of skills, interests, and commitments (e.g., surgery, hormones, identity).

Health Social Movements

As previously discussed, (bio)medicalization processes are not always "top down." As questions of health and illness have been recast as political matters, individuals—often organized into patient groups or broader social movements—have demanded a say in medico-scientific work, challenging assumptions that such matters are best left to the experts (Epstein 1996, 2008).

Many such groups are hybrid insofar as they blur divisions between "expert" and "lay" (Brown and Zavestoski 2004; Epstein 2004). Scholars have suggested that this increase in health and disease-based mobilizations reflect the prevalence of more skeptical attitudes towards doctors, scientists, and other experts, trends which also manifest in new conceptions of patients' rights and renewed concerns with bioethical debates (Brown and Zavestoski 2004).

Health social movements (HSMs) have had a significant role in pressing for social change, and have profoundly influenced the health care system and public awareness of health and illness (Brown et al. 2010). HSMs are "collective challenges to medical policy and politics, belief systems, research, and practice that include an array of formal and informal organizations, supporters, networks of cooperation, and media" (Brown et al. 2010: 119). Different types of HSMs address different health issues, and also use different strategies and tactics to meet their goals, ranging from advocacy to radical activism (Brown et al. 2004).

Brown et al. (2004) offer a typology of HSMs that includes the subcategories of health access movements, constituency-based health movements, and embodied health movements (EHMs). Access movements are HSMs that seek equality of access to health care, focusing on reform in provision of services and improvement in their quality. Here, groups work within the existing system and biomedical model and use education rather than direct action. Access movements do not challenge the existing system. In contrast, constituency-based movements are strategically oriented to inequality and health inequities based on race, ethnicity, gender, class, and sexuality. These movements advocate in social, political, and cultural arenas for change. Many of these groups are activist-oriented, challenging current medical practices and pursuing greater radical reform. Constituency-based movements link institutionalized medicine to other forms of social inequality, such as gender and sexuality (Zavestoski et al. 2004). EHMs

introduce the subjective experience of the biological body to social movement activism (Brown et al. 2004; Zavestoski et al. 2004). These categories are ideal types, and the goals and activities of social movements and advocacy organizations may span more than one, as in the case of intersex. Indeed, elements of all three types of HSMs are evident in the intersex movement. However, in my research I emphasize the intersex movement as an EHM.

There are three components of EHMs. First, the illness experience is the source of movement identity and "represents the intersection of social constructions of illness and the personal illness experience of a biological process" (Zavestoski et al. 2004: 256). The collective identity is politicized through the understanding of the stigmatized self as a structural problem not as a personal problem. Second, EHMs challenge not only medical authority but scientific knowledge and the practices involved in its production. For EHMs, the embodied illness legitimates the claims of activists, and are based on the underlying assumption that experiential knowledge constitutes justifiable medical knowledge. That is, the challenges of EHMs are distinct not because they are based in the physical body, but because legitimation is based on people's own experience of their bodies (Archibald and Crabtree 2010). The third element is that EHMs involve a degree of collaboration that blurs distinctions between movement insiders and outsiders. That is, actors seek to subvert scientific authority structures while simultaneously allying with them.

Attention to patient groups and HSMs is crucial for understanding the consequences of biomedical transformations, such as those that facilitated and resulted from the Consensus Statement and DSD nomenclature change (Lee et al. 2006), particularly the agency and the resistances that have arisen in response to them (Epstein 2008). Intersex individuals initially mobilized in the 1990s around shared experiences of trauma and pain as a result of medical

practices. Additional variation-specific groups began to form with the aim of offering support and medical information for patients and their families. Whereas early advocacy efforts emphasized demedicalization and embodied difference, as activism increased over time, some intersex activists began to form alliances with clinicians as part of their collective efforts. These tensions between activists' orientations to medicine and aligning with medical professionals are particularly evident in activists' reactions to the DSD nomenclature.

In chapter three, I examine activists' diverse positions regarding DSD. Here, in brief, it is worth noting that supporters argue that DSD emphasizes the etiological bases of conditions and also reduces confusion, especially for parents, that has accompanied the term "intersex" (Dreger et al. 2005; Dreger and Herndon 2007). On the other hand, opponents argue the shift to "disordered" language reinforces notions that intersex is pathological (Reis 2007; Karkazis 2008). Multiple actors and organizations promote differing degrees of alignment with a biomedical model. My dissertation builds upon previous scholarship on patient groups and HSMs by examining a case in which collective efforts are divided by the extent to which activists and advocacy groups are oriented to medicalization, or engage with medical discourse and practice (Epstein 2008).

In this dissertation, I use the tools of social worlds/arenas theory via situational analysis, and draw on the literatures of medicalization, particularly its intersection with the sociology of diagnosis, and health social movements to examine the following research questions:

- 1. How has medico-scientific discourse and practice on intersex changed over time?
 - a. What role has intersex activism played in changes to medical understandings and treatment for intersex?

- b. What are the primary concerns and challenges of medical professionals in delivering care?
- c. How do medical professionals understand and implement recommended protocols into their practice?
- 2. What is the role of medico-scientific discourse in the efforts of intersex activists and advocacy organizations?
 - a. How do intersex activists and advocacy organization engage with medico-scientific discourse and research in their claims-making and in their challenges to medical practice?
 - b. What strategies and tactics do intersex activists and advocacy organizations utilize in their efforts to challenge medicine?

DATA AND METHODS

This dissertation engages the tools of situational analysis (Clarke 2005) to analyze diverse sources of data that includes qualitative interviews, textual analysis, and participant observation. Within situational analysis, social worlds/arenas theory expands to include everything within in a given situation as consequential elements (Clarke 2005). That is, it is not just the social worlds and their human and non-human elements that situate and shape knowledge and practices, but histories, discourses, institutions, etc. In situational analysis, the conditions of the situation are the situation—there is no such thing as "context" (Clarke and Star 2008). The analysis of the situation specifies the conditional elements of the situation, whereby what structures and conditions any situation is an empirical question (Clarke and Star 2008). The situation per se becomes the unit of analysis, and understanding its elements and their relations is

the primary goal. The situation of inquiry is empirically constructed through three kinds of mapping exercises. I used the analytic techniques of situational mapping (Clarke 2005; explained further under Analytic Strategies) to understand the situation of concern, particularly intersex medical management.

Data Sources

Interviews. I conducted 20 interviews with medical providers involved in diagnosing, treating, and clinically managing individuals with intersex traits. I also conducted 21 interviews with individuals engaged in intersex activism and involved in various advocacy organizations. I began recruitment efforts for my interviews by drawing on my existing social networks in order to locate medical professionals and advocates. I also located additional physicians and advocates by looking at medical publications and organizational websites to identify key players in medical and advocacy social worlds, respectively. I then used snowball strategies, and asked interviewees for referrals to other medical professionals and advocates. Snowballing is often the best way to locate individuals with certain attributes or characteristics necessary for research (Berg 2009).

I sought to interview people from the different specialties that are typically involved in intersex care. These specialists also represent the key disciplines that compromise the multidisciplinary team in current clinical recommendations to delivery care for individuals born with intersex traits (Lee et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2016). I also aimed to recruit professionals with differing levels of experience. I conducted semi-structured interviews with 20 medical and clinical providers. These participants were specialists in urology (n=9), endocrinology (n=6), psychology (n=4), and psychiatry (n=1). Sixty percent (n=12) of medical interviewees were men,

while forty percent were women (n=8). Participants' years in practice ranged from 4-44 years, with a median of 26 years.

Interviews with clinical providers lasted from 30 to 90 minutes. Compared to other areas of medicine, the medical providers involved in clinical work for intersex are a relatively small, but widespread community, and therefore geographic distance and costs often prohibited inperson interviews. Therefore, I completed most interviews by telephone. I interviewed three physicians in person. Topics covered during my interviews included perceived changes in care, the impact of the Consensus Statement, clinical decision-making particularly for gender assignment and surgery, communicating with patients and families, and the perceived impact of intersex activism.

Activism is also an important site of engagement with and contestations over medical management, with different interests and efforts taken up by various activist and advocacy organizations. Knowing that the intersex movement includes diverse organization ranging from patient support groups to activist-oriented organizations, I sought to interview individuals involved in multiple organizations. To explore this side of the story, I conducted formal interviews with 21 activists and completed informal discussions with two individuals (one inperson; one online). Most interviewees were a person with an intersex trait (n=19). Two activists were family members of a person with intersex traits, and two allies from the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) community. Participants' involvement in advocacy work ranged from 2 to 38 years, with a median of 13 years. Interviewees were associated with 7 groups or organizations that represented both variation-specific groups (e.g., Turner Syndrome Foundation) and activist-oriented organizations (e.g., ISNA). Almost all interviewees were involved in more than one organization.

Interviews with activists ranged in length from approximately 35 minutes to two hours and fifteen minutes. Similar to that of medicine, advocates are a small, but diffuse community, similarly making in-person interviews prohibitively difficult. Therefore, most interviews were completed by telephone (n=19) and video conferencing (n=2). Interviews covered topics pertaining to their involvement and work with different organizations, including the extent to which they engaged with medical professionals or other institutional actors, perceived medical changes as a result of activism, and the impact of the Consensus Statement.

Participant observation. In June 2013, I began my fieldwork by attending the 4th International Disorder of Sex Development (i-DSD) Symposium in Glasgow, Scotland. The i-DSD Symposium is a multidisciplinary conference held every two years. It is attended by international experts as well as patient representatives. An explicit aim of the Symposium was to facilitate collaborations among these groups. The scientific program in 2013 included invited talks and research presentations, and covered a range of topics, including drug therapies, surgical interventions, treatment outcomes, and patient and family communication. I participated in and took fieldnotes at numerous information sessions, research presentations, training workshops, and other events.

The cornerstone of the Symposium is the i-DSD Registry. The registry provides a platform to connect clinical and research centers around the world in an effort to collect standardized information on various diagnoses associated with intersex traits. To learn more about it, I participated in a pre-symposium training workshop offered for those interested in conducting clinical research and in using the registry. Regrettably I was not able to attend a support group session that brought together affected patients and family members with members of the medical community. Despite contacting the Session Chair to express my interest in

attending, they refused my request, and I was not able to attend this session, which was primarily by invitation only.

Later on, I also attended three "gender team" meetings at a large, academic pediatric hospital. I was invited to attend after meeting the pediatric endocrinologist that coordinates and leads these meetings. During these meetings, unusual or "difficult" cases were discussed, and various specialists presented diagnostic and treatment information regarding their involvement in the case. These meetings were attended by medical professionals and medical students.

Each of these sites for participant observation provided important data to supplement my research, and offered particular insight into professional and lay dynamics, interprofessional dynamics, and also highlighted current areas of debate. These observations also helped me to identify key challenges encountered by professionals in clinical practice and research.

Textual materials. To collect data on current areas of controversy, collective efforts of activist and groups, and key claims, I also collected and read articles, press releases, and other information created by popular media, support groups, and advocacy organizations. I also collected published accounts on medical treatment and research on intersex in both scientific and popular media, medical education texts, and other written documents. These data not only were important for my analysis, but they also helped me to identify key players in the worlds of intersex medicine and advocacy—that is, the people I interviewed.

Analytic Strategies

Interview recordings were transcribed, and all textual materials were uploaded into the qualitative data analysis software program, *Atlas.ti*. To analyze these data, I followed Strauss and Corbin's (1998) grounded theory methodologies. Grounded theory, very briefly, is an "empirical approach to the study of social life through qualitative analysis" (Clarke 2005: xxxi). This

emphasizes the on-going coding of data and memo-writing in order to conceptualize a particular project that is grounded in data. I initially coded data segment by segment (open coding), giving temporary labels (codes) to particular phenomena. I also used "sensitizing concepts" based on the review of relevant literatures to guide my open coding. Then, I began to determine the extent to which generated codes appeared across multiple data sources, and elaborated their properties. Codes that were related and extended across sources were then "densified" (Clarke 2005: xxxi) in categories that were ultimately integrated.

Unlike the "basic social process" that undergirds traditional grounded theory, the conceptual infrastructure of situational analysis centers on Strauss's "social worlds/arenas/negotiations" framework (Clarke 2005). Clarke (2005) argues for situational analyses in which a particular situation of interest is analyzed through examination of all the salient elements and their relations in that situation. Situational maps lay out the major human, non-human, discursive, and other elements in the research situation of inquiry and facilitate analysis of relations among them. A second type of map, social worlds/arenas maps, offers meso-level interpretations of the situation by laying out the collective actors and the arena(s) of commitment and discourse within which they are engaged in negotiations. Lastly, positional maps lay out the major positions taken and not taken in the data vis-à-vis axes of concern and controversy around issues in the situation of inquiry. These maps center on elucidating the key elements, discourses, structures, and conditions of possibility that characterize the situation of inquiry (Clarke 2009). I used mapping strategies throughout the coding and memo-writing process, to work through initial ideas and areas of exploration. The very doing of maps provoked my thinking and analysis, and helped me work through data more systematically.

OVERVIEW OF CHAPTERS

In chapter two, I provide a historical situational analysis of the medical management of intersex. Drawing from primary and secondary data, and using mapping techniques of situational analysis, I examine diverse collaborations between and among medical professionals, activists, and others, highlighting the ways in which intersex has been understood and responded to over time. I empirically examine negotiations over processes of classification and standardization, and elucidate key elements of the situation, particularly the technologies, concepts, and conditions most consequential for contemporary practices and clinical recommendations, particularly those outlined in the landmark 2006 Consensus Statement (Lee et al. 2006).

In chapter three, I draw largely on interviews with intersex activists to examine different styles of activism within the intersex movement. I analyze the multiple strategies and tactics of activists, including their diverse positions on DSD nomenclature. Some activists, many of whom endorse DSD, focus on direct engagement with medicine and want to collaborate with medical professionals to improve clinical care and research. Others, including those that reject DSD and generally oppose working within the medical model, are looking to legal strategies, particularly human rights advocacy and litigation, to politicize intersex medical management.

In chapter four, I examine the impact of the Consensus Statement recommendations on clinical practices by drawing on my interviews with clinical providers that care for intersex people and their families. In particular, I analyze how providers engage in multidisciplinary team-based care and patient-centered care. Additionally, I examine clinicians' perceptions of their interactions with intersex patients and families, as well as the challenges they face in their daily work.

In chapter five, I conclude this dissertation by reviewing key findings from my research and discuss their contributions to the literature. I also review implications for policy.

CHAPTER 2

CHRONICLING INTERSEX MEDICAL MANAGEMENT: A SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

In this chapter, I provide a historical situational analysis of the medical management of intersex. I examine the medical understandings and responses to atypical sex over time, including the technologies, concepts, and conditions most pertinent in shaping contemporary practices, classifications, and standards of care. Current recommendations for the clinical management of intersex are outlined in the "Consensus Statement on the Management of Intersex Disorders" (Lee et al. 2006). Endorsed by professional pediatric endocrine associations in both the U.S. and Europe, this landmark publication proposed the new nomenclature of "disorders of sex development" (DSD) and laid out a revised approach to intersex medical management for the first time since the 1950s.

When the Statement was published in 2006, the ethics, politics, and science underlying intersex medical management had been subject to almost 20 years of strong critique from actors within and outside of medicine. The Statement and its recommendations have since provoked a range of reactions from different actors and communities, and debates and controversies persist. While the new standards were swiftly embraced by clinicians in medical discourse and practice, in general, outside the worlds of medicine, they are particularly contentious. Among the worlds of intersex activism, the DSD nomenclature is especially divisive.

In this chapter, drawing from primary and secondary data, I examine negotiations and diverse collaborations between and among medical professionals, activists, and others, and trace the ideas and practices mobilized in intersex classifications. I demonstrate how different actors and communities of practice have variously engaged in collaborative endeavors to classify,

define, and standardize intersex health care. Using the tools of situational mapping (Clarke 2005), I empirically examine negotiations over processes of classification and standardization, and show how, at times, concerns about defining and treating intersex are negotiated through "cooperation without consensus" (Star 1993).

In what follows, I first provide a brief overview of situational analysis and mapping techniques. Next, I trace the parallel histories of intersex medicalization and the rise of scientific medicine in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, and examine the influential work of John Money and his colleagues at Johns Hopkins University, whose work defined the standard of care for intersex management for the latter half of the twentieth century. My analysis then turns to elements both within and outside the worlds of medical science that are particularly consequential for current clinical management, as represented by the Consensus Statement. I also explore subsequent—and ongoing—controversies in the current clinical arena.

I situate this work in the histories of biomedicine and intersex activism, which constitute the "conditions of possibility" (Foucault 1973) from which the DSD model emerged. The conditions, processes, and politics of the DSD model are consequential elements for these multiple social worlds, and debates between and among these worlds have played out in various outlets, including academic journals and organizational materials. Further, the process and practices of defining and treating intersex reveals multiple contingencies, conflicts, and differing objectives. In their analysis of Pap smear classifications, Adele Clarke and Monica Casper (1996) highlight how organizing different entities (e.g., people, diseases) into classificatory groups "reveal something of the social, cultural, symbolic, and political contexts within which classifications occur" (601). In my analysis I highlight ways in which clinicians have developed new standards and classifications in an effort to stabilize uncertainties that have characterized

intersex and its management over time. In doing so, however, they have also produced new uncertainties. That is, uncertainty is both the cause and consequence of standardization efforts. Thus, the DSD model is one effort at "sorting things out" (Bowker and Star 1999) in the historical trajectory of intersex medical management.

MAPPING THE SITUATION

Understanding medico-scientific work and knowledge production requires understanding everything in the situation: organizations and groups, physicians, researchers, and other actors, theories and models, technologies, and so on (Clarke and Fujimura 1992). These situational elements are not simply contextual, but conditional. I illuminate these situational elements, by mapping out the key elements in the situation of intersex medical management over time.

In outlining situational analysis, Clarke (2005) presents three cartographic strategies for doing situational analyses: situational maps, social worlds/arenas maps, and positional maps. Each of these maps offer points of access into one's data. Situational maps require the analyst to lay out all of the "analytically pertinent human and non-human, material and symbolic/discursive elements of a particular situation *as framed by those in it and by the analyst*" (Clarke 2005: 87). The process of mapping the various elements over time and in multiple ways was of great benefit for me and provided useful insight into my data. In this chapter, I offer an ordered situational map (Figure 1) as a final analytic product in charting the relevant and important elements of the "situation" of intersex management over time.

Figure 1. Ordered situational map of intersex medical management.

Individual Human Actors

Chervl Chase John Money Medical professionals Intersex advocates Academic scholars/allies

Collective Actors/Elements

Activist organizations Intersex Society of North America Organization Intersex International InterACT Support groups Human rights bodies United Nations Human Rights Watch Multidisciplinary teams Social movements LGBT activism Patient rights

Women's health/Feminism Media

Feminist academy

Non-human Actants/Elements

Treatment Protocols Optimal Gender Policy (OGP) Consensus Statements Surgical interventions/techniques Diagnostic tools Classifications Internet Advocacy organizational websites/materials Research networks/registries

International Disorders of Sex Development registry Disorders of Sex Development-Translational Research Network Disorders of Sex Development (DSD) clinics

Gender role theory

Brain organization theory

Discourses

Patient-centered care DSD discourses Surgery discourses Activist discourses Human rights Bioethics Medical discourses

Evidence-based medicine Nature vs. nurture

Historical discourses Rise of scientific medicine Hermaphroditism

OGP

Implicated Actors/Actants

Parents Intersex child

Political/Economic Elements

Evidence-based medicine

Temporal Elements

Rise of intersex advocacy Age of Gonads Early intervention

Major Debates

DSD Surgery

Sociocultural Elements

Sex Gender

Embodied Elements

Genitals Hormones Chromosomes Gonads

Other sex characteristics

The categories listed reflect what ended up being most salient and central to my analysis as I made sense of my data. As analytic tools, the use of situational maps is important for helping to uncover relations between elements. Therefore, I use this situational map to chronicle intersex

medical management, highlighting key elements and the relationships between them. Other elements from the map and their relationships are evident and further explored in Chapters Three and Four as well.

SITUATING (INTER)SEX

From "True Sex" To "Best Sex"

In the early modern period, medicine did not exercise hegemony over defining and controlling hermaphroditism. Rather, the sixteenth, seventeenth, and eighteenth centuries were characterized by a coexistence of alternative and heterogeneous conceptions of the body. As Hippocratic medicine, which was based on a humoral theory of the body's fluids and temperature, gradually shifted to "scientific medicine" throughout Europe and the United States during the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, medical conceptualizations of the human body underwent major shifts. Physicians and scientists developed a clear sense of the statistical aspects of natural variation and with the tools of medical measurement, could set standards of human physiology, evaluate deviations, and classify individuals (Porter 1986; Foucault 1989; Starr 1982; Poovey 1995). With such knowledge, medical professionals steadily acquired greater authority over the disposition of atypical bodies, defining certain bodies as abnormal and in need of correction (Daston 1992; see also Canguilhem (1991). Hermaphrodites, like many others whose unusual bodies were previously viewed as unnatural and freakish, were now explainable in terms of variations of normal and abnormal development and classified in relation to the natural order of things (Daston and Park 1995; Dreger 1998b; Fausto-Sterling 2000).

During the nineteenth century, most newborns were not seen by a doctor given the prevalence of traditional, women-centered home births, which were overseen by women giving

birth and their female assistants (Martin 1987; Leavitt 1986). If questions about sex determination arose at birth, they were usually handled within the family, except for the rare case in which the child's health was compromised and necessitated medical intervention (Schwartz Cowan 1992; Preves 2002). Moreover, if a hermaphrodite sought medical opinion, it was usually to relieve discomfort or pain, receive a diagnosis, or for sex determination or revision; in some instances, the patient sought to marry, divorce, acquire inheritance, or avoid military deployment (Dreger 1998; Reis 2009). However, there was little agreement among doctors about which traits conclusively determined sex, provoking professional debate over the nature of sex and its proper diagnosis (Dreger 1998b; Reis 2009). Doctors often focused on visual markers, particularly on the penis and clitoris, though sometimes the vagina, uterus, and menstruation were offered as proof of womanhood. If biological indicators proved inconclusive, medical practitioners often turned to social cues such as an individual's mannerisms, clothing, tastes, as well as sexual desires (Dreger 1998b; Reis 2009).

As scientific medicine became institutionalized, with the concomitant and interrelated changes including the rising status and professionalization of doctors, the reform of medical education, and the building and expansion of hospitals, medical practice moved from the bedside to the hospital (Starr 1982). New technologies of seeing—including the microscope, anatomical dissection, and most importantly, what Foucault (1989) termed the "clinical gaze"—began to transform the doctor/patient relationship, expanding physicians' interpretive power to the body's interior in clinical examinations and reducing reliance on the patient's experiences and reported symptoms (Foucault 1973; Starr 1982; Armstrong 1995; Lachmund 1998). As hospitals became loci of knowledge production and treatment-oriented medicine, doctors began to see an increasing number of patients whose sex came under question, often because of their external

genitalia. With the rise of gynecology and increasing access to medical care, more and more people were subject to genital examination (Dreger 1998b). Moreover, medical interest in hermaphroditism increased markedly during the nineteenth century and reported cases proliferated (Dreger 1998b).

The Age of Gonads

While medical science asserted jurisdiction over the body and the medical profession constituted its professional authority (Waddington 1990), doctors in the U.S. and Europe were investigating, documenting, and defining sex, searching for the incontrovertible marker of "true sex." In the late nineteenth century, a consensus emerged that the reliable marker of true sex was found in the gonads, that is, the ovary or testicle (Dreger 1998b). Scientists and medical practitioners began to rally around a gonadal model of sex, looking for conclusive evidence of ovaries or testes (e.g., Blacker and Lawrence 1896). This notion was first codified by Theodor Albrecht Klebs in 1876—initiating what historian Alice Dreger (1998b) called the "Age of Gonads." Klebs, a German pathologist, developed a system that classified hermaphroditism based on gonadal status. Klebs labeled individuals with both an ovary and a testicle as "true hermaphrodites," those with testicles as "male pseudohermaphrodites," and those with ovaries as "female pseudohermaphrodites." These categories were used until 2006, when they were replaced by the current DSD classifications.

Most doctors remained convinced that the presence of either ovaries or testes would provide the answer to sexual uncertainty (Reis 2009). Doctors' widespread adoption of the gonadal definition was driven, in part, by pragmatism. This was critical at a time of ideological, social, and political shifts in public culture, and heightening concerns around gender, bodies, and

morality (Laqueur 1990; Dreger 1998b; Reis 2009). The first women's movement and suffragists were expanding political activism and agitating for equal rights (Dicker 2008). Moreover, the newly named "homosexual" was becoming more visible in society (Dreger 1998b). Anxiety about gender and sexual boundaries led many physician and scientists to insight on tighter definitions of acceptable malehood and femalehood, meaning a strict division between males and females (Dreger 1998b). They rallied behind the gonadal model because it meant that nearly all bodies could be limited to one and only one sex.

Doctors' claims that true sex should be determined solely by the anatomical nature of the gonads were also motivated by trends in scientific pathology, particularly a histological (tissue-based) approach to understanding disease and growing international interest in laboratory-based medical research (Bynum 1994; Bonner 1995; Dreger 1998b). However, given the high risk of exploratory surgery and lack of non-surgical imaging techniques until the twentieth century, gonadal sex determination proved difficult for doctors who could only assess an individual's gonadal tissue by superficial palpation in living patients or autopsy after death (Dreger 1998b; Fausto-Sterling 2000; Mak 2012). Doctors could positively identify the structure of the gonad by microscopic analysis by the end of the nineteenth century, though more often for deceased than for living individuals.

Around the turn of the century, with improvements in anesthesia and medical hygiene, doctors could use laparotomy (exploratory surgery of the abdominal cavity) and biopsy to assess the internal gonadal tissue of living patients (Dreger 1998b; Mak 2012; Mak 2015). Yet as doctors performed more of these procedures, they increasingly faced the limits of the gonadal classificatory system. Clinicians were now confronted not only by living "true" hermaphrodites, but also by the fact that some gonads contained both ovarian and testicular tissue (ovotestes;

Blacker and Lawrence 1896). Moreover, sometimes a person's external genitalia contradicted a biopsy. For example, they confirmed that some women had testes but phenotypically were completely feminine.

Understandings of sexual difference continued to evolve in the early twentieth century. By this time, sexual development was a particularly controversial topic in the biological sciences. One scientific hotspot was the theory of "bisexual" human organs—referring to a perceived bi-potentiality of development wherein all embryos could develop into either a male or female organism—and the question of how, when, and why this bisexual embryo develops into a male or female human fetus became increasingly important (Laqueur 1990; Kenan 1998). There was an ongoing rift between physiologists who suggested the sexual characteristics were determined by environmental and physiological conditions during fetal development in utero, and geneticists who argued that nuclear elements—later known as the sex chromosomes irrevocably fixed sex at conception (Oudshoorn 1994). Medical and scientific developments, particularly in the worlds of endocrinology and genetics, revealed multiple conflicting and contradictory markers of sex. Between 1880 and 1910, a series of discoveries suggested that chromosomes carried hereditary information and that sex determination was tied to a so-called sex chromosome, ushering in the notion of a chromosomal basis for sex. The emergent science of endocrinology was also drawing interest for its potential to provide "unambiguous medical explanations for sexual ambiguity" (Karkazis 2008: 41) and the possibility of using endocrine therapies to correct an individual's sexual ambiguity (Karkazis 2008).

By 1910, endocrinologists had discovered that ovaries and testes not only produced reproductive cells but were also glands that secrete chemicals. These secretions, scientists believed, were sex-specific hormones that functioned as chemical messengers of masculinity and

femininity (Oudshoorn 1994), shaping the physical body as well as the human psyche and behavior (Hausman 1995). The first to suggest a hormonal basis for hermaphroditism was zoologist, Frank Lillie. Lillie's (1916, 1917) research on freemartin cows demonstrated that the fetal environment (i.e., hormonal milieu) could influence the development of atypical reproductive anatomy, resulting in a mixture of sex characteristics. In the 1910s and early 1920s, Sex hormone research was considered the "missing link between genetic and physiological models of sex determination" (Oudshoorn 1994:21), challenging previous understandings that sex was determined solely through chromosomes and initiating a shift away from understanding the gonads as the sole locus of sex. Assigning a true sex became more complicated as medical and scientific advances identified not only reproductive structures and the physiological and developmental importance of the gonads, but also molecular components such as hormones and chromosomes—and undermined reliance on a single or straightforward gonadal marker of true sex.

Ambiguous Sex, Ambiguous Medicine

While in theory, the "Age of Gonads" extended well into the first half of the twentieth century, the "application of the gonadal dictum in practice was at best uneven" (Dreger 1998b: 158), functioning more as a practical guide than the "gold standard" or medical doctrine.

Although medical evaluation aimed to simplify the diagnosis and treatment of hermaphroditism, assigning a true sex became more complex, as clinicians made determinations based on their own interpretation of a plethora of somatic data (Preves 2003; Mak 2005; Karkazis 2008).

During this time—a period Redick (2004) more aptly named the "Era of Idiosyncrasy"— there

was no unifying theory, principles, or method for sex determination and treatment was highly contested.

With the advent of scientific medicine, surgery had grown both in prestige and accomplishments, bringing about new possibilities for medical intervention. Improved surgical techniques contributed to a more interventionist approach to intersex variations. In the case of intersex, surgery was increasingly used to remove organs incongruous with what was deemed the patient's true (i.e., gonadal) or social sex and to correct perceived genital anomalies. Moreover, doctors had not yet established pediatric surgery as a separate discipline: general surgeons or anatomical specialists—in this case urologists—performed most procedures. One of the first to offer such procedures was the "Father of Urology," Hugh Hampton Young. In 1916, Young opened the Brady Urological Institute at Johns Hopkins Medical School where he later pioneered pediatric genital reconstructive procedures, including clitoral and vaginal plastic surgery. However, medical intervention was not routine, and often occurred only in adolescence or adulthood at the request of the individual (e.g., Young 1937).

In the face of numerous conflicting and contradictory signifiers of sex, doctors began to express uncertainty about assigning sex to intersex individuals (Hausman 1995) and the best course of action. Dr. James McCahey (1938: 927-928) wrote, "Present day management of hermaphroditism is based on this [gonadal] explanation, but the therapy is unsatisfactory because uncertainty as to the proper procedure in any given case." From the mid-1930s, psychology became an increasingly important element in the diagnosis of true sex (Redick 2004). Writing in the *American Journal of Surgery*, Dr. Leo Bleyer (1948) agreed that reliance on the gonads was an "arbitrary standard," (449) contending "[t]he approach from a personalistic psychologic standpoint and the consideration of the total psychophysic pattern seems to be a better way for

the practical purpose of a happy adjustment of the patient" (449). Most physicians agreed that surgical decisions in adolescent and adult patients should rest on psychological and emotional factors rather than on a strict adherence to the presence of ovaries or testes (e.g., Rubovits and Saphir 1938; Finesinger et al. 1942; Smith and Stockwell 1940; Ingersoll and Finesinger 1947). Doctors began to take time to assess patients' psychological makeup before deciding whether to perform surgeries that would alter their gender presentation.

In sum, the medical certainty postured in the late nineteenth century by doctors affirming the gonadal model as a marker of true sex, gave way to a period in which there were no straightforward agreed-upon norms. By the middle of the twentieth century, new scientific technologies and developments including the availability of chromosomal testing, hormone assays, and imaging techniques (such as ultrasound) provided additional data that both informed and further complicated sex determination and assignment. As I discussed earlier, medicine had also achieved professional dominance, and matters such as childbirth were now firmly under clinical purview. These factors combined paved the way for what became the dominant medical paradigm for intersex management throughout the latter half of the twentieth century.

OPTIMAL GENDER AND THE TRADITIONAL TREATMENT PARADIGM

Johns Hopkins University was one of few U.S. institutions known for clinically managing hermaphroditism, owing, in part, to Young's pioneering work in surgery. His innovations made the Brady Urological Institute a magnet for cases of indeterminate sex, garnering referrals for "interesting" or "unusual" cases from physicians across the country (Kenan 1998). Another esteemed physician, Lawson Wilkins, the founder of pediatric endocrinology, established the first pediatric endocrine clinic at the Harriet Lane Home in Baltimore, a children's clinic

associated with Hopkins. Moreover, the mid-century was a particularly exciting time at Hopkins as Wilkins had developed treatments to suppress virilization in congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) by administering the newly synthesized hormone cortisone (Wilkins et al. 1951; see also Money and Ehrhardt 1972). The geneticist Murray Barr had also discovered that a test for chromatins in skin samples could conclusively determine chromosomal sex (Moore et al. 1953). These technological innovations made it increasingly easy to diagnose intersex and intervene at an earlier age.

For the latter half of the twentieth century, clinical management for intersex was dominated and defined by the work of John Money, a psychologist, and his colleagues at Johns Hopkins University. Money came to work at Hopkins in 1951 under the aegis of Wilkins, who was assembling the first cross-specialty team to study and treat intersex infants (Redick 2004). The team included gynecologic surgeon Howard Jones, urologist William Scott, and two psychiatry fellows, John Hampson and Joan Hampson. Money sought to bring unity and coherence to the "anarchy of idiosyncrasy" (Money 1952: 194) that prevailed in the preceding decades as emerging evidence increasingly undermined adherence to a gonadal model (Redick 2004).

In a series of articles published in the 1950s (Hampson 1955; Hampson et al. 1955; Money 1955, 1956; Money et al. 1955a; Money et al. 1955b; Money et al. 1956; Money et al. 1957), Money and his colleagues introduced principles and protocols for intersex management based on a theory of gender acquisition first developed during Money's doctoral studies. Their innovative research highlighted the role of rearing and socialization in shaping what they called a person's "gender role," defined as "all those things that a person says or does to disclose himself or herself as having the status of a boy or man, girl or woman, respectively" (Money et al.

1955b: 285; further elaborated in Money and Ehrhardt 1972). For Money, the development of gender role, encapsulating what we would today distinguish as gender identity, gender behavior, and sexual orientation (Money 1995; Rubin 2012),³ was a multistage process, that relied on multiple attributes and variables of biological sex and but did not derive from these exclusively (Karkazis 2008).

According to their work, gender development resulted from a process of consistent upbringing and the child's identification with his or her normatively sexed body (Money and Ehrhardt 1972). Money et al. (1957: 333) argued:

[T]he sex of assignment and rearing is consistently and conspicuously a more reliable prognosticator of a hermaphrodite's gender role and orientation than is the chromosomal sex, the gonadal sex, the hormonal sex, the accessory internal reproductive morphology, or the ambiguous morphology of the external genitalia.

The notion that gender was a product of rearing also meant that it was somewhat flexible and malleable during the first two years of a child's life (Money et al. 1955a). They recommended that for an optimal outcome, the decision concerning sex assignment and rearing be made before that time, and that the child was raised without any ambiguity about their gender (e.g., Money et al. 1955a; Money et al. 1955b; Money 1956; Money and Ehrhardt 1972). From this theory, they developed what was later known as "optimal gender policy" (OGP) for the psychosocial and medical management of intersex conditions (Money et al. 1955a, 1955b; Meyer-Bahlburg 1998), which guided clinical practices for the next several decades. In contrast to earlier work on hermaphroditism that was dominated by sciences such as embryology, endocrinology, and

³ The term gender identity emerged several years later and is credited to the psychoanalyst Robert Stoller (1964). Eventually Money would use the term gender-identity/role (G-I/R) to refer to what today we would distinguish as gender identity, gender behavior, and sexual orientation (see Money and Ehrhardt 1972; Money 1994, 1995).

urology, the OGP provided a method for gender assignment and set standards for treatment that incorporated biological and psychological variables, linking the fields of psychology, endocrinology, and surgery.

Under the OGP, surgical innovations and technical capabilities were particularly important, as limits to surgical techniques often directed decisions on whether to assign a child male or female (Money et al. 1957). Mid-century surgeons were able to cosmetically construct a convincing-looking vagina and reduce the size of the clitoris, however, surgeons had limited ability to construct a penis that was convincing in appearance or function. As a result, most children born with atypical genitals were assigned and reared as female under the OGP (Dreger 1998a), and usually underwent normalizing genital surgeries that involved clitoral reduction and/or vaginoplasty (Creighton and Minto 2001).

Early intervention to construct genitals that most closely corresponded to those appropriate for boys or girls was thought to be imperative to ensure parents' commitment to raising their child as the assigned gender and to avert any purported risks to the child's psychological health (Money 1955b; Money 1965; Money and Ehrhardt 1972). Once a gender was assigned by medicine, genital surgery was "delayed as little as possible after birth" because genital appearance "dictates not only the expectancies of other people, but also contributes to the development of the child's own body image" (Money 1965: 11; see also Hampson 1955). In addition to genital surgery, treatment also included hormone therapy to direct the body to

-

⁴ The "adequacy" of the phallus was based on two functional assessments: the ability to pee standing up and the capacity for penetrative intercourse (Dreger 1998a; Fausto-Sterling 2000).

⁵ Based on the surgical opinion that it "easier to dig a hole than build a pole" (Hendricks 1993: 15), most intersex babies were assigned female—approximately in the ratio of 9:1 (Newman et al. 1992).

develop secondary sex characteristics anticipated at puberty for the assigned sex (e.g., breasts for female assignment). "Erasing" ambiguity was thought to ensure parents' acceptance of their child's assigned gender and prevent the child or others from questioning their gender (Beh and Diamond 2000).

The presumed need for certainty or lack of ambiguity on the part of parents, the community, and the child about the child's gender motivated both the urgency of treatment and the "conspiracy of silence" (Dreger 1998a). The conspiracy of silence ensured that the diagnosis and purposes of treatment were concealed from families and their children to "spare" them the psychological and emotional trauma thought to be caused by such knowledge (Tamar-Mattis et al. 2014). Doctors often withheld or misrepresented information—what Chase (2003:240) referred to as "spin control"—in order to secure patient and parental certainty regarding the patient's sex of rearing. Practices of non-disclosure included different strategies such as the use of euphemistic language, misleading diagnostic explanations, and outright deception. Common reasoning among clinicians treating intersexuality was the belief that talking truthfully with intersex individuals and their families would undo all the "positive" effects of the technological efforts aimed at covering up ambiguity. The urgency of treatment⁶ and use of an ethics of non-disclosure⁷ are documented in medical literature well into the 1990s.

_

⁶ This rhetoric of emergency is evident in medical publications: "[I]t is now well-accepted that ambiguity of the genitalia is a medical emergency" (Lobe et al. 1987: 651); "The child with ambiguous genitalia is a neonatal surgical emergency" (Canty 1977: 279). Even a published statement by the American Academy of Pediatrics (2000) stated, "[t]he birth of a child with ambiguous genitalia constitute a social emergency" (138).

⁷ In the late twentieth century, medical professionals advocated that it was ethically responsible to withhold information or tell partial truths in order to spare patients the reality of their diagnosis. In a 1988 commentary, Brendan Minogue and Robert Tarszewski argued that a physician could justifiably withhold information from a 16-year-old patient with androgen insensitivity syndrome (AIS) and/or her parents if he believed that the patient and/or family was

Money's paradigm emerged as the "epistemic foundation for the new pediatric standard of practice" (Kipnis and Diamond 1999: 177), forming among clinicians "a consensus rarely encountered in science" (Kessler 1998: 136). The OGP, particularly its framework for early surgical intervention, was incorporated in medical literature and medical school curricula, "appended to the clinical teaching repertoire as spoken truths of clinical practice" (Reiner 1996: 661), and embedded in health care practice in hospitals throughout the U.S. The growth of hospitals and medical training programs in the early twentieth century and the key role played by Hopkins in reforming and standardizing American medicine, in general, and more specifically, in pioneering techniques for the diagnosis and treatment of intersex conditions, contributed to the hegemonic status of Money's paradigm. Subsequently, the number of clinics able to treat affected infants grew, with interventions more routinely performed in infancy (Karkazis 2008).

By the 1970s, medical protocol almost exclusively reflected Money's paradigm.

Although Money published extensively in medical journals for almost 20 years, it was with the publication of his landmark book with Anke Ehrhardt, *Man and Woman, Boy and Girl* (Money and Ehrhardt 1972), that his work garnered extensive professional and popular interest. The linchpin of Money's theory was the now-infamous case of John/Joan, later known as David Reimer. The case involved a boy born with typical sex features who lost his penis during a botched circumcision procedure. Unsure how this would impact his development, his parents contacted John Money and followed his recommendations to reassign and rear David as a girl.

-

likely incapable of handling the fact that she had testes and an XY chromosomal complement (Minogue and Taraszewski 1988). Anita Natarajan, at the time a second-year medical student the University of British Columbia, placed second and won \$750 in the Logie Medical Ethics Essay Contest in which she also argued that "physicians who treat AIS patients are justified in not disclosing the information that the patient is genetically male" (Natarajan 1996: 569). Moreover, because physicians were selectively withholding information about patients' bodies, they "are not actually lying; they are only deceiving" (Natarajan 1996: 570).

Money initially proclaimed the case a success, and eventually concluded "gender dimorphic patterns of rearing have an extraordinary influence on shaping a child's psychosexual differentiation and the ultimate outcome of a female or male gender identity" (Money and Ehrhardt 1972: 144-145). The apparent success of the John/Joan case was touted in Money's research and popular media (e.g., Money and Ehrhardt 1972; "The Sexes" 1973; Money 1975).

Feminists, scholars, and professionals in fields such as psychology, psychiatry, sociology, and gender studies also embraced Money's theory and research to challenge conventional explanations for gender differences (e.g., Rubin 1975; Kessler and McKenna 1978; Vance 1991), such as those emerging from the controversial field of sociobiology that framed them as natural or biologically determined (e.g., Wilson 1975; Barash 1977). *TIME* ("The Sexes" 1973) described Money's book as

[S]trong support for a major contention of women's liberationists: that conventional patterns of masculine and feminine behavior can be altered. It also casts doubt on the theory that major sexual differences, psychological as well as anatomical, are immutably set by the genes at conception.

In general, nurture was given prominence over nature in popular discourse of human sexual and gendered behavior. This belief, in the scientific, professional, and public worlds, held from the 1970s for more than two decades

CONTESTED MEDICINE: POLITICAL, SCIENTIFIC, AND PROFESIONAL CHALLENGES

By the 1990s, the first generation of those treated according to the OGP were reaching adulthood and they began to examine what had happened to them and seek information about their condition (Karkazis 2008). Some of them were profoundly unhappy. In 1993, Cheryl

Chase⁸ founded the Intersex Society of North America (ISNA) with the goal of providing peer support and to challenge medical protocols. Activists used confrontational mobilization strategies—what Davis (2015) characterizes as collective confrontation—to pressure doctors to listen to the voices of those affected by their practices (e.g., Chase 1998, 1999). Their objections and criticisms were often delivered publicly via experiential narratives, and garnered attention from medical and public worlds (Karkazis 2008). For example, ISNA published members' stories in their newsletter *Hermaphrodites with Attitude*, corresponded with clinicians through letters to the editor in medical journals, and protested outside of hospitals and medical conferences. Activists argued that treatment resulted in both physical and psychological harms (e.g., Chase 1999), including the loss of reproductive capacity, pain, scarring, urinary incontinence, diminished erotic response, and emotional trauma (ISNA 2008c). In publicly voicing their negative experiences, activists demonstrated that the outcomes that normalizing interventions purported to alleviate or protect against, such as shame and stigma, were instead often consequences of those treatments (Kessler 1998; Preves 2003).

The arena of intersex activism now includes diverse actors and multiple collectivities and organizations that provide peer support, pursue overt, direct action, and promote seeing intersex through a human rights frame and a broader appreciation for diverse embodiments (Karkazis 2008). The development and expansion of the internet during the 1990s facilitated the connection of intersex adults and as a result, the formation of support groups and advocacy organizations has proliferated. For example, the CARES Foundation began advocating for patients and families affected by CAH in 2001, and in 2003, Organization Intersex International (OII) was formed; and has since expanded to include chapters around the world. New ways of articulating the

_

⁸ The activist who was previously known as Cheryl Chase is now Bo Laurent.

"problem" of the treatment of intersex conditions under the OGP also began to emerge, focusing specifically on issues of informed consent and human rights (Preves 2005). Intersex activists employed a two-pronged strategy that, on one hand, argued for "acceptance, dignity and humane treatment for those with [sexually] atypical bodies in an effort to challenge ideology, practices and consciousness" (Karkazis, 2008: 8), and on the other hand, called into question the timing and necessity of genital surgeries as well as the right of medical professionals to make treatment decisions that were based on limited scientific information and without fully informing intersex patients or their families.

Health-related Activism and Patient Rights

While Money's treatment paradigm dominated the latter half of the twentieth century, broad social changes were also in motion that paved the way for a reexamination about intersex clinical management. Since the 1970s, various social movements, such as the women's health movement, patient health movement, and lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) advocacy were increasingly focused on health and patients' rights, and a notion about patient-centered care was gaining importance in general medical practice (Laine and Davidoff 1996). These diverse movements were concerned with rights in health care, such as the right to informed consent and the right to participation in treatment decisions. The demands of these activists also went beyond more traditional demands for more medical care and challenged medical expertise and the distribution of power (Starr 1982). The intersex movement has benefited from and built upon the organizations, strategies, and rhetoric of these earlier social movements, and their challenges to medical authority more generally. Intersex activists have generated new, alternative knowledges grounded in their own medical experiences, and

developed critiques of medical practice that question medical conventions, call for increased patient autonomy, condemn medical paternalism, and challenge the legitimacy of medicoscientific knowledge.

The growth of health movements in over the past several decades can be viewed as a response to the expansion of medical authority over the twentieth century. The worlds of healthrelated movements have brought medical decision making and practice into public discourse, as activists sought to reduce physicians' discretion and enhance patients' autonomy through collaboration between clinicians and patients. For example, the demedicalization of homosexuality highlighted the waning authority traditionally held by clinicians and the medical establishment (Starr 1982; Rothman 1991). The efforts by gay activists, along with critics in psychiatry, successfully pressured the American Psychiatric Association to remove homosexuality from the official list of psychiatric disorders in the Diagnostics and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) (Bayer 1981). Moreover, patient rights advocates, questioned the prerogatives of the doctors' role and implicitly claimed that the interests of doctors and patients often diverged (Starr 1982). In the 1970s, feminists questioned medical orthodoxies, called for increased patient autonomy and critiqued medical paternalism (Kline 2010). They also countered medical accounts by providing alternative knowledge based on their own experiences.

Health-related activism and patient-centered discourse constitute the conditions by which the intersex movement emerged. Since the 1970s, the patients' perspective has been an important part of the rationalization of medical practice, and coincided with a general trend in this period attending to patient subjectivity (Armstrong 1983). Whereas prior to this time, the physician was expected to make decisions for the patient, patients' subjective preferences were increasingly

incorporated in clinical decision making (Schwartz et al. 1987; Berg 1997). Since the late twentieth century, there is a general expectation that patients (or their surrogates) will participate with clinicians in decisions about medical treatment. Patients now have greater autonomy in health care decisions due, in part, to health activism. This shift towards patient centered care reflects a shift to make health care more responsive to patients' needs and preferences.

Nature, Revisited: The John/Joan Case

Although few people critiqued Money's ideas publicly early on (Karkazis 2008), as early as 1965, however, Milton Diamond challenged Money's theory, arguing that hormonal influences, prenatally and during critical periods after birth, determined psychosexual development. However, his critiques of Money's theory would not garner much attention until the late 1990s, when he published a follow-up on the John/Joan case with Keith Sigmundson, the psychiatrist on the case (Diamond and Sigmundson 1997). Their findings challenged the credibility and "success" of the John/Joan case and, ultimately, Money himself. In their 1997 article, Diamond and Sigmundson (1997) revealed that David had felt different and unhappy since childhood and by the age of 14, was living as a boy. For Diamond and Sigmundson (1997), this finding was demonstrative of the failure of Money's gender socialization hypothesis, "Normal humans are not psychosexually neutral at birth but are, in keeping with their mammalian heritage, predisposed and biased to interact with environmental, familial and social forces in either a male or female mode" (303).

Soon after publication, popular media were abuzz with stories on the case and claims that biological determinism had prevailed (Preves 2005). The general public was alerted to the updated findings by a front-page report in the *New York Times*:

A classic case of a gruesome surgical accident and its consequences that was long used as evidence of the pliability of sexual [sic] identity turns out, in follow-up, to suggest the opposite: that a sense of being male or female is innate, immune to the interventions of doctors, therapists and parents (Angier 1997b).

Reimer's story was also disseminated in an article in *Rolling Stone* (Colapinto 1997) followed by a *New York Times* bestselling book-length expose (Colapinto 2000), and a documentary ("The Boy who was Turned Into a Girl" 2000). The updated story of David Reimer reignited long-standing nature-versus-nurture disputes and catapulted intersex issues into popular consciousness. Activists also took advantage of the publicity generated by the case to bring visibility to intersex individuals' stories and features sympathetic to activist concerns, which were increasingly showcased in popular media and news outlets (e.g., Angier 1997a, 1997b; Colapinto 1997; Cowley 1997; "Gender Limbo" 1997; Gross 1997; "Intersexuals" 1997; ISNA 1998; Davis 2000).

The John/Joan case became so influential, in part, because it raised issues that dovetailed with broader, social debates of the late twentieth century, especially those over the origins of gender differences. The 1990s saw a reassertion of "nature" through the rise of evolutionary psychology (Buss 1989; Tooby and Cosmides 1989) and increasing efforts to apply the science of brain structure and hormones to traits, abilities, behaviors, and attitudes and beliefs (Hines 1993; Collaer and Hines 1995; Davatzikos and Resnick 1998).¹⁰

-

⁹ Tragically, in 2004, David Reimer took his own life (Colapinto 2004).

¹⁰ See Jordan-Young (2010) for a thorough examination and critique of this body of research.

DSD AND THE POLITICS OF CONSENSUS

The John/Joan follow-up and the ensuing controversy stimulated a re-examination of long-standing intersex management practices and further increased intersex visibility in the public arena. In 2005, a group of 50 international experts from multiple medical specialties and two intersex advocates— Chase, as Executive Director of ISNA, and Barbara Thomas, a member of XY-Frauen, a German support group—convened in Chicago to evaluate clinical management practices, review available outcomes research, and propose an agenda for future research. Jointly sponsored by the Lawson Wilkins Pediatric Endocrine Society (now known as the Pediatric Endocrine Society) and the European Society for Paediatric Endocrinology, this was the first meeting in which medical professionals and advocates worked together to reconsider medical care and the first time in over 50 years that physicians so thoroughly reviewed intersex treatment practices. Conference attendees were organized into six working groups, each assigned a different topic (AIS Support Group 2018), and tasked to devise new clinical recommendations, which were subsequently published in the "Consensus Statement on the Management of Intersex Disorders" (Lee et al. 2006). This meeting and the published statement it developed was a professional response to the proliferating uncertainties related to clinical management of intersex in the face of increasing intersex activism.

In developing guidelines, a group of experts typically evaluates scientific literature and then offers recommendations aimed at the practicing clinician. However, in the case of intersex, evidentiary base is highly variable and generally limited, and there is not available evidence to evaluate all clinical decisions covered in a guideline. The consensus meeting is one way to fill in the blanks and to interpret conflicting statements in the literature. Experts convene to discuss the contentious issues and to work toward a practically feasible recommendation (Timmermans and

Berg 2003). However, critics have pointed to the lack of transparency in consensus statement decision-making, with suspicions that "the resulting guidelines are often as much the result of group dynamics during the meeting as of the scientific literature" (Timmermans and Berg 2003:4). Some critics suggest that such reports may be based more on "compromise" than on actual consensus (Rennie 1981; May 1985; Oliver 1985).

Intersex Medical Management Post-Consensus

The 2006 Consensus Statement proposed new nomenclature and outlined an updated model for diagnosis, treatment, and clinical care. Citing progress in "diagnosis, surgical techniques, understanding psychosocial issues, and recognizing and accepting the place of patient advocacy" (Lee et al. 2006: e488), the recommendations for an optimal approach included clinical evaluation and management of DSDs with emphasis on sex assignment *only* following expert evaluation in newborns; evaluation and long-term management by an experienced multidisciplinary team (MDT) of specialists; open communication and shared decision making with patients and their families; and a commitment to respecting and addressing patient and family concerns in confidence (Lee et al. 2006).

The Statement also proposed the term "Disorder of Sex Development" (DSD) to replace the umbrella category "intersex," which covered the longstanding classifications of "male pseudohermaphroditism," "female pseudohermaphroditism," and "true hermaphroditism." Conference participants framed DSD as a response to "advances in identification of molecular genetic causes of abnormal sex with heightened awareness of ethical issues and patient advocacy concerns" (Lee et al. 2006: e488), and defined DSD as "congenital conditions in which development of chromosomal, gonadal, or anatomic sex is atypical" (Lee et al. 2006: e488). The DSD classification categories are structured around the karyotype (chromosomal features in the

nucleus of the cell, including number, size, and shape): 'Sex chromosome DSD, 46 XY DSD and 46 XX DSD. Within these categories, individual diagnoses are further classified based on hormonal, gonadal, chromosomal or other bodily variations or differences (Griffiths 2018).

The 2006 Statement and a global update published 10 years later (Lee et al. 2016) highlight the promise of biomedically-grounded classifications, and the DSD system has also led to the development of international research networks. I observed a user training for the International Disorder of Sex Development registry (i-DSD) while attending an international DSD conference in Glasgow, Scotland. i-DSD is an international biomedical registry developed for intersex variations. Modeled on the rare disease approach, this research network enacts intersex variations as rare genetic diseases, with the assumption that bodily difference is best understood through more, better, and future-oriented genetic and molecular knowledge production (Griffiths 2018).

The increasing centrality of biology or biological factors are also evident in particular changes in male assignment for certain patients with 46 XY chromosomes. For example, under the OGP, infants with XY chromosomes and a phallus that was absent (aphallia) or smaller than average (microphallus) were assigned female and subsequently underwent vaginoplasty, gonadectomy, and hormone therapy. The DSD treatment model, however, now recommends male assignment for these infants in accordance with their chromosomal makeup. Data from a 2011 survey of American pediatric urologists found that 79% of respondents recommended male assignments for 46 XY cloacal exstrophy, 11 and almost all (97%) reported "brain imprinting" by

-

¹¹ Cloacal exstrophy is a condition in which abdominal organs protrude through the abdominal wall. Infants can be born with their intestines and bladder exposed (Meyer-Bahlburg 2005).

prenatal androgens as an important factor in their decision (Arboleda et al. 2011). According to the 2016 global update to the Consensus Statement (Lee et al. 2016: 169; *emphasis mine*),

The previously widespread routine assignment of 46, XY newborns with markedly hypomasculinized genitalia as females has given way to more *detailed considerations of biological factors*...Physicians are now more likely to suggest male assignment of 46, XY newborns who presumably had *normal-male prenatal androgen levels with nonhormonal genital malformations*, such a cloacal exstrophy of the bladder.

Those with nonhormonal etiologies, such as cloacal exstrophy, are presumed to have had typical androgen exposure or responsiveness during fetal life, and now receive male rather than female assignment on the basis of their presumably masculinized brains. This change parallels a broader shift towards biologically-based explanations, especially the emphasis on brain organization and hormonal imprinting embraced by Diamond and publicized with the fall-out from the John/Joan case.

Due in part to the constraints of a limited evidence base, consensus reports are typically fairly indeterminate, non-compulsory guidelines (Timmermans and Berg 2003). The 2006 Consensus Statement is rather general and the global update published a decade later (Lee et al. 2016) confirms much of the same. Moreover, the extent to which the Consensus Statements have impacted clinical practice is less clear, and seemingly more than variable. My own interviews with physicians suggest that some of the changes outlined in the Consensus Statement were "realized in word but not deed" (Feder 2015: 134; see also Feder 2014). (In chapter four, I examine how some of the specific recommendations such as multidisciplinary team care and engaging with families plays out in practice). All of the physicians I interviewed viewed the Statement, generally speaking, in favorable terms. Almost all of the clinicians I interviewed also viewed the growth of multidisciplinary teams as a positive change in caring for both the physical

and psychosocial aspects of intersex patients and their families. One pediatric endocrinologist, Dr. 7, noted that the Statement was beneficial to her relationship with parents, who were reassured of doctors' competence and general awareness of the state of practice pertaining to intersex variations.

As I will discuss further in Chapter Four, many of the physicians I interviewed also agreed that a child with intersex traits was not the emergency requiring rapid response of prior decades. It was also clear from my interviews with physicians that their role in engaging with families and advising them on clinical options has changed. In contrast to the early surgery physicians urgently advocated, physicians often reported, especially the pediatric urologists I spoke with, that they are performing these same surgeries on request of the parents. While this appears to comply with the bioethical promotion of parent autonomy (Feder 2015), it also provides doctors the benefit of protection. For example, Dr. 11, a pediatric urologist, explained the benefit of including parents and a multidisciplinary team in decisions as potential protection from malpractice.

Perceptions were somewhat more variable among activists I interviewed, and I explore this more fully in chapter three. Some saw the Statement initially as a potentially good first step in gaining some of the clinical reforms they had been advocating for. Others activists I spoke with lamented the lack of truly assessing the needs of the community and including them in the decision-making process. Some advocates counter that the organizers and participants of the consensus meeting consulted few intersex people before endorsing the new DSD nomenclature and only two individuals with intersex traits participated in the conference and were pre-assigned to specific workgroups (AIS Support Group 2018). However, the 2006 Consensus Statement did result in several changes to the standard of care that were advocated by activists and patient

advocates and represent a more patient centered approach to care. These updates include acknowledging that intersex variations are not a social emergency, are not shameful, and the provision of complete, and honest information and encouraging participation in decision-making.

Sociologist Georgiann Davis (2015) argued that the shift to DSD nomenclature was a move to reassert medical authority in the face of continuing challenges by intersex activists. My own research supports this claim, but takes this further and contends that consensus development was a strategy to maintain both professional *and* political credibility. In the face of challenges both within and outside of medicine, the recourse to guidelines was necessary to legitimate the professionals' claim to exclusive expertise over intersex, further grounding classifications in a biologically-based model. Moreover, the reassertion of scientific expertise and medical authority seems borne out by the increased funding for biomedical research on intersex (Sandberg et al. 2015) and development of research networks and registries, such as the i-DSD international registry I previously discussed.

The development of consensus statements and associated efforts for outcomes research represent contemporary efforts toward standardization, particularly a movement towards evidence-based medicine (EBM). EBM is "the conscientious, explicit, and judicious use of current best evidence in making decisions about the care of individual patients" (Sackett et al. 1996: 71). EBM commonly refers to the use of clinical practice guidelines to disseminate proven diagnostic and therapeutic knowledge. In response to more emancipated patients, increasing attention to variations in medical practices, an information overload, and an overall critical scrutiny of the role of experts and professionals in society, the medical profession had to act in order to maintain its position as exclusive keepers of medical knowledge (Timmermans and Berg 2003).

Similarly, the Disorders of Sex Development-Translational Research Network (DSD-TRN), a large, NIH-funded collaborative encompassing seven DSD clinics across the U.S., was formed in 2009. Standardization forms the foundation of these international and national research collaboratives. DSD care providers standardized terminologies and communication routes, which are necessary in order for medical data to be comparable across international sites. Whereas in the early twentieth century, standardization was associated with the "ideological luster" (Timmermans and Berg 2003: 12) of scientific and technological progress that accompanied the growth of hospitals and developments in laboratory sciences and diagnostic technologies (Stevens 1989), a century later the reemergence of standardization via EBM is about delineating what sequence of activities constitutes a professional response to a given situation (Timmermans and Berg 2003).

"A Quiet Revolution?"

Despite the Consensus Statement projecting an ideal of certainty and of good medical practice and addressing some of the concerns raised by activists and other actors, several points of controversy persist. The DSD nomenclature is particularly controversial, and has divided advocates and clinicians. Published responses to the Statement illustrate a range of reactions (e.g., Diamond and Beh 2006; Hughes 2008; Feder 2009) with some hailing it a success, some responding with partial acceptance, and others resisting it outright. Medical discourse suggests a rapid and near universal adoption of DSD nomenclature, leading one of the co-authors of the Consensus Statement to characterize its rapid ascent as "a quiet revolution in medicine" (Hughes 2010: 160).

However, there is continuing debate between medical specialists as to whether DSD refers primarily to genetic or anatomical variation (e.g., Griffiths 2018). Some clinicians support the inclusion of syndromes in which genital appearance is typical and are not typically associated with questions about gender identity, arguing that this expansion does away with the notion that atypical genitalia are the *sine qua non* of DSD (Vilain and Sandberg 2009). Other medical professionals have suggested that Turner and Klinefelter's syndromes be excluded from DSD (Aaronson and Aaronson 2010; Sandberg 2012) and that the features that anchor DSD should necessarily be gonads, genitals, and the assignment of gender as close to the moment of birth as possible. Moreover, there are no shared medical criteria uniting the different and distinct conditions referred to by the term DSD. In contrast, Schober et al. (2012: 621) states:

DSD is not a diagnosis. It comprises a spectrum of abnormalities where there is a discordance of the standard criteria that define gender. Although some of these very rare conditions have factors in common, there is great danger in extrapolating findings from one to another. Physicians will generally concentrate on aspects that they can easily influence by treatment such as hormonal control and anatomical alteration of the external genitalia. Patients, on the other hand, may be more concerned with criteria that are much more difficult to quantify and are often ignored in the medical literature.

There is an array of views on DSD terminology among other academics and within support, advocacy, and activist networks, ranging from pragmatic acceptance in order to engage with doctors (e.g., Dreger and Herndon 2007) to outright rejection of DSD language as inherently pathologizing (e.g., OII 2007; Reis 2007; Holmes 2011; Davis 2015). Cheryl Chase advocated for the DSD nomenclature from the start, arguing that the new terminology was necessary to shift the focus from who the patient *is* to what they *have*. Such a move is justified for destigmatizing atypical sex by shifting focus from gender identity to medical illness (Chase 2006; Feder and Karkazis 2008). As Bowker and Star (1999) explain, classifications always

involve social and ethical choices. "Each standard and category valorize some point of view and silences another. This is not inherently a bad thing—indeed it is inescapable. But it is an ethical choice, and as such it is dangerous—not bad, but dangerous" (Bowker and Star 1999: 5-6).

Although the Statement describes the goals of medical intervention in patient-centered terms, some areas of medical practice have not changed substantively, as I will show in chapter four. The timing and necessity of genital surgery is a site of particularly heated debate. While the Statement acknowledged the harms of early clitoral surgeries, and called for moderation, only some teams have since reported a reduction of these procedures (Pasterski et al. 2010) and some national statistics reflect no clear reductions over time (Creighton et al. 2014; see also Wilffenbuttel and Crouch 2014; Mouriquand et al. 2016), and in fact, such interventions may have increased since 2006 (Creighton et al. 2014; Greenfield 2014). Within the clinical literature many papers continue to indicate a preference for early surgery, ideally between two and 24 months (Crawford et al. 2009; Vidal et al. 2010; Palmer et al. 2012; Massanyi et al. 2013; Yankovic et al. 2013). Some advocacy and support groups also argue that despite the shift in rhetoric, medical practice has not significantly changed since the 2006 publication, and also claim that genital normalizing surgery remains the standard response to intersex variations (e.g., OII 2013).

These diverse and partial effects of the Consensus Statement explain the diverse goals and strategies adopted by advocates and different organizations since its publication (see also Hegarty et al. 2020). Some activists and groups describe current medical practices, particularly those performed in infancy, threaten human rights, especially children's rights to bodily

-

¹² For example, based on data from the National Health Service, Sarah Creighton and her colleagues (2014) note an increase in clitoral operations performed on those under 14 years old in the United Kingdom since 2006.

autonomy and self-determination (Carpenter 2016; UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights 2019). Along with international human rights bodies, groups such as OII, who have remained critical of the Statement since its publication, have increasingly contributed to efforts challenging the legitimacy and ethics of medical practices. Activists have recently worked with the World Health Organization, the United Nations, Human Rights Watch, the National Institutes of Health, and Amnesty International to draw attention to their goal of stopping medically unnecessary early genital surgeries, and even defining such procedures as a category of human rights abuse (UN Human Rights Council 2013; Elders et al. 2017; HRW 2017). Other activists are focused on getting intersex representatives "at the table" in order to change guidelines and to democratize clinical and research efforts (e.g., Davis 2015; Sudai 2018) (In chapter three, I examine controversy over DSD and these diverse efforts in the activism arena.).

CONCLUSION

In this chapter, I chronicled intersex medical management, examining the medical understandings and responses to atypical sex over time. Using the tools of situational mapping, I highlighted the technologies, concepts, and conditions most consequential for contemporary practices, classifications, and standards of care, particularly those laid out as current recommendations in the 2006 Consensus Statement (Lee et al. 2006).

The history of intersex medicalization parallels that of the rise of scientific medicine. In doing so, the consequential elements, including technologies, medical disciplines and its representative actors, and professional and institutional dynamics contributed to the consolidation of Money's treatment paradigm, whose protocols held sway for nearly fifty years. The updated standard of care, as the DSD model, emerged out of conditions within and outside

of biomedicine, particularly that of intersex activism. Moreover, current medical management links multiple discourses and interests in various ways. Larger social processes such as classification and standardization are crucial, so too are the discourses of patient-centered care and patient's rights. Also important is the historical situatedness of intersex medical management, particularly the various politics, scientific advancements, theories, and technologies that came before and contributed to its content over time.

While critiques about the medical science and politics of intersex medical management are not new, they have intensified since the publication of the Statement. The DSD model is one effort at "sorting things out" (Bowker and Star 1999) in the historical trajectory of intersex medical management, as clinicians have attempted to stabilize uncertainties that have characterized intersex medical management throughout history. However, such efforts at standardization have led to new sources of uncertainty. Current debates related to DSD and current treatment practices demonstrates the multiple interests and actors involved and further implies there is no consensus about what intersex is and how—or even if—it should be treated. In the next two chapters, I look more closely at some of these sites of tension, within intersex activism and through the work of medical professionals.

CHAPTER 3

THE TRAJECTORY OF INTERSEX ACTIVISM: TENSIONS AND TACTICS

Since the 1990s, medical understandings and treatment for intersex have been contested terrain. In the U.S., following the founding of the Intersex Society of North America (ISNA) in 1993, there have been organized protests against medical organizations and treatment practices and critiques have proliferated within activist, academic, and medical communities. As the number of involved actors and intersex groups proliferated, struggles over objectives and tactics of the movement ensued. "The very definition of what it means to be intersexed is politicized, contested, and fraught with conflict, as is the objective of such mobilization" (Preves 2005: 262). The intersex movement includes overlapping membership and strategies, from public-facing actions such as protest and media awareness campaigns to groups that provide peer support and social connection while demanding better health care (Crocetti et al. 2020). While some activists advocate complete demedicalization, others seek medical reforms and advocate for expanded research.

These pressures from both within and outside of medicine are reflected in changes in the standards of care and diagnostic nomenclature over the last two decades. While debates over intersex medical management are not new, activism has intensified since the 2006 publication of the Consensus Statement (Lee et al. 2006), which was subsequently affirmed and updated a decade later (Lee et al. 2016). Some activists have gone from picketing medical conferences to engaging with medicine as a means to an end and even collaborate with medical professionals in their efforts to reform clinical practices. Moreover, national commissions and international human rights bodies are increasingly acknowledging concerns about intersex medical treatment

(HRW 2017; Cabera 2018; Bauer et al. 2020), with attention focused on "normalizing" procedures performed on children without their consent (Astraea Lesbian Foundation for Justice 2016; Carpenter 2016). Intersex activists and organizations are increasingly advocating for rights to self-determination, bodily autonomy and physical integrity, promoting a more expansive understanding of bodily diversity, and challenging stigma, discrimination, and the pathologization of intersex bodies.

Social movement scholars have studied the strategic choices of activists and movement organizations and found that social movement strategy and tactical innovation are shaped by external and internal factors (Taylor and Van Dyke 2004; Meyer and Staggenborg 2008). Social movement strategy includes interrelated decisions about tactics, claims, targets, and alliances, and activists often debate strategic decisions (Meyer and Staggenborg 2012). External influences such as political opportunity structure (McAdam 1999; Hilson 2002; De Fazio 2012) and cultural contexts (Engel 2001; Giugni et al. 2005) shape activists' strategic choices, and activists adapt their strategies through an iterative trial-and-error process (Koopmans 2005). Movement characteristics such as organizational structures, interests, and resources affect strategic choices (Gamson 1990; Minkoff 1999; Ganz 2000; McCammon 2003; Meyer and Staggenborg 2008). For example, McCammon (2003) found that organizational diversity, decentralization, and conflict facilitated some state woman suffrage movements to engage in new forms of collective action. A group's history and ideology also shape its tactical repertoire, influenced by the institutional logics the movement encounters (Taylor and Rupp 1993; Swidler 1995; Crossley 2002; Haines 2006; Smithey 2009).

In this chapter, I will explore the role of framing in influencing social movement strategy, insofar as my analysis of the intersex movement suggests that activists' strategic orientations are

shaped by the way they understand and frame DSD. Research on strategic choices of social movements has largely focused on the structural conditions of social movement organizations, emphasizing resource mobilization perspectives and "opportunity structure" perspectives, which emphasize the relationship between actors and the political environment (see also Vanhala 2009). This work has not adequately accounted for the role of framing in shaping strategy, despite its relevance for understanding social movement activity. Activists must choose what issue to pursue as well as how to describe or frame what they are doing (McCammon 2012; Meyer and Staggenborg 2012). That is, the strategies pursued by activists and organizations, their efforts to mobilize resources, and their temporal viability are influenced by their interpretive work (Snow et al. 1986).

Framing is an important focus in the social movement literature. Activists and groups assign meaning to, frame, and interpret events and conditions in order to mobilize potential adherents, acquire support, and demobilize antagonists (Snow and Benford 1988). In constructing meanings, frames reflect the "interpretive discussions and debates that social movement actors engage in among each other and in the framing contests that occur between movement actors and other parties within the movement field of action" (Snow and Benford 2005: 207). Functionally, frames identify problems, and prescribe and motivate courses of action in ways that align the interests and values of activists and social movement organizations with those of potentially sympathetic audiences (Snow et al. 1986; Frickel 2004). In the case of intersex, the movement is comprised of diverse groups, who do not all share the same goals or strategies, and activists debate how best to frame intersex.

In this chapter, I draw largely on interviews with 20 U.S.-based activists, as well as additional primary and secondary data, including intersex organizational materials, to analyze

differing perspectives on intersex medical management within the contemporary intersex activism arena. I examine different styles of activism within the movement and explore the multiple strategies and tactics of activists, with particular attention to how they relate to activists' understandings and framing of "disorder of sex development" (DSD) terminology. Many activists who employ DSD frames focus on direct engagement with medicine in various ways that integrate patients, families, and medical professionals in order to increase collaboration in designing clinical care and guiding research directions. Activists who oppose DSD generally oppose working within the medical model and are less willing to work with medical professionals. Many of these more oppositional activists are exploring legal strategies, particularly human rights advocacy and litigation, to challenge and politicize the standard of care for intersex persons. My research, then, shows an important link between how activists frame a core discursive element and how they formulate their strategic approach.

HEALTH SOCIAL MOVEMENTS AND STYLES OF ACTIVISM

Different types of health social movements (HSMs) address different health issues, and also use different strategies and tactics to meet their goals, ranging from advocacy to radical activism (Brown et al. 2004). Brown et al. (2004) offer a typology of HSMs that includes the subcategories of health access movements, constituency-based health movements, and embodied health movements (EHMs). Access movements are HSMs that seek equality of access to health care, focusing on reform in provision of services and improvement in their quality, and groups work within the existing system and biomedical model and use education rather than direct action. Constituency-based movements are strategically oriented to inequality and health inequities based on race, ethnicity, gender, class, and sexuality and challenge the existing system

by advocating in social, political, and cultural arenas for change. Many of these groups are activist-oriented, challenging current medical practices and pursuing greater radical reform.

Lastly, embodied health movements (EHMs) introduces the biological body to social movement activism (Brown et al. 2004; Zavestoski et al. 2004). These categories are ideal types, and the goals and activities of social movements and advocacy organizations may span more than one. Indeed, as this chapter will demonstrate, characteristics of all three types of HSMs are found in arena of intersex activism. In particular, however, I conceptualize the intersex movement as an EHM.

There are three components of EHMs. First, bodily experiences are a central source of movement identity and "represents the intersection of social constructions of illness and the personal illness experience of a biological process" (Zavestoski et al. 2004: 256). The collective identity is politicized through the understanding of the stigmatized self as a structural problem not as a personal problem. In the case of intersex, individual biology often varies significantly, and therefore the collective action of intersex activists is not underpinned by a particular disease process, but rather a broad "illness experience" (Kleinman 1988): an awareness of the "shared familial, social, and medical treatment experiences" (Karkazis 2008: 246). Intersex activists draw on their embodied experiences in their efforts for social and medical change. In addition, activists also employ embodiment by proxy (Newman and Carpenter 2018) drawing on physical experiences that they imagine for others' bodies, particularly children, in their work targeting parents and medical professionals.

Second, EHMs challenge not only medical authority but also scientific knowledge and the practices involved in its production. For EHMs, the embodied illness legitimates the claims of activists, and are based on the underlying assumption that experiential knowledge constitutes

justifiable medical knowledge. The third element is that EHMs involve a degree of collaboration that blurs distinctions between movement insiders and outsiders. That is, actors seek to subvert scientific authority structures while simultaneously allying with them. Thus, even as they challenge medical authority and knowledge, EHM activists often collaborate with the individuals and institutions they challenge. EHMs, then, can be conceptualized as a type of boundary movement, in which the divide between lay and expert knowledge is blurred, and as a result, some activists develop particular scientific credibility enabling them to get a seat at the table (Epstein 1996; see also Newman and Carpenter 2018).

Brown et al. (2004) also suggests a strategy-agenda continuum for considering the boundaries of insider and outsider that are often blurred in EHMs. At one end are actors and organizations that are advocacy-oriented, who work within the medical model and sometimes promote the inclusion of lay knowledge. At the other end of the continuum are the actors and organizations that are more activist-oriented, who challenge the medical model through direct action and seek democratic participation. Intersex activists have overlapping membership in various organizations that span this continuum. In what follows, I examine the trajectory of the intersex movement, analyzing activists' framing of DSD and the influence of DSD framing on movement strategy. I first trace early intersex activism, focusing on the movement's emergence in the early 1990s until the introduction of the 2006 Consensus Statement and shift to DSD terminology. I then explore activists' framing of DSD and the role of that framing in shaping the diverse strategies and tactics that activists and organizations pursue.

THE GROWTH OF INTERSEX ACTIVISM

The intersex movement began like other social justice movements of the twentieth century, working to remove the shame and stigma associated with group membership and to provide support for individuals with shared experiences, grievances, and concerns (Greenberg 2012). The intersex movement built upon the strategies, tactics, and accomplishments of earlier social movements, such as gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) activism, feminism and the women's health movement, and the disability rights movement (Karkazis 2008). Like many health social movements, the formation of support groups and advocacy organizations brought affected individuals and their supporters together, raised awareness, and ultimately facilitated mobilization around intersex issues.

Intersex activism was initially rooted in conscious opposition to the dominant biomedical model of intersex; activists focused on questioning the necessity of medical treatment for genderatypical bodies (Karkazis 2008). Activist critiques of medicalization primarily focused on ending early, medically unnecessary surgeries, based on the notion that intersex itself is not pathological and does not require medical treatment. It was because intersex conditions generally, and ambiguous genitalia in particular, threatened normative ideas of sex, gender, and sexuality that they were pathologized, activists claimed, and this pathologization allowed medical professionals to justify their treatment with surgical intervention and secrecy, causing immense physical and psychological harm (Spurgas 2009).

The growth of intersex activism in the early 1990s made visible the testimonies of intersex adults who documented the consequences they experienced from their medical treatment including shame, pain, loss reproductive capacity, and diminished sexual response (e.g., Preves 1999; Chase 2003). Additionally, genital surgeries often led to psychological trauma—the very

problems the procedures were purported to prevent (Preves 2003; Tamar-Mattis 2006; Spurgas 2009). Activists also contended that the protocols, which were based on incomplete information and concealment, exacerbated their sense of shame by reinforcing cultural norms of sexual abnormality (Chase 2003; Preves 2003).

In the U.S., early intersex activism was spearheaded by the Intersex Society of North America (ISNA). ISNA was founded in 1993 by Cheryl Chase, with a dual mission of providing peer support and seeking medical reform. The internet was integral during the early years of ISNA, which focused on community building activities, and facilitated connections and communication between intersex people. ISNA challenged both the science and ethics of intersex medical management, and defined surgical "normalization" as violations of human rights.

Rather than aligning strategically with medicine, Chase and other early intersex activists focused on demedicalization of the intersex body and on reclamation of intersex solidarity among people of diverse embodiments, gender, and sexualities. Part of this early activism attempted to re-appropriate, reclaim, and politicize the terms "hermaphrodite" and "intersex." Some activists reclaimed hermaphrodite as a means of empowerment, while intersex was embraced as a positive marker of difference, rather than as a medicalized term denoting pathology, and has become a political identity. Accounting for the wresting of meaning and control from its medical or clinical articulation, Chase (1998a: 195) writes of the decision to adopt "intersex" as the term under which the movement would organize:

I did possess the rudimentary knowledge that the gay rights movement had the momentum only when it could effectively deny that homosexuality was sick or inferior and assert to the contrary that "gay is good." As impossible as it then seemed, I pledged similarly to affirm that "intersex is good," that the body I was born with was not diseased, only different.

While in medical discourse, "intersexuality" was an umbrella term capturing a diverse group of loosely-connected diagnoses, intersex activists adopted the label to emphasize similarities in their experiences.

The title of ISNA's newsletter, *Hermaphrodites with Attitude*, also aptly reflected the intent of activists to reclaim and recharacterize the term "hermaphrodite." In the first newsletter, Chase (ISNA 1994: 6) explained:

The word hermaphrodite is one which has been, for many of us, associated with deep pain and stigma. Physicians whose careers are dedicated to erasing intersexuality (by performing invasive medical procedures on nonconsenting infants) characterize the birth of an intersexual infant as a "social emergency," and a traumatic emotional shock for the parents...I believe it is time for us to counter physicians' assertion that life as a hermaphrodite would be worthless, by embracing the word and asserting our identity as hermaphrodites.

The early issues of the newsletters were filled with personal narratives, stories, poetry and artwork. For individuals who were previously isolated—who often had never interacted with another intersex person—these individual contributions were the means through which members could politicize their experiences. These individuals often shared a common experience: they were born with atypical sex anatomy, often surgically "corrected" as young children, subjected to continued medicalization and stigma both within and outside of the medical clinic, and eventually they developed an "oppositional consciousness" (Mansbridge and Morris 2001) that allowed them to understand their plight as unjust (see also Preves 2003; Karkazis 2008).

The growth of intersex activism in the 1990s not only led to a critique of medical protocols by giving voice to harms they had caused, it also allowed for intersex to become an identity with which some people began to identify in some situations (Preves 2003; Karkazis 2008). Through personal intersex narratives, activists documented the primary "injustice"

(Gamson 1992) identified by activists as the harms and shame they experience as a result of their medical treatment (Dreger 1999; Preves 2003). This parallels the efforts of other "new" social movements (Cohen 1985; Melucci 1996) in which actors and collectivities construct identities and challenge social expectations of diverse bodies and embodiments. The creation of an intersex identity is an important step towards self-affirmation, and provided an alternative discourse that empowered intersex individuals, facilitated community-building, and generated knowledge.

Activist critiques via experiential knowledge was featured in popular and scholarly publications (e.g., Chase 1998, 1999; Devore 1999; Groveman 1999; Moreno 1999). ISNA members and fellow activists wrote letters to magazines and medical journals to publicly critique and challenge reports on intersex by medical experts. Activists also engaged in direct, confrontational tactics. Additionally, Davis (2015) shows how in the early years of the intersex movement, intersex individuals exchanged experiences and knowledge that enhanced their scientific expertise. Collectively, they employed direct, confrontational tactics, such as protests and public criticism so that medical professionals would consider their positions and perspectives when devising clinical care.

In 1996, ISNA picketed a symposium of plastic surgeons in New York, and held a demonstration before the annual meeting of the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) in Boston (Germon 2006). Medical professionals largely disregarded the claims of activists, even writing them off as "zealots" (Angier 1996) or a "vocal minority" (Karkazis 2008). Activist 1 described to me clinicians' initial response to activists:

Clinicians really wrote [ISNA] off. That's when they realized that they would have to be more confrontational. You know, that was at a time when people with AIDS had to get together and be confrontational. Women with breast cancer were ignored. So, they got together and did a march on Washington and raised awareness about the lack of funding and screening and treatments. So, all of this was going on at the same time. I think advocacy is important because there has been tremendous resistance to this idea that the patient feedback about some of these negative things is really true. You know there's a belief out there—there has been a belief—among lots of clinicians that there's a silent majority of people who are really happy, but they're not saying anything because they're happy.

After the well-publicized follow-up on David Reimer (Diamond and Sigmundson 1997), intersex activists gained visibility, capitalizing on the media coverage to draw attention to medically unnecessary surgeries on intersex infants (e.g. Angier 1997a, 1997b; Colapinto 1997; "Gender Limbo" 1997). Activists also connected their experiential knowledge to other political concerns. For example, in the mid-1990s, ISNA spoke out against what they called "intersex genital mutilation" (IGM) and lobbied to extend arguments for an anti-female genital mutilation bill to encompass intersex bodies and genital surgeries. In addition, arguments about human rights and legal considerations such as informed consent entered the debate in the late 1990s (Preves 2005).

Moreover, during the 1990s, the LGBT movement was also gaining increasing population and political ecognition, and many intersex activists joined or at least allied with LGBT and queer organizations. ISNA generated a "patchwork of alliances" (Chase 2006: 308) with organizations they believed shared common concerns and goals such as the Gay and Lesbian Alliance Against Defamation, the National Gay and Lesbian Task Force, and the Gay and Lesbian Medical Association (Preves 2005; Karkazis 2008; Spurgas 2009; Greenberg 2012).

Describing these alliances, Chase (1998: 200-201) said:

Transgender and lesbian/gay groups have been supportive of intersex political activism largely because they see similarities in the medicalization of these various identities as a form of social control and (especially for transsexuals) empathize with our struggle to assert agency within a medical discourse that works to efface the ability to exercise informed consent about what happens to one's own body. Gay/lesbian caucuses and special interest groups within professional medical associations have been especially receptive to ISNA's agenda.

Intersex people are subjected to "normalizing" medical interventions because their bodies are perceived as sexually deviant; these issues of normalization and pathologization link intersex and LGBT concerns and communities (Preves 2005). However, some groups, particularly those that run by parents of intersex children, were concerned with associating intersex with LGBT persons and concerns. Moreover, LGBT alliances also compromised intersex activists' ability to establish credibility with mainstream medicine (Preves 2005).

Slowly, medical professionals and doctors became more receptive to activists' claims. In 2000, Ian Aaronson, a pediatric urologist, founded the North American Task Force on Intersex (NAFTI) with Chase as one of its members. The group was a loose network of medical specialists from various fields and selected activists, however, participants did not necessarily agree on the best practice in intersex treatment (Preves 2003). That same year, Chase was invited to speak at the annual meeting of the Lawson Wilkins Pediatric Society. In 2003, Chase presented to the First World Congress on the Hormonal and Genetic Basis for Sexual Differentiation and Disorder. These activities marked the growing efforts of ISNA and some activists to collaborate with medical professionals and engage with medical discourse. Moreover,

¹³ For additional details regarding the internal debates that ultimately led to the group folding, see Karkazis (2008).

in an effort to put forth a more professional image, ISNA began to retool itself and focus resources strategically on educating medical professionals as well as larger society about issues faced by people with intersex traits (e.g., ISNA 2005; see also Preves 2005; Karkazis 2008).

The number of organizations advocating for intersex individuals and to change medical practice proliferated. Some organizations were variation-specific, such as the Androgen Insensitivity Syndrome/Disorder of Sex Development Support Group (AISDSD-SG; now called InterConnect), and focus more on education and peer support and are more advocacy-oriented. Other organizations are more activist-oriented, and pursue social change and medical reform through direct action. While organizations vary based on membership, goals, and tactics, the connective thread is a shared belief that conventional intersex medical management has led to irreversible physical and emotional harms and violate basic human rights (Spurgas 2009).

I'm all in favor of surgery, if it's medical necessary or if it's a consenting young adult. [An] adult who wants to do this, absolutely. Fine, fine, fine. But, man, cosmetic surgery on young children? That's wrong for the parents, wrong for the babies, and wrong for the doctors to sell that service.

Activists challenged the medical necessity of early genital surgery, often arguing they are performed by doctors for social reasons, rather than the health of the child. Moreover, the goals shared by all activists is to enhance physical and emotional well-being and to end shame and stigma. Activist 11 explained:

Physicians behaved as if their actions didn't have consequences. Like, I'm going to cut this kid's penis off, and she'll function as a girl fine, completely fine sexually. Even if they, like, cut her genitals off. I mean, there just is an emotional disconnect. You know, like—what they're doing is they're failing to see these children as future sexual beings. They're failing, right? Because what they're treating is not the kid. They're not treating the child. The child doesn't have a problem with its genitals. The parents have a problem with the genitals, and the doctor has a problem with the genitals. So, I mean, it's just flat, plain, kneejerk prejudice.

Intersex organizations generally shared ISNA's overall goal of changing the medical standard of care and supported the shift from a "concealment-centered" model to what ISNA (2008b) called a "patient-centered" approach. However, ISNA's increasing distance from identity-based politics to ever-closer relationships with medical professionals estranged some activists and allies. In 2003, for example, concerned about the direction of intersex advocacy, Curtis Hinkle founded the Organization Intersex International (OII) with the mission of "attain[ing] human rights for intersex infants, children, and adults, particularly the right to bodily integrity and self-determination (OII 2012). These tensions—conceptualized by sociologist Georgiann Davis (2015) as the shift from "collective confrontation" to "contested collaboration"— culminated with the shift to a new DSD terminology endorsed in the 2006 Consensus Statement.

EMBODIED TENSIONS: DSD TERMINOLOGY

Throughout the twentieth century, medical professionals occasionally used the term intersex for what they more often referred to as hermaphroditism or pseudo-hermaphroditism. Activists initially embraced intersex because it was less confusing and stigmatizing than labels based on the root hermaphrodite, although as I discussed above, they used those terms strategically as a form of empowerment. In light of definitional challenges encountered with

physicians along with rejection of the intersex label by some parents, some activists and allies began to work toward developing a new umbrella terminology.

The idea of a new umbrella nomenclature began circulating among a group of patient advocates, intersex organizations, and clinicians in 2005 (Dreger et al. 2005), and was formally endorsed in the clinical arena with the publication of the 2006 Consensus Statement (Lee et al. 2006). The new terminology was proposed as the harbinger of a new medical model of intersex treatment, focused on genetic and endocrinological etiologies, and would "label the condition rather than the person" (Dreger et al. 2005: 733) and facilitate evidence-based research. Also, around this time, a consortium comprised of ISNA members, clinicians, parents, and intersex adults were developing a set of clinical guidelines and a handbook for parents, which were ultimately published using DSD terminology (Consortium on the Management of Disorders of Sex Development 2006a, 2006b).

Alice Dreger, an academic and long-time intersex ally who promoted the change in nomenclature and was involved with the consortium, explained the rationale for the new terminology. In a retrospective essay, she described how activists felt stuck and that they needed a new way of talking with doctors, and it had to be a term doctors would accept (Dreger 2018). Supporters of DSD within ISNA stressed that the term "is much less charged than 'intersex,' and that it makes our message of patient-centered care much more accessible to parents and doctors. Our aim is to meet them where we are" (ISNA 2008d). ISNA explained on their website that with ISNA's focus on medical reform, DSD was "created with parents and doctors in mind," (ISNA 2008d) and thus, a logical step in their politics of cooperation and compromise (Germon 2006). In 2008, ISNA closed its doors and transferred its assets to a new organization, Accord Alliance, which focused on "lead[ing] national efforts to improve DSD-related health care and

outcomes" (ISNA 2008a). Accord Alliance's mission is "to promote comprehensive and integrated approaches to care that enhance the health and well-being of people and families affected by DSD by fostering collaboration among all stakeholders" (Accord Alliance n.d.)

The shift to DSD nomenclature, including its early endorsement by some activists, has been particularly contentious issue among activists I interviewed. Several activists I spoke with reflected on the immediate impact DSD had on activism at the time it was introduced. For example, Activist 3 compared the initial introduction of DSD to a weapon of mass destruction:

[I]t was a nuclear bomb within the community, within the activist community. The recriminations became so heated so fast...people went really extremely on the attacks over this issue...you know the movement had been starting to pick up steam. And a lot of people who maybe were hovering around the verge of becoming more public activists and advocates really faded back because the public scene of intersex got so violent. Well, not literally violent, but verbally violent...you pretty much had to pick sides. You pretty much had to like, you had to say intersex and you had to say DSD and that announced all your loyalties. And you know, you're on one side or the other...But a lot of people who were, I think, taking their first tentative steps out of the closet in the world of intersex activism just checked out during the years from maybe 2006 until probably 2010. And the only people left were the people who wanted to fight really hard about language.

Activist 12 also reflected on the divisiveness engendered with the publication of the Consensus Statement and its endorsement of DSD language:

I feel like that really was one probably one of the most hurtful, most divisive measures, and really struck a significant blow to the activism that was taking place. Just the terminology alone, "disorders of sex development." Continuing to pathologize a group that has been already and historically pathologized. I think what is so hurtful and divisive about it is that it was a bunch of doctors and a few intersex people in a room who agree to this terminology. I think as a result, it created a huge schism in the community that I feel like we're still trying to heal from.

Some activists described DSD as a highly divisive issue that fractured the movement and at times, continues to inhibit some activists and organizations from working together.

Some activists I spoke with expressed strong opposition to DSD on the grounds it reifies intersex bodies as in need of fixing. This position is also shared by some organizations, such as OII (2007). According to OII, DSD is pathologizing and "[r]educ[es] intersex to a genetic defect" (OII 2007). Activists argue the use of "disordered" language was stigmatizing and pathologizing, and countered much of what the intersex movement had advocated over the years (Morris 2006; Reis 2009): that intersex requires neither medical intervention nor a "cure." Activist 25 stated:

All intersex people are now labelled as medically disordered. This obviously justifies continuing medicalization and conflicts with the argument that sex variance is natural and should be accepted...I would never apply the term DSD to myself, and see it as counterproductive. I see intersex people having adopted the term as proof of the power of medicalization—the very thing I am working to combat.

Similarly, Activist 6 strongly opposed DSD language in light of his embodied experiences, particularly negative treatment experiences, which he was actively working against.

I cannot agree with intersex people being referred to as disordered. We're not. We have healthy, normal, intersex genitalia. I want my intersex genitalia back. I'm very angry that I had more than a dozen surgeries before I was 12 years old. That's ridiculous.

While those that opposed DSD critique the terminology for its pathologizing connotation, only two activists I interviewed suggested that it actively inhibited their work with other intersex activists. For example, Activist 23 adamantly refused to work with activists' organizations that engaged with a medical model.

There are a lot of people who I think, in general, their message is fantastic and I'd love to work with the organization...support what they're doing. But if they're using a medicalized model, I just can't do it. It's one of those things in general we're working towards the same thing, but the words that we're using in this case are really, really important. And if we're advocating for ourselves as disorders that might not get us all the rights that we're supposed to have. That's not progress. I'm not willing to align myself with that model. To me, going halfway or [a] quarter way or three-quarters way is still not actually getting the protection and the rights that you want.

While it was clear the terminology was still a subject of debate, my interviews suggested that positions were increasingly more nuanced and varied among activists and organizations, many of whom actively sought or at least engaged with medicalized terminology as part of their broader collective aims. Given the diversity of the intersex community, which includes individuals with disparate diagnoses, the move to embrace medicalization and DSD terminology was posited as the most utilitarian move available (Spurgas 2009). Many activists I interviewed who took up DSD nomenclature, frame it as part of the logic and evolution of the movement. Activist 4 said:

I think everybody that is an activist or an advocate wants—would love to have a united front...strength in numbers And there's part of me that thinks that society is more ready for DSD than they are to embrace intersex...I really see DSD as an interim until we really bring everybody up to speed that you can't change sex or sexuality or gender by modifying genitals...I am like a Jew in the desert with Moses and I'm walking around for forty years and I am not going to see the Promised Land. I just don't think I'm going to be alive for it. But I've been walking and I've been doing what I can do. And I do believe that we do get to the Promised Land. But I don't think society is ready yet. So, we're just going to keep walking.

Activist 16 identified politically as intersex, but supported DSD as a step towards the movement's goals, while acknowledging it as controversial.

I am a big proponent for the use of the term "disorders of sex development," even though my political identification is intersex. But, I say to people, "Babies aren't republications or democrats and they're not intersex either, because that's a political identification that you came to in the fullness of time. Babies have something that is unexpected in their bodies or their chromosomes or their ability to biosynthesize hormones and that's a disorder of sex development." And, you can call it whatever you want...but when I am talking to parents, which I do on almost a daily basis, brand new parents, or I'm talking to clinicians, I say "disorders of sex development" because that's what it is and doctors don't speak in euphemisms. They don't speak in baby talk. I have sleep apnea, Erin. It's not a difference of sleep patterns. It's a sleep disorder. And I've probably got about five or six other disorders too [laughs]. So, why would something where a girl has XY chromosomes and internal testes that can't process or recognize testosterone, why should that be any different than diabetes or sleep apnea or any other thing? It is what it is. Now, I understand that our pioneers and the people that feel really angry—and they have every right to be angry—something like "disorder" pisses them off royally because it pathologizes and medicalizes who we are. But it is what it is. Like I said, you can call it whatever you want to call it...as long as they don't perform unnecessary and unwanted medical interventions and they don't lie to people and they don't let people just grow up to be who they are. You can call me whatever you want to.

In line with Activist 16's view, DSD refers to the underlying physiology causing atypical anatomy, whereas intersex labels the person, not the condition. Accord Alliance, for example, lists on their website in their "Glossary of Terms" (Accord Alliance 2013):

The definitions of such older terms such as "hermaphrodite" and "intersex" were considered problematic because of a lack of consensus on definitions and because they labeled persons (rather than conditions). Further, they implicitly labeled patients with a gender, and one that was frequently inappropriate because incongruent with the patient's assigned or experienced gender.

Similarly, some activists saw DSD terminology as a way to avoid potentially pejorative and confusing terms such as "intersex" and "hermaphrodite," especially when interacting with clinicians and parents. Activist 15 said:

I do think the term "intersex"—I mean, first of all, it has the word "sex" in it. So, that's kind of a catalyst. For some people, that's like, "Oh that's "inter." It kind of implies you're between sexes, which people don't necessarily feel or want to feel. I think for a lot of the rank-and-file general society parents hearing the term are fine when their kids are diagnosed [with a DSD] or someone reading it in an article. I think you hear "intersex," and I think a lot of people get confused with transgender and automatically hook sexual orientation into it.

Activist 1 explained how DSD was in line with the logic of clinical medicine:

The terminology, changing the terminology, was a big thing. At that time, I would say families really did not like the word "intersex" ...I thought that "disorders of sex development" was good. I felt that way, in part, because, you know, the education of clinicians...There is an orderly process of typical sex development. When it's different, when something different happens, you have a DSD. I thought that was much better than, you know, having students who were like, "Intersex? Oh, my god. What is this?" You know, they can't even listen because it's presented in kind of a disturbing way.

Activist 21, who supported DSD from its first introduction in 2005, described why she supported the change, and similarly touches on its potential utility in the medical arena:

[DSD is] a label that doctors could use that did not imply any identity and did not imply a gender...I wanted doctors to use a label that doesn't apply to the person but rather the condition...And I wanted to have a label that fit pretty comfortably within the framework of how physicians think of other kinds of developmental conditions...It needed to be a label that would be easy for them to adopt. And I think "disorders of sex development" fits all of those ways and it works for a lot of people, and it has largely replaced hermaphrodite in the literature, and I think it's doing some really good work.

For many activists I interviewed, then, engaging with DSD was, in part, strategic and based on pragmatism. In this sense, "the ends justified the means," and activists often reflected on how it allowed them to work more collaboratively with doctors and even parents.

Activist 3 described how when working with Advocates for Informed Choice (AIC; now InterACT), they are purposefully flexible with the language they use, based on who they are targeting:

I had been through a lot of the language wars in the LGBT community. I lived through adding the "B." I lived through adding the "T." I lived through all the different words you were supposed to use for "transsexual." And I felt like it gave me a little perspective on it. And that's why AIC has never tried to stake out any position in what I would call the language wars...We use whatever language we think will work best with any given audience. We're not the ones who should decide what language should be used, and there is no agreement in the community right now, so we will use, you know, we'll use both terms [intersex and DSD].

Some intersex activists and organizations use both intersex and DSD nomenclature based on context (ISNA 2008d; InterAct 2016). Similarly, Activist 16 described having to "flex your style" based on the intended audience. She reflected:

[Y]ou have to flex your style and therefore, somewhat, your language, to suit the situation that you're in, without being disingenuous. So, I try to be somewhat consistent, but if I'm participating in an online forum, which has a vocal anti-medical group as part of it, I tone it down quite a bit, because I know I'm just going to get flames relentlessly...Although, sometimes it feels like, if we're all going off in different directions and spending way too much time and energy arguing about nomenclature and terminology, it does seem awfully wasteful sometimes. But, I am not going to change any of those minds. I know that for a fact. So, I try to flex my style.

She went on:

[P]eople have questioned my integrity over my methodology for achieving change. Because I use "disorders of sex development," I don't go into the children's hospital every Wednesday with a saber or a flamethrower, I'm invited to all sorts of meetings. I'm invited to all sorts of things and the door's wide—[doctors] phone me and say, "Can you help this new family—they're so upset." If I went in there calling them all a bunch of heartless bastards, blah, blah, that would never happen in a million years...Some people that can't stand "disorders of sex development" or don't want to medicalize and pathologize any of this…it's like I am a collaborator. My goal is to stop bad things from happening to kids.

Several also suggested, while acknowledging the pathologizing potential of medicalized terminology, that speaking a common language with medicine contributed to a more positive relationship and more moderate perception of activists by the clinicians they were targeting.

Activist 5 said:

The medical profession has a hundred percent accepted, endorsed, and used DSD, and I think organizations that refuse to work with that term are like cutting off their noses to spite themselves. You can't get all hooked up on a term when you have a goal in mind and you want to change the world. You're going to be seen as an angry person that somebody doesn't want to work with. You think the hospital's going to want to work with an intersex person that says "I hate DSD and this stinks"? —no.

Similarly, activists also reflected on the confrontational tactics of early intersex activism and ISNA, and the lack of attention they received by clinicians to their claims. Activist 15 explained:

"DSD," which is very much, I think, an accepted—it's a medical term. It's a way to work with the medical community...It was very much a compromise by some and obviously many others in the community...A compromise to me, is language that worked with the medical community. We are going to have to work with them moving forward. Holding signs and screaming and protesting is not going anywhere. We're going to have to accept the term "disorder of sex development." It's a physical difference—there are physical differences with many disorders.

She went on to reflect:

I've grown more understanding of people's dislike of the term because it is pathologizing. Once you get more comfortable with yourself and you understand who you are and what your condition is about it's like, you know what? It's just a part of me. It's not necessarily "disorder" just implies you're wrong—there's something that needs to be fixed. I totally understand the activist community that argues against the term "disorder" because it's just perpetuating the medicalization and the pathologizing of intersex conditions...So, I do get that. It's a really tough argument...but the other side is, we're trying to work with, you know...the medical establishment, if you will. [They were] more accepting of the term, "disorder." It fit into their world. So, let's work with them.

Some activists also acknowledged the potential positive effects of medicalization via diagnosis, but described a more ambivalent position to DSD terminology. For example, Activist 20 said:

DSD is the preferred nomenclature in the medical arena...And you'll find people in the national support groups that like DSD, and you'll find people that hate DSD and some prefer intersex. I don't care which one you label me, whichever pays bills better for the health insurance. You know, is it getting my estrogen a little cheaper? I don't care what you call me...it pays the bills.

In my interviews, several activists also acknowledged the use of alternative terminologies that have been proposed, including "variations of sex development" (Diamond and Beh 2006), "variations of reproductive development" (Simmonds 2006), "divergence of sex development" (Reis 2007), and "differences of sex development" (Topp 2012). Activist 1 explained:

I was in favor of [DSD], and lot of the parents were too. But a lot felt like they did not like the word "disorder." They found it pathologizing. So, there were people with lots of different opinions. What has happened is that within the medical community, DSD is the standard terminology, but out in the community of affected people, in the advocacy community, people use different terms.

These terms could be considered a more "middle-ground" approach to medicalized language, but that attempted to be less pathologizing.

STRATEGIES FOR CHANGE

Intra-movement conflicts over nomenclature suggest that activists have engaged, accepted, and rejected the medical model in various degrees. These different views or frames of DSD are a factor shaping variations in strategy. Activists have employed various strategies both to reduce the scope of medical jurisdiction and to "mak[e] space for new social and cultural displays" (Sudai 2018: 13) of intersex. Intersex activists and organizations utilize various strategies that build community, raise awareness, advocate for medical reform and research, and advance the human rights of intersex people. Many activists recounted to me experiences of stigma, shame, and isolation. In response, they are using various tactics to reach and empower intersex people and their families, providing information, and creating spaces for community-building where they can share their experiences.

Education and Visibility

One common aspect of activists' work is less about changing official medical policy, but instead directed at the health of their constituents. This, of course, includes education and information about medical care, and activists also note support as a major priority. Several activists highlighted the importance of support particularly for a marginalized and traumatized community. "I think that support is really an important activist tool because as people heal they become more capable engaging in activism" (Activist 21). Similarly, Activist 20 described the benefits of mutual support:

[T]he power of these [support] groups come from their ability to put out that welcome mat and say, "Hey, come on in to a room where everybody knows exactly how you feel. And everybody has walked along the path that you're on." So many of us were told when were diagnosed as younger people, that we would never meet another person with the same odd genetic syndrome that we have, and to walk into a room with 50 or 100 other people who have the exact same syndrome or a similar syndrome, or parents of a child with the syndrome, you know it's very life-affirming that you're not as screwed up as you might have thought and it's wonderful to be able to get the kind of support that you get from peers, rather than a medical establishment that isn't always the most welcoming and friendly. To be honest, not even the most educated.

Many activists I spoke with emphasized the importance of coming out and sharing their stories publicly in order to facilitate broader awareness of their concerns and the efforts of the broader movement. Activist 3 explained:

I actually think the most important thing is about more individual people speaking out. There are many, many, more intersex people out there than have spoken publicly and I think individual stories are what most move policy anywhere...I mean, I draw my lessons from the LGBT movement...When the pole shifted so that more people than not knew that they knew a gay person, public opinion shifted about gay rights...Coming out was the thing that changed things for the LGBT community...Intersex is much less common, but everybody does know an intersex person. And I think when more people come out, that's going to have an enormous impact on what it means because I think being part of what allows the mistreatment of intersex people, not just in the medical world, but everywhere, is this sense of unreality. It's hard for people to imagine an intersex person as a person. When you put a face on it...when it's a person you can imagine, then you can respond to them as a person.

"Coming out" or publicly sharing their stories is a vital tactic that activists use to counter the problem of invisibility (Astraea Lesbian Justice Foundation 2016; Saguy 2020). Activists described proactively engaging the media, participating in public events to provide information about intersex issues, and sharing their experiences. Activists reported providing written testimonies online, partaking in documentary films, and giving lectures in both public forums

such as libraries and local events. Reflecting on her participation in talk shows and a documentary, Activist 5 said:

[T]he more we get out there, the more people say, "Oh, I've heard of that." So, this is one way we can try to reach people all around the world...I don't think that the treatment of intersex people will change until intersex is a household word.

As part of raising awareness, both in the social arena and popular media, activists are also engaging new media to foster more positive perceptions of intersex, promote diverse embodiments, and raise awareness about intersex human rights. For example, AIC founded the Interface Project in 2012, which "communicates the lived experiences of intersex people by recording the voices, transcribing the words, and publishing the stories of people born with a variation of sex anatomy" (Interface Project 2019). The Project's website hosts testimonies from intersex people in order to capture the diversity of experiences and to empower intersex individuals.

In addition to public awareness, some activist efforts at raising awareness are geared to particular audiences, such as parents and intersex youth. Reflecting on the education of parents, Activist 1 said:

I think part of what changes medical practice is that parents are more educated and saying, "You know what? You're recommending this, but I joined this group of parents, and you know, they're doing these things to raise their children, and they don't want to do this surgery. Educating parents helps educate clinicians as well.

Activist 6 also described the importance of raising awareness among parents, particularly through media efforts and sharing experiential knowledge:

I've worked hard to continue to get media attention for this issue because really, the people who are going to make the difference here are young parents. If young parents have heard something like me or me on television, radio, or they read something somewhere in a women's magazine or newspaper, that said the advocator was born with different looking genitals, maybe you shouldn't do surgery right away, that's all I want them to think.

Similarly, Activist 11 also describe the usefulness of raising awareness among parents:

[I]t's important for these parents who have just had these kids or who haven't yet had kids to realize that this is, you know, that you might have a kid like this...more often than not you're going to be offered the option to normalize your kid in some way, and share some examples, share some stories, share some brief stories of people—their perspective, the story that people can tell you.

The U.S. affiliate of OII (now known as Intersex Campaign for Equality) created a brochure for parents that provides "information in a balanced, education, non-alarming, non-stigmatizing manner" as well as educational and medical resources to ease parents' concerns about their intersex children (OII 2013).

AIC has also focused efforts on intersex youth, for example, through their InterAct Youth Program. Founded in 2014 with "the goal of building advocacy skills and support for the next generation of young intersex leaders," (InterACT n.d.) the youth-led InterAct Youth Program has created educational materials for intersex youth and parents from the youth perspective in order to raise awareness and to facilitate pride in their embodied differences. Describing the youth program, Activist 3 explained:

[T]he idea of that program [InterACT Youth] is to give young people in the intersex community just a platform to share their voices...part of the idea of that project was we now hear—after two decades of activism in which very little has changed in the medical world—what we're now hearing from doctors is "Well, our surgical techniques are better now. So, all those thirty, forty, fifty year old people who are complaining about the surgery that was done to them, that's not the surgery we're doing any more."...[S]o, part of the idea of InterACT was to turn to young people who have very recently experienced what's been termed the more modern medical treatment and hear what they have to say about how they've been treated and about their bodies.

Activists I interview also target their efforts at medical professionals. Some acknowledge the importance of working within the medical model as part of the movement's efforts. Activist 4 described the benefit of focusing advocacy efforts on working with doctors:

I think there are a lot of participants and stakeholders in this arena that understand that the care that is being given and is currently given is not ideal for the patient. And I think advocacy—you're just allowed in more rooms. You're allowed to have these discussions with people that are making decisions. And that's really where we need to be.

Similarly, Activist 13 said:

I don't know whether this is education or whether this is just better alliances...but I don't forever want to be in opposition to medicine, "medicine" with a capital "M." You know, wow, it just always come off that way and despite my intentions...but that doesn't make it right, you know. There is some form of liaison between intersex people and medicine that I think needs to happen.

Activists and organizations, particularly among those that were willing to engage with DSD and the medical model, at least strategically, are targeting medical professionals in their educational efforts. Activist 21 reflected on the importance of advocating "inside" medicine and working with medical professionals:

A social change movement needs to have people using different strategies, but some of those strategies need to be [an] educator insider [who] gets to be invited to meetings like the NIH consensus meeting...[Y]ou need to be able to play on the inside, as well as on the outside...I think there needs to be more people that are able to do that, to learn then—to be able to speak in a way physicians can understand them as peers.

Activist 3 also emphasized the importance of working with and educating doctors:

It's important because they're the ones who are making medical decisions and they're the ones that are presenting information to parents at a time when they're very vulnerable and where they don't know what other information is available. So, when decisions about treatment of intersex children are being made. The information is often only what the doctor chooses to present. So, it's very, very important for us to reach doctors and affect how they talk to parents about these decisions. And also, to impact how they think about the decisions themselves

She also went on to describe her efforts to target medical professionals:

[W]e do a fair bit of aggressive medical education. I present at medical conferences. There're a few hospitals where I'll either do training with their DSD treatment team, or I'll be sort of a backup—actually go consult on individual cases. And I publish with or without—whether or not I have doctors as co-authors—I publish pretty widely in the medical press. So, in all those ways, we're communicating with the medical world.

Several activists noted the importance of targeting younger doctors or medical students in an effort to reach the newer generation of providers who may be more receptive to delaying surgery and open to a model other than Money's protocols, which dominated the latter half of the twentieth century. Activist 6 described his willingness to speak to medical professionals:

I just presented at this conference last September with an international group of pediatric urologists. Some of the younger ones are also interested in being educated and learning something new. I want to work with physicians as much as I can, as long as they are not shunning me and basically rejecting what I have to say out of hand because what it means is they're going to do less of the surgery that they want to do.

He then went on to further elaborate:

I think it's a great idea for us to be meeting with and working with people who are in the field right now, physicians that have been trained in the old model who are open to considering something different. I'm going to be participating in two conferences this year where I'll be doing exactly that, sitting with teams of physicians who are interested in being educated and getting a different idea of how they might pursue treatment with intersex patients. So, I want to do that work. I want to believe there are some people out there, some physicians, who are conscious about the fact that it isn't just their job to do more surgery, it's their job to treat patients well.

Some activists and groups are also advocating for research that engages the intersex community meaningfully in the study process. Activist 1 said:

We want to interact with people and participate in studies where the research goals are our goals, where the research is actually going to be of some value clinically...I think it's important to continue advocacy in the sense of education. I think that it's matured a lot, and it's become more of a process of education and give-and-take.

Several activists I spoke with described participating in formal trainings, guest lecturing at educational settings such as universities, and engaging with various medical professionals one-on-one to discuss intersex concerns. For example, the AISDSD-SG developed a medical education program that coincides with their annual member retreat (InterConnect 2021; see also Davis 2015). Activist 15 explained the impact of this medical education program:

More and more doctors are getting to hear—and at those one-day conferences they're getting to hear from parents, panels of youth, adults, and other doctors. They're getting more educated and they're getting more up-to-date on—not medical practice, but medical procedures—but on the more emotional/social part of this, you know, how it affects the families and how it affects kids.

In this forum, intersex people and their parents share their experiences directly with medical professionals, share their concerns and advocate for their medical and research needs. Activist 1 also described the importance of this program:

I think it's just really important for a clinician to see who we are and what our families are like and what our adults are like to realize that we're not a group of people who need to have something fixed in order to be happy and healthy. Please listen to us about what our real issues are, and help us with those, but don't be thinking that we have something horrible about us, and this includes people with unusual-looking genitals. People can deal with that just fine.

Legal and Human Rights Advocacy

Intersex activists are increasingly looking to the law to challenge and politicize the medical standard of care. Some activists and intersex organizations are educating policy makers and advocating for laws and policies that recognize and protect the human rights of intersex people. Informed by groups such as OII who remained critical after the 2006 Consensus Statement, global human rights bodies are increasingly researching ongoing medical practices and further challenge their ongoing legitimacy (Hegarty et al. 2020). Many of these activists directly oppose DSD and the medical model and their primary aim is to achieve a moratorium on non-consensual, medically unnecessary surgeries and treatment.

International human rights forums, such as the UN Human Rights Committee provide disadvantaged groups with new opportunities for claims-making, enabling boomerang patterns by which repressed local actors go to international forums to gain leverage against their government (Keck and Sikkink 1999). These international forums exert varying levels of pressures on local authorities to address human rights problems, ranging from naming-and-shaming to legally binding decisions. While international human rights mechanisms create soft law that may not be directly enforced in practice, transnational advocacy efforts have demonstrated that this strategy can create a "boomerang" effect" (e.g., Kollman and Waites 2009) that, in turn, impacts national law and practice and can lead to hard laws in individual

nations (Bauer et al. 2020). Thus, the appeal to international human rights mechanisms may have a dual impact of raising public awareness about rights claims, while simultaneously promotion legislative change

Activists have used rights-based arguments corresponding to existing legal frameworks to politicize normalizing treatments performed on intersex individuals. For example, some challenge medical practices by crafting legal arguments using the body of legal human rights (Greenberg 2012; Sudai 2018). Activists engage in human rights advocacy, particularly through international networks, and utilize the review processes of the UN, using shadow reports and partnering with other non-governmental organizations to highlight the concerns of intersex people and to pressure national governments. By engaging national and international human rights bodies, intersex activists and groups are bringing additional visibility to their concerns (e.g., HRW 2017). Intersex awareness, for example, was included in the UN *Free and Equal* campaign in a special "Intersex Fact Sheet," developed to educate the public on intersex (InterAct 2015). These efforts have resulted in recommendations to uphold the rights of bodily integrity, autonomy, and self-determination, to require informed consent, and in some cases, criminalize non-consenting treatments.

Along with the apparatus of international human rights, additional routes of politicization include litigating human rights violations proclaimed in U.S. law that are jeopardized by early normalizing interventions (Sudai 2018), such as the rights to bodily autonomy, self-determination, informed consent, and physical integrity. Some activists I spoke with referenced the use of litigation to challenge medical practices, as Activist 15 explained:

[I]f you can get a court to make a decision, you know, that calls attention to the fact that says there was adequate informed consent perhaps or negligence in a malpractice case or in a constitutional case. So, you can talk about children having rights to bodily integrity and the right to procreate and those kinds of things that were taken away from them unconstitutionally. You have those kinds of decisions. Those decisions are made public and that sends a message to society and to the medical professionals. When you're talking about malpractice, too, there's money and there's a lawsuit. So, that sends a message. It's kind of like they need a slap on the wrist for them to pay attention and include support groups and provide real informed consent to families who are making decisions for their children.

In addition, activists have begun exploring litigation as a strategy to advance their goals.

Based on my interviews, legal strategies were emphasized by activists opposed to DSD and those particularly frustrated with the lack of change or response from the medical community. Activist 6 said:

I think medical practice changes when malpractice makes it necessary for them to change what they do. That's legal. Frankly, if I can get state statues to say you can't do this anymore, then I don't care what the American Academy of Pediatrics says. I used to think I had to work with them. I'm never going to get anywhere with the American Academy of Pediatrics.

He went on:

I don't think this is going to change until physicians are at risk for malpractice...That's the only thing that's going to change medical practice...These people are about normalization. They don't understand that there is a tremendous amount of variability within what is normal.

Similarly, Activist 26 succinctly said that "nothing makes a doctor listen like an attorney." She went on: "[I]f you're looking at it from sort of a systems perspective, like, having the sort of the tooth of the law and the threat of litigation is what does make people sit up and listen, and what will drive change in practice."

Particularly significant was a malpractice lawsuit filed by Pamela and John Mark
Crawford, in collaboration with AIC and the Southern Poverty Law Center, in South Carolina in
2013 in both federal and state courts on behalf of their adopted eight-year-old son, M.C. M.C.
was born with an intersex trait and prior to his adoption was in the foster care system. During
that time, he underwent medically unnecessary surgery which ultimately affected his sexual
function (e.g., InterAct 2017). At the time I was interviewing activists, this case was still making
its way through the various court systems, and many activists emphasized its potential as a step
forward in the movement's goals. Activist 15 explained:

Nothing was changing and so the carrot wasn't really working; the stick was kind of necessary. I think it's going to take a lawsuit or two or three to send a message and hopefully this M.C. litigation that is now pending is going to be a huge start to that.

Activist 13 was also hopeful about the M.C. legal case, particularly in that legal strategies could offer the innovative means to pressure medical professionals to change their practices:

I can't march into medicine and change them. What we're doing right now is not being effective enough. It's not happening quickly enough. As we've been on the phone now, almost for two hours, probably at least one child has been operated on unnecessarily. I mean, how fucked up is that? That's a bad, bad thing. So, if this is the way it is right now, and we're not communicating effectively enough, then we have to look for game-changing things...and the M.C. thing...I think, is one of them because it takes the jeopardy away from the child, and puts it on the surgeon. That's pretty game-changing. But something game-changing needs to happen in the conversation between us and medicine, in the discourse between us and medicine.

In addition, even long-time ally, Alice Dreger (2015), who led many direct efforts to work with medical professional to change their practices, reflected on the M.C. case:

I do think it would be a lot better if this system changed because hearts and minds were changed among doctors and parents. But after 20 years of working in this area, I don't know what it's going to take to achieve that—and I'm starting to think we can't wait anymore for the legal prohibitions to be enacted. How many children are losing healthy genital tissue while we wait for the pediatric establishment to "evolve"?

A Diverse Repertoire

DSD, at least initially, created an "intrasex" debate (Greenberg 2005) within the movement between those willing to accept DSD terminology and work with medical professionals, and those that claimed DSD was pathologizing and preferred "intersex." However, my interviews with activists suggest that the heat behind this contested collaboration (Davis 2015) has simmered down and led to a more diversified repertoire of strategies and tactics. Activist 16 said:

I also feel that there's many, many ways to skin a cat and in the fullness of time, when we all wake up in this world and decide that kids can be whoever they want to be with the body they were born with, we will appreciate that many different people took different strategies and different voices and different ways of tackling this, and together, we made a difference.

Some activists valued the diversity of strategies, particularly because medicine was a difficult institution to change particularly the approach to early genital surgeries. Activist 21 said:

I think successful change will have to use a lot of strategies at the same time, and it's good...But I think that this practice [medically unnecessary surgery] has proven to be sufficiently resistant to change over time...[S]omething with a little bit more friction in it—and a little bit more power to course is also needed. So, I'm really in favor of the kind of work that AIC is doing, and people who are bringing a human rights focus on it.

Many activists reflected on the utility of direct and indirect challenges, both confrontational and cooperative. Activist 3 said:

[A]s [the intersex movement] matures as a movement, there will be recognition that a mature civil rights movement uses multiple tactics, multiple strategies, doesn't agree on everything, and focuses joint action on points of agreement. You know, focuses on where the real enemy is and fighting the real enemy. And yes, having lively internal discussions about points of differences...no civil rights movement is led by one organization. And no civil rights movement has one monolithic view of how things should be or one set of tactics...Yes, we should have confrontational tactics. And we should have groups that work from the inside and that are not confrontational

Activist 11 described the benefit of multiple tactics:

I think that all movements need all of those things. I mean, there are people—there's a little group in Switzerland [Zwischengeschlecht] who constantly does street protests and protests in front of hospitals, and they have these inflammatory signs and they're very in your face, and it's great. We need that. We need that. We need that. We need AIC working indoors and working with lawyers and physicians...You know, we need all of that. And that's also pretty typical of a movement. It's not only going to be one method, and it's important to have [them] out there, you know, going outside and joining them, ranting and raving, causing havoc. I mean, it's important...You know, the idea that there are multiple ways to start a conversation is valid and true, and I'm glad they're doing that work.

Similarly, Activist 16 said:

Some people have a light saber or flame thrower and some people are quote on quote collaborators like me, and I use the accepted medical terminology. Another prong has to be legal litigation because sometimes the only way institutional and systemic change is going to happen is when you hit people in the pocketbook, hit institutions in the pocketbook.

Intersex activism includes diverse actors and organization with multiple goals and strategies.

While DSD terminology remains a point of contention, the divisiveness has ultimately led to an

expended repertoire of strategies and tactics. Activists increasingly acknowledge the utility of using multiple strategies in order to effect change in medical practice.

Activists and groups that engage DSD tend to be more willing to work within the medical model and collaborate with medical professionals. For example, the AISDSD-SG coordinates a medical education program that coincides with their annual member retreat (InterConnect 2021). Activists educate doctors on their concerns and collaboratively establish research priorities. Activists and groups that oppose DSD, such as OII, tend not to engage with the medical model or work with medical professionals. OII focuses on human rights, and activists are increasingly engaging with international advocacy networks and human rights bodies, such as the International Intersex Forum and the UN, to achieve social and medical change. Lastly, some activists described tailoring the extent to which they engaged DSD based on their audience, employing a more flexible or pragmatic approach in order to pursue strategies that will best achieve their goals.

CONCLUSION

Intersex activism takes a variety of forms, from public and direct actions such as protest and media awareness, to the efforts of peer support groups to facilitate research or treatment reform by promoting the role of "patient expert." By making visible their embodied experience, some intersex actors and organizations have sought to promote greater tolerance for diverse bodies and recast intersex as more positive than pathologizing. Early intersex activism was largely grounded in conscious opposition to medicalization or the extension of medical frames of understanding. Over time, some actors and organizations have sought medical reform and now advocate for improved quality of care and expanded research.

While DSD initially divided the movement, and remains an area of debate, my research demonstrates that activists frame DSD in diverse ways. Activists' views of DSD range from pragmatic acceptance to outright rejection. The ways in which activists and groups frame DSD shapes the strategies they pursue. Activists and groups that engage DSD prioritize medical reform and seek to improve clinical interactions and quality of care. Other activists oppose DSD and are increasingly frustrated with the slow pace of medical change. They are exploring legal and human rights advocacy in an effort to create additional pressure on medical professionals. Some organizations employ terminology flexibly, based on their intended audience. Intersex activists and organizations are variously engaging with medicalization from the "bottom up," and even strategically endorsing DSD to work more closely with medical professionals and some parents.

CHAPTER 4

COORDINATING CARE POST-CONSENSUS: MULTIDISCIPLINARY TEAMS AND ENGAGING FAMILIES

For the latter half of the twentieth century, clinicians relied on protocols based on work by John Money and colleagues, which emphasized the role of rearing in gender identity development (e.g., Money et al. 1955b; Money and Ehrhardt 1972). Their research, first published in the 1950s, hypothesized that concordance between genital appearance and assigned gender was necessary for psychological adaptation and a stable gender identity (e.g., Money et al. 1955b). Clinicians posited that it was in the child's and family's best interest to perform surgery early and withhold information about their condition. Intersex activists and their allies criticized the extensive medicalization, which they argued caused irreversible harm and violated human rights (Chase 1999; Davis 2015; Carpenter 2016). These challenges, along with revelations of questionable research and clinical conduct (Colapinto 2000) cast considerable doubt on the legitimacy of the long-dominant protocols. ISNA activists adopted patient-centered care as a strategy to reform clinical practices and outcomes by formulating care guidelines The Intersex Society of North American (ISNA), in collaboration with sympathetic clinicians, began to promote a patient-centered approach as an alternative to the paternalism of Money's protocols, with emphasis on open communication, informed consent, avoidance of unnecessary interventions, and psychosocial considerations (Consortium on the Management of Disorders of Sex Development 2006a, 2006b; ISNA 2008b; Hegarty et al. 2020). Moreover, they attended to the importance of minimizing stigma and shame by promoting openness and interpersonal connection, and addressing patient and family psychosocial concerns and distress (ISNA 2008b).

These pressures eventually culminated in a 2005 meeting of international experts and two patient advocates. During this meeting, participants reviewed available research and developed clinical recommendations later published as the "Consensus Statement on the Management of Intersex Disorders" (Lee et al. 2006). Included in these recommendations for "optimal clinical management" (Lee et al. 2006: e490) was the provision of care by a multidisciplinary team (MDT) of specialists, open communication with patients and families and their participation in decision-making, and attention to psychosocial concerns with acknowledgement of the importance of psychological and peer support. Moreover, the commitment to patient-centered care has since been confirmed with the Global Update to the Consensus Statement in 2016 (Lee et al. 2016).

However, the extent to which these guidelines "work" in practice and how the recommendations, particularly for MDTs and open communication, play out, are not clear. Clinical guidelines, as part of the evidence-based medicine movement, aim to rationalize decision making and clinical practice. However, "[m]any reform attempts are... weakened by discretion and autonomy inherent to professional medical power" (Timmermans et al. 2018: 522). In other words, clinicians still exert professional autonomy over the decision of whether and how to implement such standards (Timmermans and Berg 2003). Based on interview data with 20 clinical providers, I examine the impact of the Consensus Statement recommendations on clinical practices, particularly how health care providers engage in multidisciplinary teambased care and patient-centered care. I explore their perceptions of interactions with intersex patients and their families and the challenges they face in practice.

PATIENT-CENTEREDNESS

The role of patients in medical care and decision making has transformed over the course of the last century. The shift away from paternalistic- or clinician-centered decision making that dominated the early twentieth century and the subsequent discourse of patient autonomy was facilitated, in part, by the emergence and increasing authority of bioethics and patients' rights which emphasize the importance of patient autonomy (Rothman 1991). This emphasis on patient autonomy places new pressures on health professionals who now have the responsibility to ensure that clinical information and potential courses of action are conveyed to patients in accessible language (Morgan 2008).

Central components of clinical decision-making are the doctor-patient relationship and the organizational structure of care (Eisenberg 1979; Clark et al. 1991). Two sets of reforms to the organization and delivery of health services—the creation of multidisciplinary teams and the involvement of patient and families—have sought to improve patient-centeredness of health care provision. The Institute of Medicine (2001) defines patient-centered care as "providing care that is respectful of and responsive to individual patient preferences, needs, and values and ensuring the patient values guide all clinical decisions" (40). Moreover patient-centered care focuses on the individual experience of illness and care, in order to promote patient involvement and the

_

¹⁴ The move towards patient involvement in decision-making has also impacted the rights of children. According to the United Nations "Convention on the Rights of the Child" (UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights 1989) children and young people have the right to express opinions freely, and these opinions should be given weight, according to their age and maturity, in decisions that directly affect them. In chapter three, I highlighted the growing salience of human rights advocacy and discourse in intersex activism. The efforts of some intersex activists and organizations, particularly those that remained critical of the Consensus Statement after 2006, focus on engaging international human rights bodies in challenging the ongoing legitimacy of medical practices, particularly medically unnecessary infant genital surgeries.

individualization of care (Stewart et al. 2000; Epstein et al. 2005; Robinson et al. 2008). The formation of MDTs and patient and family engagement are both seen as a means of improving collaboration, knowledge sharing, and accountability in health care and ensuring that services are built around patients' needs and wishes (Martin and Finn 2011). Within the current health care arena, multidisciplinary teams are an essential tool for delivering more patient-centered, coordinated, and effective health care (Poole and Real 2003; Mitchell et al. 2012).

In this chapter, I assess some of the impact of the Statement and the ways its components are engaged by clinicians in practice. I first explore providers perceptions of key changes since the Consensus Statement, particularly in light of Money's long-dominant and controversial care protocols. I then explore providers' experiences providing team-based care, as well as clinicians roles on the team, and specific challenges they face in practice. Then, I explore their perceptions of family engagement, including patient-centered strategies they employee along with barriers they face when working with parents of children born with intersex traits.

SITUATING INTERSEX CARE

The providers I interviewed expressed sensitivity to issues that intersex advocates have raised over the past three decades. Dr. 16, a pediatric urologist, explained:

The lay press discrediting Money—John Money—and patients speaking out about how they had felt mismanaged...I think it made all of us [physicians] uneasy. Here we were feeling as though we were doing great work and helping kids and families, and out of the blue we were under attack. We were being told that we were doing the wrong thing and maybe we were hurting people. That just caught my specialty completely by surprise and set us back on our heels...I think all of us felt very uneasy and on uncertain footing as to what we were doing...I think that the literature from the lay press and lay groups has just given us pause to wonder what the right approach for the family is.

While providers, particularly the surgeons I interviewed, reaffirmed the good intentions that guided previous practices, they also acknowledged the clinical ignorance—even clinical arrogance—about protocols that were virtually unquestioned until patient advocacy and media coverage of David Reimer. Dr. 20, a pediatric urologist reflected:

Many times decisions were made based on incomplete information...false experience and information—mainly the teaching that if you provide the right environment it really doesn't matter whether you choose male or female, and if you provide the right genitalia from the external standpoint, then the individual will do fine...I, as any other surgeon, have a certain level of confidence when they go into the operating room, that they're doing the right thing...I'd always sort of had the philosophy [that] I'll never do something unless I'm comfortable doing it on my own child, and now all of a sudden patients that would fall into lap...do I have any idea that we're doing the right thing here? The answer was clearly no. I'm certainly not the only one that felt that way, and there was a feeling that there was a tremendous need to better understand, and really sit back and say, "We really don't know what the heck we're doing," and why don't we study this the right way and why don't we be willing to admit that we don't know what we're doing and be open with families and take the philosophy that this doesn't have to be a decision that's rushed into? And it can be a decision with the input with several specialists, including endocrinologists and geneticists, and you know, most importantly, psychologists and psychiatrists. And like I said, that was not the way I was trained. I was trained completely opposite. I was trained—you know, you're the surgeon. Be sure of your decision and you do what you need to do and clearly that was not the right approach...So, it was a challenge to me personally that am I doing the right thing?

Under Money's protocols, other specialists were involved in evaluation, however, decisions about gender assignment were guided by the urologist's judgement regarding the potential for surgical "reconstruction" (Wilson and Reiner 1999). Under the current approach to care, the input of multiple specialists is critical in order to foster a therapeutic alliance with the family. The clinicians working largely in isolation—a lone ranger, a cowboy—is no longer considered best practice, and is even seen as potentially putting patients and their practice at risk

(Grumbach and Bodenheimer 2004; Gawande 2011). What was known as the "optimal gender policy" (OGP; Meyer-Bahlburg 1998), they acknowledged, may now reflect paternalism largely discouraged in modern health care delivery and constitute ethically dubious practice (Siminoff and Sandberg 2015).

Given the still marked uncertainty about whether treatment benefits patients, the OGP no longer explicitly guides physicians' clinical recommendations. Dr. 16, a pediatric urologist, said:

John Money's theories that influenced all of us so heavily—they're certainly not the gospel. Whether there is something to them, I think, remains to be seen. Most of us feel that you cannot simply rely on those theories to guide treatment.

Doctors I interviewed acknowledged that decisions are particularly complex, and given the heterogeneous factors they must weigh, these services are suited for a team approach. As Dr. 7, a pediatric endocrinologist, told me:

In the "olden days" we just looked at [the baby] and said "Okay, this [child] is going to have to be a female. I mean, it really wasn't that simple, but it was simpler then. Now it's, "Okay, what is the chromosomal sex? What do we know about exposure to androgens in the brain? What kind of anguish will this child go through if the child is raised female but is really male? What do the parents think about it? What do they want to do? Where are they from and what do they believe?

Some doctors affirmed the value of MDTs while also distancing themselves from the paternalism inherent in Money's protocols. Dr. 7, went on:

I am very comforted in knowing that we now have things like gender teams, where it's not just one person making the decision. You really have to have the family buy in and participate. And, to me that's much more comforting than going to a family and saying "We have decided." I remember that feeling always made me uncomfortable. So, it's much better to have a team approach and have the family be a part of that. It's much better care.

Providers acknowledged differences in care following the 2006 Consensus Statement, suggesting a trend towards a more patient- or family-centered approach to care. Two changes in intersex care especially indicative of a patient-centered approach are the provision of care by a multidisciplinary team and a shift away from the concealment centered model characteristic of the OGP. Diagnosis and treatment by an MDT with open communication and the involvement of family are now recommended practices in intersex medical management (Lee et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2016).

The providers I spoke to reflected on the clinical complexity as well as the clinical uncertainty involved in managing conditions associated with intersex traits. Doctors weighed complex decisions with little or poor evidence bases. "What we have to base our recommendations on is just such poor information, and so it's hard to make good decisions without good evidence" (Dr. 9, pediatric endocrinology). All of the clinicians I spoke with pointed to the lack of available data guiding this area of medicine. They described having to weigh heterogeneous factors in decisions about gender assignment and treatment. They supplemented published evidence, which varies by diagnosis, with their own clinical experience and training. "We sort of all fly by quote-unquote clinical experience and what we've learned from our patients" (Dr. 12, clinical psychologist).

Other clinicians also wrestled with balancing concerns for the child and for the family.

Dr. 17, a pediatric endocrinologist, said:

How do you balance the best interest of the child, but many times you can't make the decisions always in the beginning versus the impact of the parents...What to do in the surgical end, and...our people are better off having surgery earlier in life means it would happen in a time when they wouldn't be able to decide?

They also increasingly accounted for parents' preferences. It was clear from the interviews I conducted with providers on MDTs that they were working to provide the best care possible.

Moreover, many emphasized that MDTs provide better care. Dr. 17, a pediatric endocrinologist, said:

From my previous experience from not being in one [a MDT] to now, to me it's evident that the care of the children is better And I can say whatever care I was delivering is better now that I'm part of a team in many, many ways...it's about as obvious as if a brick fell on my head and it hurt. I didn't need a statistical test to tell me what was going on.

Recognizing the need to base clinical practice upon discussion and debate, including the best clinical and scientific evidence along with patient and family circumstances, current recommendations place the surgeon within a MDT model of care with an explicit mandate to communicate openly with families and encourage their participation in decisions (Lee et al. 2006; Creighton et al. 2014). The MDT creates an environment in which medical professionals, along with the family, draw on a collective expertise and formulate a plan of action.

MULTIDSCIPLINARY PROVISION OF CARE

The Team Players

Endocrinologists. Pediatric endocrinologists are medical doctors who complete training in pediatrics along with three or more years of fellowship training in pediatric endocrinology. They diagnose, treat, and manage conditions in children and young adults related to hormones and the glands that produce them, including those involving growth, puberty, and development of secondary sex characteristics, and adrenal and pituitary function. Pediatric endocrinologists also advise, administer, and monitor hormone replacement therapies for adolescents. Because

atypical genitalia are most commonly associated with congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH),¹⁵ which can signal a potential emergency, they place a central role in initial assessments.

Clinicians I interviewed often pointed to the pediatric endocrinologist as the first point of contact after a baby is referred to a clinic and as taking the lead in directing and ordering diagnostic evaluations.

Urologists. Pediatric urologists are surgeons who complete training in both general surgery and general urology, followed by additional subspecialty training in pediatric urology. They diagnose, treat, and manage conditions related to the urinary tract and genitals, and provide surgical services. Urologists I spoke with described performing detailed examinations of the child, focusing on the presence and location of the gonads and the size and appearance of the external genitalia. They also determine other investigations necessary to help establish a diagnosis such as imaging, vaginoscopy, and laparoscopy. As Dr. 1, a pediatric urologist, explained to me:

We do an ultrasound of the pelvis and what we call a genitogram...and you'll see what's hooked to what and get an idea of what parts are there. Then, to us, the endocrinologists are really running the show...They're bleeding the babies dry, doing all the hormone tests, you know, trying to figure out what exactly is the issue and then we go from there.

_

¹⁵ CAH is a family of conditions caused by enzyme deficiencies in the adrenal cortex (Hughes 1990) most commonly 21-hydroxlyase deficiency. The majority of babies born with 21-hydroxilase deficiency—about 75%--have a "salt-losing" form in which the adrenal glands do not produce sufficient amounts of aldosterone, which regulates salt balance. Without this hormone, the child loses too much salt and water in their urine and becomes dehydrated. Symptoms develop shortly after birth and without treatment, dehydration causes an "adrenal crisis," or shock, and can lead to serious heart problems. As of 2007, newborn screening programs in all 50 states and the District of Columbia include testing for CAH (STAR-G 2012).

¹⁶ Vaginoscopy is a diagnostic procedure to examine the vaginal canal using a cystoscope, a thin cable with a small video camera on the end. Laparoscopy is an operation to view the organs of the abdomen or pelvis through small incisions using a laprascope.

Other urologists I interviewed similarly pointed to the pediatric urologists, who they saw as leading the diagnostic efforts, while they assessed feasibility of surgery. Two urologists I interviewed, Dr. 1 and Dr. 2, referred to the role of the pediatric urologist as the "technician." Ultimately, the urologist performs surgery that may restore function or modify the appearance of external genitalia and that removes gonads perceived to be at risk of malignancy.

Psychologists and psychiatrists. The mental health provider on a team is typically a psychologist or psychiatrist. Psychologists were either masters-level or Ph.D.-level with specialty training in subdisciplines such as health psychology, child psychology, behavioral psychology, and clinical psychology. Psychiatrists complete training in medicine, general psychiatry, or neurology, followed by additional specialized training in child and adolescent psychiatry. Based on my interviews, the psychologist or psychiatrist was often in the role of helping to coordinate the team and organize case conferences. They were also responsible for explaining the team approach to the family, educating parents and the child (over time) about their diagnosis and child development, and ensuring continuity in case management. Dr. 6, a psychologist, described his role:

[My role is] to coordinate people, to make sure they [the team] all get there and then we have a meeting to discuss the case and just kind of make sure it's all running smoothly. I talk to the family about who's coming in to see their baby...I explain the team concept to them and why we have a team.

Clinicians I interviewed often highlighted the important liaison role held by the psychologist or psychiatrist, in which they serve as the point person for team-family communications. As intersex traits are usually unexpected for parents, the psychologist or psychiatrists are often focused initially on managing parents' emotions and facilitating their understanding of the situation. They provide psychological support and intervention to address

the mental health needs of the child and to facilitate the child-parent relationship. They may also connect the family to resources and support services.

Modes of Team-based Care

The clinicians I interviewed worked on teams that differed by institutional commitment and resources. Of the 20 physicians I interviewed, nine providers worked at medical centers affiliated with a large academic institution that held a clinic devoted to intersex medicine. Each month or so, they met and saw intersex patients and their families. The care was coordinated, in that patients and families could see multiple specialists in one day, and these doctors had particular space available for meetings. Additionally, in line with the broader trend towards evidence-based medicine, these teams tended to devote considerable attention and resources to conducting research and producing outcomes data, which some doctors I spoke with described as necessary in order for their clinic to continue receiving institutional support.

The other 11 providers I interviewed participated in less structured or "informal" MDTs. These specialists, who were also affiliated with both academic medical centers and smaller, regional hospital networks, typically were consulted based on who was the specialist scheduled on-call at a particular time. These team often mobilized only for "complicated" cases, or more specifically, those cases in which gender assignment was uncertain.

While team composition may vary from one center to another, clinicians I interviewed confirmed that MDTs typically include a pediatric endocrinologist, a pediatric urologist and/or surgeon, and a trained mental health provider (e.g., psychologist, psychiatrist, and/or social worker) who can provide psychosocial care and social support resources. Based on my interviews, providers who worked on teams with a devoted DSD clinic typically had access to

psychologist or behavioral health provider and incorporated them upon first meeting with the family. Endocrinologists and urologists on "informal" teams, described less interaction with psychological specialists, at least initially, and often would not consult them unless there was concern about parental distress or in regards to the child's development over time. Some teams, particularly those with a DSD clinic, extended membership to genetics and genetic counseling, nursing, gynecology, neonatology, and/or ethics.

Constructing Teamwork

Despite these differences, clinicians I interviewed made similar references to the team aims and activities, often describing the value of teamwork, highlighting the quality of teamwork in which they were engaged, or lamenting about the challenges of teamwork or institutional barriers. Providers I spoke with often highlighted the benefits of MDTs, particularly the communication and collaboration among different specialists. For example, Dr. 20, a pediatric urologist, reflected:

Surgeons see their world, endocrinologists see their world, psychologists see their world, and by working together, you see how much what you do overlaps what they do. Whereas previously I didn't know the world of endocrinologists and psychologists and the implications it has to the family.

Like Dr. 20, underlying some respondents comments was how teamwork helped them in their clinical work, usually in the context of exchanging knowledge and coordinating care. This is particularly important in cases such as intersex, which are characterized by high clinical uncertainty and for which multiple clinical options exist (Politi et al. 2013). More specifically many clinicians I interviewed felt that MDTs contributed to the achievement of a more

informed, cohesive—and therefore, better—care plan. Describing the utility of MDTs, Dr. 17, a pediatric endocrinologist, said:

I think two things are helpful [about MDTs]. The most important is probably the interchange that goes around our meetings with regard to the best approach to individual patients, many of whom have complex issues and not completely straightforward solutions to their issues. And I think the second is that because the team actually meets together and exchanges information, we come up with the plan and approach for the family that is unified, I guess. And I think that helps them a lot.

Dr. 5, a clinical psychologist, also emphasized the unifying feature of MDTs:

That's our biggest, kind of, promise that we make to parents, is that they're not going to get differing information from different providers. We're all going to sit down together, and we do a family meeting with them, obviously once we come to a decision or even if it's taking longer, we'd do two family meetings. But that's what we promise them is that we will be united and on the same page.

"Good" decisions, according to providers I interviewed, are those made together. Dr. 11, a pediatric urologist, explained the importance of including others in decisions not only in light of uncertain knowledge, but also as a sort of malpractice protection.

All of these people with different backgrounds come together to come to a consensus that they deliver to the family that then leads to a super consensus or whatever of "What can be done." It also has high potential for being litigious in terms of doing it. So, what I have seen is that it's great that there's all of this talk about the gender assignment team. I think the more formal a gender assignment team, the better it is. The reason being is there's been a number of cases in this country where a decision has been made to proceed in a certain way. Then the family or the individual has been angry at what's been chosen. The person that takes the heat, and almost completely the heat, is the surgeon.

He went on:

So, what we do is we made sure that we have endocrinologists that we trust, that we have a frank discussion with the family if we don't know for sure, then we get an extensive verbal written consent from the family. Their understanding that we do not know for sure and we are going on the best knowledge that we have at this point in time. Here's how we proceed and that we do not have to if they don't want to. This is—it's a hot topic that we are extremely cautious. We want to join as many people in the decision as possible and do just the opposite of what surgeons usually do, which is act like they know everything. Even when we feel very strongly that there's only one way to do this, we do that because we feel—from a lot of ways I'm sure, to be honest, just personal malpractice protection that it's like this.

Especially for controversial aspects of care such as surgery, a team approach may be beneficial not only for clinical purposes, but also for legal reasons. By including individuals from different backgrounds, an array of perspectives is available to MDTs that is arguably more likely to provide a comprehensive assessment of a patient's needs and helps to determine an appropriate course of action

Coordinating Teamwork

Providers with whom I spoke identified the development of MDTs as a key change in the clinical approach. The providers I interviewed saw MDT-based care as enabling them to practice more "competent" care. "These kids are very complicated and no one specialty really has all the answers, has a complete handle on things. We very much learn from one another" (Dr. 16, pediatric urologist). By determining their recommendations on a case-by-case basis, clinicians I interviewed acknowledged the medical uncertainty they face, and share the responsibility for determining a recommended plan of action.

In most cases, according to my interviews, families are referred to a team of providers for consultation by a midwife, pediatrician, or obstetrician who recognizes or suspects intersex traits

after the child is born. Some providers also described cases in which a child was evaluated or treated initially at an outside facility before their family was referred to the center with a MDT or clinic in order to receive specialized services or a second opinion.¹⁷ First actions are primarily medical: ruling out any potential metabolic crisis, gathering details on the child's internal and external characteristics, and determining a diagnosis. Dr. 16, a pediatric urologist, explains the initial testing, which was similar across the clinicians I interviewed:

> Typically, the first thing that is done is to send blood work. So, that would include electrolytes—serum electrolytes—given the concern about CAH...typically, there's a battery of endocrine tests that will go out. Then we would do it all, ultrasound looking for the presence of the female reproductive structures, uterus, fallopian tubes and so forth, or absence of those. We would do a karyotype. That would typically get us started.

Doctors order a variety of laboratory and imaging tests, which include karyotyping and chromosomal analysis; evaluation of electrolytes, hormones, and steroids; imaging, including ultrasound and a genitogram, a form of x-ray examination that uses a dye to reveal the structure of internal genitals in an attempt to establish a diagnosis.

Before meeting with the family, clinicians described first meeting as a team to evaluate the test results, determine a diagnosis, and create unified recommendations for gender assignment and care. According to Dr. 21, a pediatric endocrinologist:

2007; Romao et al. 2011; Creighton et al. 2014).

¹⁷ Most children with intersex traits are identified by the appearance of atypical external genitalia—what doctors refer to as "ambiguous genitalia"—shortly after birth. Others (approximately 10-20%) are identified in childhood or as young adults, such as after referral for absent, delayed, or incomplete puberty or amenorrhea, the absence of menstruation (Parisi et al.

We'd be talking as a group...our thoughts and our ideas and our plans through the group to make sure that we're not missing anything, and that everyone feels like we're making a good decision. So, I feel like we're pretty careful about that and I don't think any of us would be, you know, like some rogue person out there doing their own thing. So, we all want to be on the same page...speaking the same message. And, so we talk about [patients] and, you know, as the test results come back, what's the appropriate thing.

Providers told me that the team meeting was particularly important because it was held "backstage," without the presence of the patient or family, which enabled team members to "get on the same page" and define a plan for families. Clinicians described discussion-based meetings in which they integrated the patient's clinical findings with published research to determine their clinical recommendations. Dr. 20, a pediatric urologist, said:

We have a "power conference" before we see the patient. The basic goal overall is to rate the results and what these things have shown—the various testing and what the next steps are. You know, the last thing you ever want to do is walk in there and have some distorted information communicated to the family...We find that the conference we have ahead of time is extremely important before we go see the family and set foot in there.

While convening about a case, clinicians I interviewed described reviewing the results, and emphasized how each team member offers their approach to care based on their own working knowledge. As one subspecialty cannot define the parameters for best care for the family and child, doctors determine a "common vision for success" (Sandberg and Mazur 2014: 97) by evaluating the test results with the knowledge of all specialists involved. Medical authority is diffused among the team members and then cohered into a unified consensus. Dr. 19, a psychiatrist, explained:

We listen to each other. Each one of us presents a clinical picture based on what we see. You know, it may be the geneticist will say, "Well gee, I don't think genetically there's much for me to say here." Fine, then we go on. Then we hammer out a point, we argue points, and then we come up with ideas...We hammer out an approach...We present recommendations that each of us have or the biases that each of have.

These case conferences were particularly useful for the clinicians I interviewed, acting as what Gardner (2014) refers to as a "binding strategy" that coordinates activities and structures multidisciplinary decision-making. In addition, as a binding strategy, case conferences also helped to manage uncertainty and facilitate team synergy.

Team Challenges

Providers also highlighted the difficulty of establishing and working within MDTs. Dr. 6, a clinical psychologist, reflected on the lack of "equal footing" among team members.

They say they have teams, but how well they [do] they function together...I think that's the real challenge. That's a real challenge of getting people together. Will they really work together and so everybody's on an equal par? There used to be...you know, this kind of "surgeon is king," you know? And that's hasn't changed a bit...Everybody has to be sort of on equal footing and I think that's a challenge. And having people understand their roles...So they can communicate and talk with one another.

In addition, some providers described a lack of institutional resources, such as adequately trained psychosocial professionals, cross-disciplinary relationships, and funding needed to implement integrated and comprehensive team-based care. Providers, particularly those practicing at medical centers holding a regular DSD clinic, frequently described challenges pertaining to costs and physician time. Dr. 20, a pediatric urologist, who helped spearhead the development of the DSD team and clinic at his institution, explained:

You know, the problem, is it cost effective? Oh, heck no. You know, surgeons, if they were to have every single clinic like this, they'd be poor and unfortunately in today's world is one in which a lot of things are based upon costs and time. So, we—the group that takes care of these children—very honestly, without the proper support that we've been able to gather, would not be able to see them and maintain any sort of fiscal responsibility. So, that is the challenge that we have going down the line is how do we maintain support from the institutions to conduct something that is not really very honestly worthwhile to the practitioner seeing them? Also, understanding that a lot of the things that the families need, but [will] not necessarily be appropriately reimbursed by either their state insurance or their private insurance.

Dr. 20 alludes to the fact that not all services, such as psychological counseling, are adequately reimbursed by insurance. Moreover, what might be beneficial and/or efficient for a patient or family traveling in order to receive specialized care, may be, at the same time, inefficient for the physician's time. This is echoed by Dr. 5, a clinical psychologist:

I think that we all kind of struggle with the new clinic and time and billing, and all of those things, unfortunately, play a role...I mean, our hospitals don't like multi-disciplinary clinics...I should say that. Our physicians like multi-disciplinary clinics. Our patients love the clinics because we're dealing with low-income. You know, getting here is hard and getting to see everybody at the same time is great. From a billing standpoint, we are actually a for-profit hospital. So, that's something that we run into. I mean, our urologist could generally see, you know, 20 kids in an afternoon, and now they're seeing four. I mean, it hasn't been enough for any of our physicians to say, "Well, I'm not doing it," but there's kind of always that pressure.

Some providers I interviewed also mentioned challenges in coordinating clinician schedules. In their multidisciplinary clinic, Dr. 17, a pediatric endocrinologist, described how his team overcame this challenge by scheduling their regular team meetings at 7:00am on Monday mornings, and requiring attendance at all clinic meetings. Finding a convenient time for consults

or case conferences was difficult given the different responsibilities that each specialist may have.

The high degree of diagnostic uncertainty was also particularly challenging for providers that I interviewed. Dr. 20, a pediatric urologist, said:

What's challenging for me is when we have no idea what we're dealing with. So, they're [the parents] just walking in and you feel like you look stupid to the family saying, "Well, this is what your child has and we really don't know what is means.

Establishing a diagnosis is important for determining an approach to care and available treatment options. Conditions associated with intersex traits are no different, but have the additional complexity that a decision for gender assignment is often contingent on this information.

However, it is not always possible to determine a diagnosis. For children born with intersex traits and who have XY karyotype, only about 50% receive a diagnosis (Lee et al. 2006; Hughes 2015; Ahmed et al. 2016). Such cases were often the most challenging for clinicians I spoke with, as they had little evidence on which to base their recommendations.

Dr. 17, a pediatric endocrinologist, said: The trouble is we don't usually have a diagnosis, so it's hard to assess what's the real risk of malignancy, what's the real chance of fertility, those are very difficult things to sort out. There's no good measure of gender identity in a baby. You just don't have it." For providers I interviewed, determining a diagnosis offered doctors a codified body of knowledge from which to work—however small—and for families it offered a label or explanation for an inherently disorderly experience. "Families really do want a diagnosis, and they don't like to be in limbo...they typically, I think, feel a sense of relief,

118

¹⁸ A diagnosis doesn't ensure certainty regarding a child's future gender identity. The rates of dissatisfaction with assigned gender and gender change varies dramatically by syndrome (Meyer-Bahlburg 2005; de Vries et al. 2007).

because they have an explanation" (Dr. 9, pediatric endocrinologist). Providers reported challenges to facilitating parental involvement, particularly in such cases with a high degree of medical uncertainty. Dr. 18, a pediatric endocrinologist said:

In a lot of these patients, particularly the ones with 46 XY karyotypes, we don't ultimately get a diagnosis. I think with those families it's difficult because it's hard to counsel them about what to expect in the future in terms of fertility, gender identity, and all these things because we don't know what they have. I think those are the most challenging cases because I feel bad that I can't even really tell those families what to expect in the future and what to prepare themselves for.

Providers I spoke with also lamented the lack of quality of research evidence on which to guide their clinical recommendations. Many expressed concerns that this uncertainty threatened their therapeutic alliance with parents and they worried that it potentially diminished parents' trust in the team. Dr. 20, a pediatric urologist, said:

It's hard for you to build a relationship with a family—whether they're going to have trust in you when your doctor is walking in saying, "Well, we don't know. This is what we think is going to happen. It's based upon this data, but I've got to be truthful. We don't know." So, we want to present it in that way and we want to allow [parents] to be involved in the decision-making process.

ENGAGING WITH FAMILIES

Building a Relationship, Managing Distress

The MDT plays an important role in building the relationship among the team members and family. The birth of a child with atypical sex anatomy is difficult for parents because they often known little about intersex, are unaware that sex can be undeterminable, and are distressed upon learning that their newborn's sex is not immediately clear (Karkazis 2008). During the neonatal period, the child often does not require immediate medical care, however, teams are

focused on "getting the parents comfortable with the ambiguity for the initial period" (Dr. 3, pediatric urologist). Given a high degree of clinical uncertainty, many doctors I interviewed emphasized the importance for parents to participate in decisions. "We feel very strongly that it's essential to engage parents in the decision making because, you know, you never know what the child's ultimate decision regarding their gender identity will be" (Dr. 16, pediatric urologist). He elaborated further:

It's very humbling because you realize that you're making your best decision—your best recommendations—but at the end of the day, there's always an element of uncertainty as to what the child's own gender identity is going to be. I think for that reason, it's especially crucial to get the parents involved and for them to realize that this is not a decision we can be 100% certain about.

Initial interactions with the family are of particular importance for team doctors, according to my interviews, because parental distress can inhibit parents' receptivity to medical advice as well as their participation in decision-making. Dr. 10, a clinical psychologist, explained (*emphasis mine*), "If I don't have a relationship with them, one where they see me as trustworthy and somebody who is interested in their welfare, the welfare of their family, their child, nothing else, really, is heard in a *productive* way."

For both physicians and families, intersex is associated with limited information and high stress (Karkazis 2008; Siminoff and Sandberg 2015). In my interviews, providers described working to establish a relationship with the family and to convey information in ways that aim to ease parental distress and foster trust in doctors and the team approach. Providers I interviewed frequently described the desperation and distress expressed by many parents after learning about their child's atypical sex anatomy, and many clinicians found it challenging to manage parental distress. Dr. 18, a pediatric endocrinologist said:

A lot of these families have been told prenatally that they're having a boy or a girl, and that's what they're expecting. Then, when the child is born and that's called into question, they're extremely distraught, as expected. I think when we talk to them in that initial period they're just in a state of shock. It's hard oftentimes for them to absorb much information.

Several doctors I interviewed recognized the distress and uncertainty that parents face after receiving a new diagnosis, and noted the potential benefits for families in having access to a MDT. The multiple specialists were viewed as additional sources of both information and support who could begin to address the family's various concerns and questions with team members. Dr. 10, a clinical psychologist said, "I see it as our team's responsibility to assess the family's understanding of their child's birth, what it means, and how they're doing with it." With parents' capacity and desire for information potentially impaired, medical provides sought to reassure parents and facilitate the doctor-patient relationship, which is integral to parents' engagement in decision-making.

Some clinicians I interviewed highlighted the importance of MDTs for involving both parents and other specialists from the start in order to provide information, build relationships, and set expectations. Dr. 18, a pediatric endocrinologist explained:

Well, I think particularly for patients that are newly diagnosed, so like an infant with ambiguous genitalia, I think those families are very distressed. You know, they've just been told, it may be their primary care physicians or somebody in the NICU [neonatal intensive care unit], that somebody's concerned about ambiguous genitalia. And maybe there is a gender assignment, maybe there isn't. There's just a whole lot of issues and concerns. So, for those families particularly, I think it's very beneficial to come in and they meet with, at least, the urologist, an endocrinologist, and a mental health professional all in the same day. I think that helps them a lot because a lot of their questions get answered.

Dr. 7, another pediatric endocrinologist, explained that the role of the MDT was important in terms of providing both information and support.

What we do is, we [the team] meet initially—and discuss, you know, learn about the baby biologically and what was the clinical course and what's happened. All of the available information is discussed, and then we talk about how to synthetize that and present it to the family. Then we either go to the bedside, a smaller core of us...or we invite them to a sit-down conference and let them hear the diagnosis and the available information. We give them a lot of support in terms of not making decisions right away and taking it all in and thinking about it.

Parents' ability to understand and make proxy decisions for their child may be diminished by fear, anxiety, and denial that can accompany this set of complicated and unfamiliar diagnoses (Wisniewski and Sandberg 2015). Intersex care entails complex decisions over time and can involve numerous medical professionals. Moreover, with multiple providers from different specialties involved in developing clinical recommendations, it can be difficult for distressed parents to clearly navigate information (Siminoff and Sandberg 2015).

Although it was clear from clinicians I spoke with that they typically shared the goal of open communication with parents, some clinicians did acknowledge the tension in providing enough information so that parents could make appropriate decisions, while also recognizing that in their role they have the ability to influence that decision. Dr. 17, a pediatric endocrinologist, describes some of these tensions:

One [challenge] is making sure you've conveyed enough information to bring them along, to support them in a way that you're giving them support, information, and backup without giving undue influence to their decision. So, it's a little tricky, I think. When I first started out in medicine...I just lay out all the information and the people just decide. That's going to be easiest. But, these are difficult things, and they have their one child that they're faced with, and they've never had a DSD before...I've had three years of experience and seen hundreds. So, they want more than just a book...They want somebody to say, "Doctor, I came to you for your opinion about what to do. You can tell me all this stuff, but what do you think is best?" It's disingenuous not to at least deal with that a little bit. They don't have the same background.

He went on:

So, if I'm really stuck in the middle, I say, 'I'm stuck in the middle.' Sometimes, I'll say, well, I've been here before many times, and people...They choose different ways. But, my experience in this situation that people chose this way seem to be happier. So, be supportive in a way that you should be really. I think that's the challenge. How much of your own view in a difficult case do you put in? And some people would say zero, but I don't think that.

Providers maintained an advisory role, in which they educate and inform the parents. However, doctors determine when and how this information is given based on their perceptions of whether parents can understand and handle the information. There is a notable tension among doctors who, on the one hand, want to help parents adjust to the situation, and on the other hand, want to avoid overloading them with information. Parents involvement, particularly in the early period, is contingent on the team's perceived receptivity of the family to the clinical information.

Some clinicians also noted that some parents prefer to have less involvement in decisions or prefer to look to doctors for their expertise and input, which could be uncomfortable for providers when the clinical evidence did not offer certain guidance on a recommended course of action. In such cases, their experience may be brought to bear. Notably, several psychologists I interviewed noted the risk of surgeons, in particular, having the ability to frame or influence decisions, such as those about whether to pursue early surgery, in the direction they see as appropriate. Dr. 10, a clinical psychologist said:

If a surgeon comes into to the nursery and the child is born with ambiguous genitalia, examines the child then goes to the parents and sort of says what he saw and points out in what ways the genitalia are atypical all he or she has to do is say that they've seen this before and they can correct this. It's a done deal. Anything that follows is, this is going to sound a little bit crazy to many families; not to all families, because if you can fix it why wouldn't you?

Providers also acknowledged that parents' ability to participate varied often. Clinicians described in their interviews with me an acknowledgement of families' different educational backgrounds, perceived competencies, as well as cultural differences that may influence the extent of their participatory role as well as the decisions they may make. "When the family is uneducated and they don't have the capacity to participate in the decision-making process, I actually feel bad...and a lot of families are that way...you really wonder how much they're getting" (Dr. 20, pediatric urologist). Dr. 16, a pediatric urologist, said:

We deal with parents of many cultures. There is a wide spectrum of reaction. Some parents are not so well educated and very upset about the whole thing, have a hard time handling it, may not be that verbal about it. Others are better educated, they've been on the web, they have a variety of concerns and so forth and may do better. We deal with cultures where there is great value placed on raising a child as male—if all things are equal.

Psychosocial Support

Many providers also reported to me that they offered potential support to help assimilate information in order to help engage parents. This involved engaging with psychosocial support staff, support groups, and sometimes connecting local families. In addition to providing psychological support by way of the behavioral health provider on the team, some providers I spoke with also put families in touch with each other to communicate and share information.

This was emphasized by Dr. 4, a behavioral psychologist:

Based on what I've observed in the families who I work with, I would say if a clinic can offer only one thing...They should make groups of families where they can get together and meet with each other and talk with each other because its inexpensive. It's easy to do. Then the families gain tremendously from it.

Many specialists acknowledged the value of support groups, and even maintained relationships with local or regional groups for their patient and family referrals. Teams offered families information on support groups, as one source of helping parents to cope with the situation. Dr. 16, a pediatric urologist, said:

I think [support groups] serve a very important function. When you're trying to counsel families and help them understand that their child is not the only one out there with this disorder and that there are other kids that have grown up and done pretty well and so forth, these support groups are of great value.

Dr. 21, a pediatric endocrinologist, also found support groups beneficial, particularly as a source of information:

I think [support groups] are a really good place for the families to go initially because generally the information is accurate and appropriate, and it gives them a little bit of community, which can be helpful. It's often they're not going to know anybody else who has the same issue.

The majority of providers I interviewed saw value in support groups, although some expressed uncertainty about the quality of information they provide, and that their value may depend on the needs of the family. Dr. 9, a pediatric endocrinologist, said, "I think one has to assess the strength of the individual family and their coping strategies, and figure it out on a case by case basis." A few clinicians I interviewed also expressed skepticism about the type and quality of information that may be provided to individuals and families. Perhaps in defense of her profession, which has come under strong criticism from advocacy groups after past treatments, Dr. 7, a pediatric endocrinologist, explained:

The problem is that there is not very many support groups around, and some of them are very extreme. I don't know how to handle that...What I'm concerned about is, I want parents to feel comfortable and not be swayed into extremism...Either overly lulled into complacency or overly stimulated into extremism. I want them to have support no matter who they are.

The provision of psychosocial support was not always straightforward, as not all providers agreed on their potential value, and parents may have varying levels of acceptance of mental health support. Some clinicians I spoke with noted that some families may be less receptive or accepting of mental health support. Dr. 10, a clinical psychologist, described "the disadvantage of being a psychologist," which for some families may carry stigma. He elaborated:

Here I am with the role of trying to help the family integrate what's happened, to normalize it, to help them see that others have gone forward, and that with the support they already have in their lives and with the support of our team, they have all that's necessary to move forward. It's sometimes difficult, in my experience, for families to look at the psychological or mental health professional as being the one to do that.

Similarly, pediatric urologist, Dr. 20, reported that families have "different levels of acceptance of mental health providers. A lot of families for various reasons, whether it be cultural or whatever, they're like "Are you kidding me? I'm not going to see a psychologist" ... every family is different."

Overall, while the suggested provision of psychosocial support was understood by most providers as not necessarily appropriate for all parents, they did see value in support based on the evolving needs of the family. In general, supporting the family, whether through members of the MDT or external resources affirmed the importance of parents' coping and understanding of the situation.

Communicating and Sharing Information

Providers I interviewed often recognized the complexities and uncertainties related to what and how to communicate with families. They tailored how they presented recommendations to families in order to maintain the family's confidence in their care. Some

providers struggled with wanting to share responsibility with families without giving the appearance of any incompetence that could threaten their therapeutic alliance. "There's not a clear roadmap. We have discussions, but I think discussions can vary often...it's very tricky. The last thing you want to do is undermine a family's confidence in anyone caring for their child" (Dr. 10, behavioral psychologist).

Widely interpreted as an ideal of health communications, patient-centered care usually involves providing patients with information, engaging them in decision-making, attending to a range of biopsychosocial manifestations of illness and disease, and building a therapeutic alliance (Mead and Bower 2000). The hallmark of medical professionalism is the use of esoteric technical knowledge and information control as a means of preserving medical authority (Waitzkin 1991; Timmermans et al. 2018). Patient-centered communication aims to level the playing field by educating patients with sensitivity about their situation, even though patients' explanatory models are often inconsistent (Kleinman 1988). Clinicians I interviewed believed that the use of particular communication strategies facilitated the doctor-patient relationship by assisting in managing parental concerns and uncertainty. These strategies helped to build confidence and trust in the team's competence.

Clinicians I interviewed described several strategies they employed to educate families with sensitivity about their situation. In using these multiple communication strategies, they attempted to manage parental concerns and share information, reflecting elements of patient-centeredness as well as remaining in control. Providers described trying to help ease parents' understanding and acceptance of the situation by presenting them with information in a compassionate and non-alarming way. During initial consultations and evaluations, clinicians I spoke with emphasized the importance of using gender-neutral language and modeled such

communication while interacting with parents as well as other team members. Dr. 21, a pediatric endocrinologist, described:

I try to be really careful with...the language that I use, and I really try to instruct the team about being careful about the language they use, particularly in terms of gender...I think you have to be very careful about how we refer to the patient or the baby...trying not to use pronouns and use, you know, really gender-neutral terms so that we can then try to figure things out.

The use of gender-neutral language avoids "planting the seed" (Dr. 1, pediatric urologist) about a particular gender assignment while the team conducts a battery of tests and exams. Clinicians also described using extra-medical information to learn about the patient and family, and to facilitate the doctor-family relationship. "You just have to take [families] one at a time. Just find out what their background is and decide what the family can deal with, how to present it to the family. I think ultimately we have the same goal" (Dr. 1, pediatric urologist).

Providers I spoke with often tailored their information and terminology to the perceived needs of the parents, often based upon perceived ability to understand or parents' current emotional status. Dr. 7, a pediatric endocrinologist, described tailoring her communications to ensure parental understanding:

We get to know them better. We get to know their culture, their problems, their concerns, their level of education. Because of lot of what we tell them depends on their level or ability to understand. But we try to focus it and put it in terms that even anybody could understand. I mean, you'd be surprised, just anybody can understand things if you put them in the right terminology. And so, at that point, we might ask them how they're feeling, what kind of ideas do they have about what they want for their child, because they're the best advocates for their child.

Moreover, doctors convey information in ways that ensure their own role as "expert." In order to normalize information that is unfamiliar to many parents, clinicians I interviewed also described educating parents on typical fetal development, often using diagrams to illustrate the

process of human development. Dr. 6, a clinical psychologist, explained how he educated parents soon after meeting with them:

I see it this way; parents have waited nine months...They're waiting for a boy or a girl. So, when they hear that it can't be determined, they're totally like...they're in Finland. They're in the Land of the Midnight Sun. Everything is kind of topsy-turvy. So, I get in as soon as I can and then I start explaining to them about how, using diagrams about the external and internal sexual reproductive system, how that works, so it's not freakish...So, it's not so hard to then, if you show them diagrams, of why you couldn't determine if this should be announced as a boy or as a girl.

Educating parents on fetal development also normalizes information about the baby's body that parents may find distressing. Dr. 21, a pediatric endocrinologist, said, "I try to talk about what's going on...and the genitalia form like the heart forms, sometimes things don't form as they're supported so...there can be malformations." To normalize, or make less "freakish," and attempt to ease parental distress, clinicians described drawing attention to additional developmental characteristics, or what Dr. 7, a pediatric endocrinologist, referred to as "normal baby things:"

What I have found most helpful, and most everybody follows this plan, is we just tell them step by step, because if you just keep them in the dark, if you're in the dark and then they're in the dark, it gives them a very uncomfortable feeling about "Well, what is going on and does the doctor really know what they're doing?" So, if you just take them through in a lay sense, explain it to them in their nonmedical terms, you know, this is where we start from...And here's where we're going to first. You know, we're going to start with these chromosomes. We're going to look at the blueprints that God gave your child, or that are available, and put it in language that they feel comfortable with. Then, we'll get that back in three days. In the meantime, "Don't worry, let's look at all the other healthy aspects of the child." ... Brain good, heart good, everything. And then we focus on normal baby things. Is the baby feeding well? You know, all this. And then we try to bring them up to date on what we know. I've gotten really good at drawing a lot of pictures, because some people are visual learners and some people are auditory learners, and I think a combination of both is good.

Some providers described ways of reassuring parents that their feelings are normal and acceptable, to emphasize that the child's condition is only one aspect of the child, and to emphasize positive aspects of the newborn child. The tactic of focusing on "normal baby things," averts parents' attention to other aspects of the child not associated with their genitals or sexually atypical traits. This helps reassure parents during an uncertain time, especially while waiting for test results.

Because clinicians I spoke with favored waiting until initial testing and information from evaluations was back and reviewed by the team—preferably backstage first, as previously noted—they often described controlling the access and flow of information. Dr. 5, a clinical psychologist, said:

I explain, you know, what questions we have. I assure [families] that before they leave the hospital, we will have a recommendation for them about what sex we feel the baby was intended to be I actually act—in those cases—as the liaison between the family and the medical team...I'll say, "Okay, endocrine ordered these labs." Obviously, we'll get a karyotype too. You know, "These labs aren't back yet, or this is what we're looking for" without kind of leading them one direction or another.

Clinicians described giving information about the tests and what they were evaluating. Another clinical psychologist, Dr. 6, further described:

We tell them, "We're not going to give you any test data until we get it all together." Because what we want to try to do, while that is anxiety provoking at some level, it keeps them from going on this roller coaster. You get one piece of information, "Oh, it's a boy." You get another piece of information that contradicts that, you know?

This was done to both minimize parental distress and also build trust in the team towards developing a unified approach. Moreover, as these quotes demonstrate, the psychologist, in their

role as the liaison, often worked to limit this information while simultaneously trying to manage parental distress.

While waiting until a fuller picture was available after testing results were returned was most common, there was some variation regarding the optimal timing of information provision. Some providers reported early discussion of potential diagnoses and "bringing families along" as pieces of medical information came together. Like Dr. 17, a pediatric endocrinologist, some providers preferred to provide information in a more piecemeal fashion. He explained, "Generally, we try nowadays to be upfront and as pieces [of test results] come back, we tell them, and we tell them what we're thinking, and keep them on track... We try to bring them right along with us in terms of our thought processes." He went on, "If you spend time with the explanations, the circumstance, and give the reason for it, it's actually better for everybody." While some clinicians I interviewed described offering complex information to parents involving chromosomes, hormones, genitals, and gonads, others gave minimum information. Dr. 3, a pediatric urologist, said:

I try to leave it as generic as possible. I don't put all the diagnoses on the table. I don't name of a lot of things, and speak in very broad terms...I try to put it in—how do I say this—very ambiguous terms, very general descriptive terms. If you give them a wave of specific possible diagnoses, they'll go on the Internet, see all the wrong things, and get attached to a specific diagnosis.

Many providers I spoke with acknowledged the complexity and sheer amount of information that parents are often faced with, and valued the MDT for the opportunity to convey information in varying ways multiple times. Pediatric urologist, Dr. 20, said:

You only have a certain amount of time where the family understands what you're saying. I can go ahead and talk to them for half an hour and they may not hear anything more than the first give minutes, especially if I tell them something that is not what they want to hear. Even though there's things that I think I might have emphasized, they'll come back and it's clear they didn't hear what I was saying. So, the opportunity to repeat certain things and whether it comes from one specialist or another, and then at the end of the visit to put it all together and say, "Okay, this is what we're really thinking. This is what we need to do and these are the reasons why."

Through the team, and to help reiterate information and attend to parents' concerns, providers attempted to provide information that was slow, comprehensive, and typically repeated—"[I]t's educating parents over time and repeatedly" (Dr. 6, clinical psychologist)—as initial attempts at providing information may not be absorbed or remembered by parents who are coming to terms with the situation. The provision of information, across multiple interactions and multiple specialists, using both verbal and visual translations, helped to ensure that parents' emotions were addressed prior to making any decisions and also allowed providers to translate and tailor the information they provided to parents. This relational form of support—helping to translate, support, and reassure parents in the process—was recognized by providers as key to helping parents assimilate information and engage them in decisions. As in other contexts (Farnworth et al. 2008; Rapley 2008; Watson et al. 2008; Murtagh et al. 2012), parental involvement was a process and not an event.

CONCLUSION

The care for children born with intersex traits and their families presents particular challenges for providers. Patient centeredness is increasingly recognized as a prerequisite for quality health care (Zill et al. 2015), and the clinicians I interviewed described engaging in numerous efforts to provide patient-centered care, particularly through the coordination of MDTs

and engagement with families. Current guidelines recommend MDTs and psychosocial and peer support as best practices (Lee et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2016). As with all treatment guidelines, however, there is no enforcement, and therefore no way to know the extent to which they are actually implemented. Further, in the case of intersex, the evidence upon which current recommendations are based is incomplete, and clinicians will adapt and supplement their practices based on their own views and experiences. Standardization, while appealing, is a contested solution to manage uncertain knowledge (Timmermans and Angell 2001).

Based on my research, it was clear that providers are more sensitive to the critiques raised by activists and have acknowledged changes in care since the published Consensus Statement. Most clinicians in my study distanced themselves from the paternalistic protocols associated with John Money in the 1950s, which emphasized early "normalizing" interventions. Compared to previous practices, most health care providers attempted to achieve patient-centeredness through their interprofessional practices as well as their doctor-parent communications. However, practices were not always straightforward and clinicians did encounter challenges both as part of MDTs and in working with parents, particularly in an area of uncertain medicine. Team-based coordination may be subject to institutional factors and limited resources, as well as the practices of individual physicians, their perceived roles, and interprofessional dynamics. The MDT provides an additional element of clinical support—and perhaps protection—for an uncertain area of medicine.

Based on my interviews, clinicians were attendant to *parent*-centered care and focused on sharing information and promoting their engagement in decisions. Patient centeredness depends then on *how* clinicians convey information to parents, and this chapter contributes to research demonstrating that communications during clinical encounters matters greatly (e.g.,

Timmermans et al. 2018). While doctors aim to engage families in their care, they faced additional challenges in working with different families, who may have different values and preferences. Clinicians I interviewed described several strategies through which they engaged families and attempted to convey information and promote their participation.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

Intersex has been predominately framed as a medical issue, and until recently, clinical management of intersex has been firmly under the purview of biomedicine. However, over the last few decades, multiple actors, including clinicians, researchers, activists, intersex adults, and parents of intersex children, have engaged in debates over what intersex is and how—or whether—it should be medically treated at all. Although physiologically, intersex traits may manifest in diverse ways, intersex as a personal condition requiring intervention is not "natural" but a social construction (Holmes 2002; Karkazis 2008). In this dissertation, I demonstrated how these contestations about intersex are debates over who has the authority to classify and treat particular bodies and more broadly, the ways in which such debates raise questions about credibility afforded to embodied experiences.

With technological developments and advances in medical knowledge, intersex is increasingly examined and understood at a molecular level, which has led to more precise diagnostic categories and identification of more cases of intersex at birth. While some intersex actors and activists are directly opposed to medicalization, others seek collaboration with medical professionals, and are gaining a seat at the proverbial table with the aim of changing medical care. As a consequence of these medical innovations and increasing pressures from intersex activists and organizations, a group of international experts convened in Chicago in 2005 to evaluate clinical protocols and available medical evidence. Participants at this meeting developed new clinical recommendations, which were subsequently published in 2006 (Lee et al.

2006). In addition to new standards of care, the Statement also endorsed the new clinical terminology of "disorders of sex development" (DSD).

In this dissertation, I analyzed intersex medical management and DSD as a controversial diagnostic classification, which resulted of both technological developments and mobilization of new social groups who publicly challenged medical authority and treatment practices based on their own—often negative and traumatic—experiences. According to medical discourse, the DSD classification emphasizes genetic etiology, increases standardization and precision, and reduces confusion (Lee et al. 2006; Vilain et al. 2007). Outside medicine, however, lay challengers argue that DSD was an effort to reassert medical authority in light of the growing collective efforts of activists (Davis 2015). My research heeded calls in the sociology of diagnosis (e.g., Jutel 2011), to investigate how and why particular conditions are framed as they are. That is, I examined the social framing of intersex traits, and analyzed the layers of negotiation, compromise, and interests that shape notions of diagnosis, disease, and illness. Amidst a backdrop of evidence-based medicine, technological advances (e.g., genetics), and health social movements, my research demonstrates how understandings of and responses to intersex have changed since the Consensus Statement and as a result of DSD.

To conclude this dissertation, I review key findings from my research, and discuss their implications in light of their contributions to existing literature. Based on my research, as well as my own personal and professional interests, I also consider, briefly, some policy implications towards a larger goal of improving the well-being of intersex individuals and their families.

SITUATING KEY FINDINGS

In chapter two, I provided a historical analysis of the medical management of intersex. Using the innovative tools of situational analysis, particularly analytic mapping techniques, I traced this complicated and diverse history, highlighting the ways in which intersex has been understood and responded to over time. Understandings and responses to intersex bodies have changed a great deal since the nineteenth century as a result of factors both within and outside of medicine. In tracing this trajectory, I elucidated key elements of the situation, particularly the technologies, concepts, and conditions most consequential for contemporary practices, classifications, and clinical recommendations, particularly those outlined in the landmark 2006 Consensus Statement (Lee et al. 2006).

My analysis demonstrated the parallel rise of intersex medicalization and rise of scientific medicine. Ultimately, the consolidation of John Money's paradigm for treating intersex conditions was a consequence of multiple elements, including technologies, medical disciplines and its key actors, as well as professional and institutional dynamics. Over time, subsequent conditions within and outside of biomedicine, particularly intersex activism, contributed to changes in care, as represented by the Consensus Statement and the DSD model it endorsed.

Diverse actors and communities of practice have variously engaged in collaborative efforts to classify, (re)define, and standardize intersex health care. The trajectory of intersex medical management demonstrates the ways in which clinicians have attempted to stabilize uncertainties that have plagued this area of medicine. In turn, however, rather than resolving uncertainties, efforts at standardization and its related process of classification, have contributed to new sources of uncertainty. Moreover, as the contemporary terrain of DSD and current treatment practices have expanded, so too have the various interests and actors involved. While

the elements of the debates have changed, what intersex is and how—or even if—it should be medically treated remains unresolved.

These findings contribute to the sociology of diagnosis and the (bio)medicalization literatures. In particular, this work demonstrates how diagnoses are "social." That is, diagnoses are made on the basis of available technology and current values, and are deeply connected to political, cultural, and/or social factors. The work of classifying atypically sexed bodies and making sex determinations are social framing devices. In this case, such classifications and determinations perform the work of making it appear that medicine defines the natural (or the natural body), yet hide the fact they are socially negotiated processes (Bowker and Star 1999; Jutel 2011). My research further extends a social diagnosis framework in showing the actors and elements that both *contribute to and resist* pathological framing of a condition.

Similarly, my analysis also provides evidence of the multiple actors involved in diagnosis, and the ways in which the actions of various groups affect the work of others (Brown et al. 2011). Further, although the definitions and tools afforded by scientific medicine enabled intersex medicalization, the transformation in the late twentieth century to the DSD model are indicative of biomedicalization (Clarke et al. 2003). This is demonstrated in the shifts to evidence-based medicine, patient rights and health social movements, and increasing emphasis on technoscientific practices, such as genetic diagnoses.

In chapter three, I examined key tensions and tactics of the intersex movement. Early intersex activism was aimed at antimedicalization, that is, in opposition to the medical model. However, as I illustrated, over time, the movement has evolved and is now comprised of actors and organizations with differing orientations to medicalization. That is, some actors and groups

dvocate for medical reform—arguably, *different* medicalization—while others continue to focus efforts that are targeted at demedicalization.

Moreover, DSD remains a particular point of "intrasex" debates (Greenberg 2005), and my analysis demonstrated activists' various positions pertaining to the updated terminology. Specifically, I illustrated how activists have partially accepted or rejected DSD and its implications for the strategies they employ in their collective efforts. Many intersex activists and organizations have strategically endorsed DSD in order to facilitate collaborative relationships with medical professionals and some parents.

Although intersex activism is characterized by overlapping organizational memberships and strategies, intersex activists are employing embodiment in their efforts to achieve both medical and social change. By making their experiences publicly visible, some activists have sought to promote a more positive definition and less pathologizing view of intersex and to facilitate greater tolerance for diverse embodiments. Others focus their efforts to improve the quality of care and clinical interactions. Further still, given the slow pace of medical change, activists have expanded their tactical repertoire and are exploring legal and human rights advocacy to pressure for medical change.

My analysis of activist debates over DSD suggest a form of embodied health movement (EHM) not typically addressed in the health social movement (HSM) literature (see also Burke 2011). Existing research on illness contestation are largely based on the conceptualization of contested illnesses as illnesses "that are either unexplained by current medical knowledge or have purported environmental explanations that are often disputed" (Brown et al. 2004: 52). This includes work on the HSMs of the environmental breast cancer movement and collective efforts around illnesses such as chronic fatigue syndrome, fibromyalgia, and multiple chemical

sensitivity (Barker 2002; Brown et al. 2004; Murphy 2006; Klawiter 2008). These HSMs on contested illnesses focus on gaining recognition from medical professionals and scientific institutions in order to legitimate individuals' experiences of illness and to gain access to treatment, research funding, and other resources.

Debates over DSD, however, are contests over medical reform or demedicalization. Some actors accept and/or engage with DSD in order to collaborate with medicine or even access resources for their own care. Moreover, the relationship between medicine and the intersex movement is complicated in that DSD further suggests intra-movement debates over how to pursue the movement's broader goals of demedicalization. Thus, there is a tension between resistance to and reliance on medical discourse and practice (Burke 2011).

Scholarship on EHMs and contested illness emphasizes the positive potential of medicalization, in that efforts are focused on engaging or achieving medicalization in order to improve patient experiences or gain resources. However, research has illustrated the negative effects of medicalization, with critiques emphasizing the consequences of stigma and social control. In particular, these critiques are demonstrated in research on the medicalization of gender variance and intersex. Scholars have argued that diagnoses such as inversion, homosexuality, and hermaphroditism represent attempts to control individuals whose bodies or behaviors threaten gender and sexual norms as well as the sex/gender system itself (Hausman 1995; Dreger 1998b; Fausto-Sterling 2000; Meyerowitz 2002; Preves 2003; Matta 2005; Reis 2009). As my research shows, intersex activism and DSD is a case of activism in which actors seek diagnosis for its positive potential, for example, to communicate and collaborate with medical professionals, while at the same time also challenging DSD and intersex medicalization more broadly to avoid the negative effects of pathologization.

In chapter four, I examined some of the ways in which the new standards of care play out in practice, according to medical professionals who provide multidisciplinary team-based care. My analysis illustrated that multidisciplinary teams are one means through which medical professionals are engaging with patient-centered care in an effort to improve care and engage patients and families.

I found that professionals were sensitive to and reflected on the ways in which activism has impacted care as well as the ways in which their own practices have changed, particularly since the Consensus Statement. Most clinicians distanced themselves from the paternalism that so strongly characterized Money's traditional treatment paradigm. In line with broader trends in professional medicine towards patient-centered care and shared decision making (e.g., Charles et al. 1997, 1999; Mead and Bower 2000), I found that medical professionals engaged in interprofessional practices and communication strategies towards achieving these clinical aims.

In this chapter, I also demonstrated that medical professionals encountered challenges both in their work negotiating and coordinating teamwork as well as in their interactions with parents. Institutional factors and resources, and the practices of individual team members, their perceived professional roles, and team dynamics influence team coordination. Moreover, clinicians also navigated several challenges in engaging parents and sustaining the therapeutic alliance.

The multidisciplinary structure of the team, as recommended by the Consensus Statement (Lee et al. 2006), reflects a common belief that multidisciplinary teams can offer better health care for patients and families. According to medical professionals, their team-based practices have been influenced not only by activist challenges, but also by a broader trend in healthcare that promotes patient-centered care and patient participation in decision-making. This trend too,

is not only encapsulated in the Consensus Statement, but also reflected in the ways in the medical professionals attempted to manage parental distress and to formally engage parents in communication and build a relationship.

Research suggests that since the Consensus Statement publication, there has not been a notable reduction in the number of genital surgeries on children with intersex conditions (Pasterski et al. 2010). In fact, work suggests the number of procedures may have actually increased (Creighton et al. 2014; Greenfield 2014). In light of this, my research lends evidence to the idea that patient-centeredness shapes "the conversation and not the outcome" (Timmermans et al. 2018: 532). Physicians, and now more so the team, maintain the role of expert in the clinical arena, but through patient centeredness, what has changed is *how* clinicians engage patients and families and the process of how decisions are made.

LIMITATIONS

This dissertation focused on intersex medical management in the U.S. context. All of the clinicians I interviewed were practicing in the U.S., and all activists and advocacy organizations were based in the U.S. Given differences in national health care systems, these findings may not be generalizable outside of the U.S. Future research should consider different national health care contexts to examine the ways in which practices may be comparable. Similarly, international activists and organizations can also be important data sources to examine, particularly given human rights advocacy and international legal developments.

My interviews with clinicians are evidence of what providers say they do in practice, and may not reflect their actual practices. Future research should consider observational methods to study the day-to-day practices of multidisciplinary teamwork processes. Similarly, as my work

emphasized clinicians' experiences and descriptions of their interactions with patients and families, additional work can also look to triangulate this with data from parents to further understand the ways in which they perceive interactions with their physicians and shared decision-making.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

I am personally and professionally invested in improving the well-being of individuals with intersex traits, including ending harmful medical practices and ending stigma and shame associated with intersex. Like other intersex researchers (e.g., Davis 2015), my own research has led me to consider contributions for policy and social movement efforts. I discuss two such implications here.

First and foremost, medically unnecessary interventions, particularly surgeries, should not be pursued unless with the expressed consent of the intersex individual (and not parent by proxy, unless the situation is life-threatening). In 2020, two top pediatric academic hospitals in the U.S. publicly acknowledged the painful history of intersex medicalization and stated that, unless medically necessary, procedures such as clitoroplasty and vaginoplasty would not be performed until patients can participate meaningfully in the decision (Ann and Robert H. Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago 2020; Luthra 2020). Although the 2006 Consensus Statement and subsequent global update have expressed a more cautious approach to surgeries, research suggests that the practices continue, and may have increased (Pasterksi et al. 2010; Creighton et al. 2014; Greenfield 2014). Though not explicitly explored in analyses presented in this dissertation, my own interviews with clinicians also suggest that surgical practices continue. There are no national statistics or databases tracking intersex surgeries, but scholars have

extensively documented the harms caused by these procedures, and the narratives of activists express similar sentiments (e.g., Dreger 1999; Chase 2003; Preves 2003; Karkazis 2008; Feder 2015).

Second, medical professionals should strive to engage in more productive collaboration with activists, intersex individuals, and their families. By this I mean truly sitting down "at the table" and listening to their concerns, their experiences, and their requests. I have no doubt that medical professionals want to help patients and families and do believe they are providing the most appropriate form of care. However, my research demonstrates that medical professionals continue to harbor skepticism pertaining to the value of lay, experiential knowledge. For example, medical professionals expressed concerns related to the value and involvement of social support groups. Further, my interviews with activists show that they make particular compromises in order to engage with medicine, but on medicine's terms. Medical professionals should take seriously the concerns of activists, patients, and families, with the shared goal of improving overall well-being for intersex patients and families. This includes collaborating not only through clinical interactions and decision-making, but also developing research directions and conducting studies, developing guidelines, and overall contributing to a broader conversation about how society understands and treats non-normative bodies.

REFERENCES

- Aaronson, Ian A. and Alistair J. Aaronson 2010. "How Should We Classify Intersex Disorders? *Journal of Pediatric Urology* 6(5): 443-446.
- Accord Alliance. n.d. "Our Mission." Retrieved on April 14, 2014

 (http://www.accordalliance.org/about-accord-alliance/our-mission/).
- Accord Alliance. 2013. "Disorders of Sex Development." Retrieved on April 14, 2014 (http://www.accordalliance.org/glossary/disorders-of-sex-development/).
- Ahmed, S. Faisal, John C. Achermann, Wiebke Arlt, Adam Balen, Gerry Conway, Zoe Edwards, Sue Elford, Ieuan A. Hughes, Louise Izatt, Nils Krone, Harriet Miles, Stuart O'Toole, Les Perry, Caroline Sanders, Margaret Simmonds, Andrew Watt, and Debbie Willis.

 2016. "Society for Endocrinology UK Guidance on the Initial Evaluation of an Infant or an Adolescent with a Suspected Disorder of Sex Development (Revied 2015)." *Clinical Endocrinology* 84(5): 771-788.
- AIS Support Group. 2018. "History." Retrieved July 15, 2018 (http://www.aissg.org/12 HISTORY.htm#Consensus).
- American Academy of Pediatrics. 2000. "Evaluation of the. Newborn with Developmental Anomalies of the External Genitalia." *Pediatrics* 106: 138-142.
- Angier, Natalie. 1996. "Intersexual Healing: An Anomaly Finds a Group." *New York Times*, February 4, pp. E14.
- Angier, Natalie. 1997a. "New Debate Over Surgery on Genitals." *New York Times*, May 13, pp. C1, C6.

- Angier, Natalie. 1997b. "Sexual Identity Not Pliable After All, Report Says" *New York Times*, March 14, pp. A1, A18.
- Ann and Robert H. Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago. 2020. "Intersex Care at Lurie Children's and our Sex Development Clinic." Retrieved May 11, 2012

 (https://www.luriechildrens.org/en/blog/intersex-care-at-lurie-childrens-and-our-sex-development-clinic/).
- Arboleda, Valerie A., David E. Sandberg, Eric Vilain. 2011. "DSDs: Genetics, Underlying Pathologies and Psychosexual Differentiation." *Nature Reviews Endocrinology* 10(10): 603-615.
- Archibald, Matthew, E. and Charity Crabtree. 2010. "Health Social Movements in the United States: An Overview." *Sociology Compass* 4/5: 334-343.
- Armstrong, David. 1983. *Political Anatomy of the Body: Medical Knowledge in Britain in the Twentieth Century*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Armstrong, David. 1995. "The Rise of Surveillance Medicine." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 17(3): 393-404.
- Astraea Lesbian Foundation for Justice. 2016. "We are Real: The Growing Movement Advancing the Human Rights of Intersex People." Retrieved March 30, 2021 (http://astraeafoundation.org/wearereal/).
- Barash, David P. 1977. Sociobiology and Behavior. New York: Elsevier North-Holland.
- Barker, Kristin. 2002. "Self-help Literature and the Making of an Illness Identity: The Case of Fibromyalgia Syndrome (FMS)." *Social Problems* 49(3): 279-300.
- Bauer, Markus, Daniela Truffer, and Daniela Crocetti. 2020. "Intersex Human Rights." *The International Journal of Human Rights* 24(6): 724-749.

- Bayer, Ronald. 1981. *Homosexuality and American Psychiatry: The Politics of Diagnosis*.

 Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Becker, Howard S. 1982. Art Worlds. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Becker, Howard S. 1986. *Doing Things Together: Selected Papers*. Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press.
- Beh, Hazel G. and Milton Diamond. 2000. "An Emerging Ethical and Medical Dilemma: Should Physicians Perform Sex Assignment Surgery on Infants with Ambiguous Genitalia?

 Michigan Journal of Gender and Law 7:1-65.
- Berg, Bruce L. 2009. *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences*, 7th ed. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Berg, Marc. 1997. Rationalizing Medical Work: Decision-Support Techniques and Medical Practices. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Blacker, George F. and Thomas W.P. Lawrence. 1896. "A Case of True Unilateral

 Hermaphroditism with Ovotestis Occurring in Man, with a Summary and Critcism of the

 Recorded Cases of True Hermaphroditism." *Transactions of the Obstetrical Society of London* 38: 265-317.
- Blackless, Melanie, Anthony Charuvastra, Amanda Derryck Castel, Anne Fausto-Sterling, Karel Lauzanne, and Ellen Lee. 2000. "How Sexually Dimorphic Are We? Review and Synthesis." *American Journal of Human Biology* 12(2): 151-166.
- Bleyer, Leo F. 1948. "Pseudohermaphroditism: Report of Two Cases in the Same Family." *American Journal of Surgery* 76(4): 448-452.
- Blumer, Herbert. *Symbolic Interactionism: Perspective and Method.* Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

- Bonner, Thomas N. 1995. *Becoming a Physician: Medical education in Britain, France, Germany, and the United States, 1750-1945.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bowker and Star. 1999. Sorting Things Out: Classification and its Consequences. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Broom, Dorothy and Roslyn Woodward. 1996. "Medicalization Reconsidered: Toward a Collaborative Approach to Care." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 18(3): 357-378.
- Brown, Phil. 1990. "The Name Game: Toward a Sociology of Diagnosis." *The Journal of Mind Behavior* 11(3-4): 385-406.
- Brown, Phil. 1995. "Naming and Framing: The Social Construction of Diagnosis and Illness." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 35: 34-52.
- Brown, Phil, Mercedes Lyson, Tania M. Jenkins. 2011. "From Diagnosis to Social Diagnosis. Social Science and Medicine 73(6) 939-943.
- Brown, Phil, Rachel Morello-Frosch, Stephen Zavestoski, Laura Senier, Rebecca Gasior Altman, Elizabeth Hoover, Sabrina McCormick, Brian Mayer, and Crystal Adams. 2010. "Health Social Movements: Advancing Traditional Medical Sociology Concepts." Pp. 117-137 in Handbook of the Sociology of Health, Illness, and Healing: A Blueprint for the 21st Century, edited by B.A. Pescosolido., J.K. Martin, J.D. McLeod, and A. Rogers. New York: Springer.
- Brown, Phil, Stephen Zavestoski, Sabrina McCormick, Brian Mayer, Rachel Morello-Frosch, and Rebecca Gasior Altman. 2004. "Embodied Health Movements: New Approaches to Social Movements in Health." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 26(1): 50-80.
- Burke, Mary C. "Resisting Pathology: GID and the Contested Terrain of Diagnosis in the Transgender Rights Movement." *Advances in Medical Sociology* 12: 183-210.

- Buss, David M. 1989. "Toward an Evolutionary Psychology of Human Mating." *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 12(1): 39-49.
- Bynum, William F. 1994. *Science and the Practice of Medicine into the Nineteenth Century*.

 New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Cabrera, Cristian González. 2018. "The Role of International Human Rights Law in Mediating Between the Rights of Parents and their Children Born with Intersex Traits in the United States." William & Mary Journal of Women and the Law 24(3): 459-512.
- Canguilhem, Georges. 1991. On the Normal and the Pathological. New York: Zone Books.
- Canty, Timothy G. 1977. "The Child with Ambiguous Genitalia: A Neonatal Surgical Emergency." *Annals of Surgery* 186(3): 272-279.
- Carpenter, Morgan. 2016. "The Human Rights of Intersex: Addressing Harmful Practices and Rhetoric of Change." *Reproductive Health Matters* 24(47): 74-84.
- Casper, Monica J. and Marc Berg. 1995. "Constructivist Perspectives on Medical Work: Medical Practices and Science and Technology Studies." *Science, Technology, and Human Values* 20(4): 395-407.
- Charles, Cathy, Amiram Gafni, Tim Whelan. 1997. "Shared Decision-Making in the Medical Encounter: What Does it Mean? (Or it Takes at least Two to Tango)." *Social Science and Medicine* 44(5): 681-692.
- Charles, Cathy, Amiram Gafni, Tim Whelan. 1999. "Decision-Making in the Physician-Patient Encounter: Revisiting the Shared Treatment Decision-Making Model." *Social Science and Medicine* 49(5): 651-661.
- Chase, Cheryl. 1998. "Hermaphrodites with Attitude: Mapping the Emergence of Intersex Political Activism." *GLQ: A Journal of Lesbian and Gay Studies* 4(2): 189-211.

- Chase, Cheryl. 1999. "Surgical Progress is Not the Answer." Pp. 147-159 in *Intersex and the Age of Ethics*, edited by A.D. Dreger. Hagerstown, MD: University Publishing Group.
- Chase, Cheryl. 2003. "What is the Agenda of the Intersex Patient Advocacy Movement?" *The Endocrinologist* 13(3): 240-242.
- Chase, Cheryl. 2006. "Disorders of Sex Development Similar to More Familiar Disorders." Retrieved April 1, 2021 (https://adc.bmj.com/content/91/7/554.responses).
- Clark, Jack A., Deborah A. Potter, and John B. McKinlay. 1991. "Bringing Social Structure Back into Clinical Decision Making." *Social Science and Medicine* 32(8): 853-866.
- Clarke, Adele E. 2005. Situational Analysis: Grounded Theory After the Postmodern Turn.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Clarke, Adele E. 2009. "From Grounded Theory to Situational Analysis: What's New? Why? How?" Pp. 194-234 in *Developing Grounded Theory: The Second Generation*, edited by J.M. Morse, P.N. Stern, J. Corbin, B. Bowers, K. Charmaz, and A.E. Clarke. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.
- Clarke, Adele E. and Monica J. Casper. 1998. "From Simple Technology to Complex Arena:

 Classification of Pap Smears, 1917-1990." *Medical Anthropology Quarterly* 10(4): 601-623.
- Clarke, Adele E. and Joan Fujimura. 1992. "Introduction: What Tools? Which Jobs? Why Right?" Pp. 3-44 in *The Right Tools for the Job: At Work in Twentieth Century Life Sciences*, edited by A.E. Clarke and J. Fujimura. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

- Clarke, Adele E., Laura Mamo, Jennifer Fishman, Janet Shim, Jennifer Fosket. 2003.

 "Biomedicalization: Technoscientific Transformations of Health, Illness, and U.S.

 Biomedicine." *American Sociological Review* 68: 161-194.
- Clarke, Adele E. and Susan Leigh Star. 2008. "The Social Worlds Framework: A

 Theory/Methods Package." Pp. 113-137 in *Handbook of Science and Technology Studies*,
 edited by M. Lynch, O. Amsterdamska, and E Hackett. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Cohen, Jean L. 1985. "Strategy or Identity: New Theoretical Paradigms and Contemporary Social Movements." *Social Research* 52(4): 663-716.
- Colapinto. John. 1997. "The True Story of John/Joan." Rolling Stone, December 11, pp. 54-97.
- Colapinto. John. 2000. *As Nature Made Him: The Boy Who Was Raised as a Girl.* New York: Harper Collins.
- Colapinto 2004. "What Were the Real Reasons Behind David Reimer's Suicide?" *Slate*, June 3. Retrieved September 1, 2013 (https://slate.com/technology/2004/06/why-did-david-reimer-commit-suicide.html).
- Collaer, Marcia L. and Melissa Hines. 1995. "Human Behavioral Sex Differences: A Role for Gonadal Hormones During Early Development." *Psychological Bulletin* 118(1): 55-107.
- Conrad, Peter. 1975. "The Discovery of Hyperkinesis: Notes on the Medicalization of Deviant Behavior." *Social Problems* 23(1): 12-21.
- Conrad, Peter. 1992. "Medicalization and Social Control" *Annual Review of Sociology* 18: 209-232.
- Conrad, Peter. 2007. *The Medicalization of Society: On the Transformation of Human Conditions into Treatable Disorders*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.

- Conrad, Peter and Kristin Barker. 2010. "The Social Construction of Illness: Key Insights and Policy Implications." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 51: S50-S79.
- Conrad, Peter and Valerie Leiter 2004. "Medicalization, Markets, and Consumers." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 45: 158-176.
- Conrad, Peter and Joseph W. Schneider 1980. *Deviance and Medicalization: From Badness to Sickness*. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.
- Conrad, Peter and Joseph W. Schneider 1992. *Deviance and Medicalization: From Badness to Sickness*. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.
- Conrad, Peter and Cheryl Stults. 2008. "Contestation and Medicalization." Pp. 323-336 in *Contesting Illness: Process and Practices*, edited by P. Moss and K. Teghtsoonian. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Consortium on the Management of Disorders of Sex Development. 2006a. "Clinical Guidelines for the Management of Disorders of Sex Development in Childhood." Retrieved on October 20, 2014 (https://dsdguidelines.org/files/clinical.pdf).
- Consortium on the Management of Disorders of Sex Development. 2006b. "Handbook for Parents." Retrieved on October 20, 2014 (https://dsdguidelines.org/files/parents.pdf).
- Crawford, Jennifer M., Garry Warne, Sonia Grover, Bridget R. Southwell, and John M. Hutson.

 2009. "Results from a Pediatric Surgical Centre Justify Early Intervention in Disorders of Sex Development." *Journal of Pediatric Surgery* 44(2): 413-416.
- Creighton, Sarah, M., Lina Michala, Imran Mushtaq, and Michal Yaron. 2014. "Childhood Surgery for Ambiguous Genitalia: Glimpses of Practice Changes or More of the Same?" *Psychology and Sexuality* 5: 34-43.

- Creighton, Sarah and Catherine Minto 2001. "Managing Intersex: Most Vaginal Surgery in Childhood Should be Deferred." *BMJ* 323: 1264-1265.
- Creighton, Sarah, Catherine Minto, Lih-Mei Liao, Julie Alderson, Margaret Simmonds. 2004. "Meeting Between Experts: Evaluation of the First UK Forum for Lay and Professional Experts in Intersex." *Patient Education and Counseling* 54(2): 153-157.
- Crocetti, Daniela, Elia A.G. Arini, Surya Monro, and Tray Yeadon-Lee. 2020. "'You're

 Basically Calling Doctors Torturers': Stakeholder Framing Issues Around Naming

 Intersex Rights Claims as Human Rights Abuses." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 42(4): 943-958.
- Crossley, Nick. 2002. "Repertoires of Contention and Tactical Diversity in the UK Psychiatric Survivors Movement: The Question of Appropriation." *Social Movement Studies* 1(1): 47-71.
- Daston, Lorraine. 1992. "The Naturalized Female Intellect." Science in Context 5(2): 209-235.
- Daston, Lorraine and Katherine Park. 1995. "The Hermaphrodite and the Orders of Nature:

 Sexual Ambiguity in Early Modern France." *GLQ: A Journal of Lesbian and Gay Studies*1(4): 419-438.
- Davatzikos, Christos and Susan M. Resnick. 1998. "Sex Differences in Anatomic Measures of Interhemispheric Connectivity: Correlations with Cognition in Women but not in Men." *Cerebral Cortex* 8(7): 635-640.
- Davis, Georgiann. 2015. *Contesting Intersex: The Dubious Diagnosis*. New York: New York University Press.
- Davis, Ruth G. 2000. "What I Meant to be a Man?" Cosmopolitan, April, pp. 200-203.

- Devore, Howard. 1999. "Growing up in the Surgical Maelstrom." Pp. 79-81 in *Intersex in the Age of Ethics*, edited by A.D. Dreger. Hagerstown, MD: University Publishing Group.
- De Fazio, Gianluca. 2012. "Legal Opportunity Structure and Social Movement Strategy in Northern Ireland and Southern United States." *International Journal of Comparative Sociology* 53(1): 540-562.
- de Vries, Annelou, Theo A. Doreleijers, Peggy T. Cohen-Kettenis. 2007. "Disorders of Sex Development and Gender Identity Outcome in Adolescence and Adulthood:

 Understanding Gender Identity Development and its Clinical Implications." *Pediatric Endocrinology Reviews* 4(4): 343-351.
- Diamond, Milton and Hazel G. Beh. 2006. "Variations of Sex Development Instead of Disorders of Sex Development." *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, July 27. Retrieved April 1, 2012 (https://adc.bmj.com/content/91/7/554.responses).
- Diamond, Milton and Keith Sigmundson. 1997. "Sex Reassignment at Birth: Long-term Review and Clinical Implications." *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 151(3): 298-304.
- Dicker, Rory. 2008. A History of U.S. Feminisms. Berkeley, CA: Seal Press.
- Dreger, Alice D. 1998a. "Ambiguous Sex"—or Ambivalent Medicine? Ethical Issues in the.

 Medical Treatment of Intersexuality." *Hastings Center Report* 28: 24-35.
- Dreger, Alice D. 1998b. *Hermaphrodites and the Medical Invention of Sex*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Dreger, Alice D., ed. 1999. *Intersex and the Age of Ethics*. Hagerstown, MD: University Publishing Group.

- Dreger, Alice. 2015. "Malta Bans Surgery on Intersex Children." *The Stranger*, April 3.

 Retrieved August 18, 2018

 (https://www.thestranger.com/blogs/slog/2015/04/03/22001053/malta-bans-surgery-on-intersex-children).
- Dreger, Alice. 2018. "Twenty Years of Working Towards Intersex Rights." Pp. 55-73 in *Bioethics in Action*, edited by F. Baylis and A. Dreger. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dreger, Alice D. Cheryl Chase, Aron Sousa, Philip A. Gruppuso, and Joel Frader. 2005. "Changing the Nomenclature/taxonomy for Intersex: A Scientific and Clinical Rationale." *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism* 18(8): 729-733.
- Dreger, Alice D. and April M. Herndon. 2007. "Progress and Politics in the Intersex Rights

 Movement: Feminist Theory in Action." *GLQ: A Journal of Lesbian and Gay Studies*15(2): 199-224.
- Dumit. Joseph. 2006. "Illnesses You Have to Fight to Get: Facts as Forces in Uncertain, Emergent Illnesses." *Social Science and Medicine* 62(3): 577-590.
- Eisenberg, John M. 1979. Sociologic Influences on Decision-Making by Clinicians. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 90(6): 957-964.
- Elders, M. Joycelyn, David Satcher, and Richard Carmona. 2017. "Re-thinking Genital Surgeries on Intersex Infants." Retrieved August 3, 2017 (https://www.palmcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Re-Thinking-Genital-Surgeries-1.pdf).
- Engel, Stephen M. 2001. *The Unfinished Revolution: Social Movement Theory and the Gay and Lesbian Movement*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Epstein, Ronald M., Peter Franks, Kevin Fiscella, Cleveland G. Shields, Sean C. Meldrum, Richard L. Kravitz, Paul R. Duberstein. 2005. "Measuring Patient-Centered Communication in Patient-Physician Consultations: Theoretical and Practical Issues."
 Social Science and Medicine 61(7): 1516-1528.
- Epstein, Steven. 1996. *Impure Science: AIDS Activism and the Politics of Knowledge*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Epstein, Steven. 2004. "Bodily Differences and Collective Identities: The Politics of Gender and Race in Biomedical Research in the United States." *Body and Society* 10(2-3): 183-203.
- Epstein, Steven. 2008. "Patient Groups and Health Movements." Pp. 499-540 in *Handbook of Science and Technology Studies*, edited by E.J. Hackett, O. Amsterdamska, M. Lynch, and J. Wajcman. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Farnworth, Alison, Stephen C. Robson, Richard G. Thomson, Duika Burges Watson, Madeleine J. Murtagh. 2008. "Decision Support for Women Choosing Mode of Delivery After a Previous Caesarean Section: A Developmental Study." *Patient Education and Counseling* 71(1): 116-124.
- Fausto-Sterling, Anne. 2000. Sexing the Body: Gender Politics and the Construction of Sexuality. New York: Basic Books.
- Feder, Ellen K. 2009. "Imperatives of Normality: From "Intersex" to "Disorders of Sex Development." *GLQ: A Journal of Lesbian and Gay Studies* 15(2): 225-247.
- Feder, Ellen K. 2014. *Making Sense of Intersex: Changing Ethical Perspectives in Biomedicine*. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.

- Feder, Ellen K. 2015. "Beyond Good Intentions." Narrative Inquiry in Bioethics 5(2): 133-138.
- Feder, Ellen K. and Katrina Karkazis 2008. "What's in a Name? The Controversy Over "Disorders of Sex Development. *The Hastings Center Report* 38(5): 33-36.
- Finesinger, Jacob E., Joe V. Meigs, and Hirsh W. Sulkowitch. 1942. "Clinical, Psychiatric, and Psychoanalytic Study of a Case of Male Pseudohermaphroditism." *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 44(2): 310-317.
- Fishman, Jennifer. 2010. "Viagra and the Biomedicalization of Sexual Dysfunction." Pp. 289-306 in *Biomedicalization: Technoscience and Transformations of Health and Illness in the U.S.*, edited by A.E. Clarke, L. Mamo, J. Fosket, J. Fishman, J. Shim, J. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Foucault, Michel. 1973. *Birth of the Clinic. An Archeology of Medical Perception*. New York: Vintage Books.
- Foucault, Michel. 1977. Discipline and Punish: The Birth of the Prison. New York: Pantheon.
- Foucault, Michel. 1989. *The Order of Things: An Archeology of the Human Sciences*. New York: Routledge.
- Freidson, Eliot. 1970. *Profession of Medicine: A Study in the Sociology of Applied Knowledge*.

 Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Frickel, Scott. 2004. "Building an Interdiscipline: Collective Action Framing and the Rise of Genetic Toxicology." *Social Problems* 51(2): 269-287.
- Gamson, William A. 1990. *The Strategy of Social Protest* (2nd ed.). Homewood, IL: Dorsey Press.
- Gamson, William A. 1992. "The Social Psychology of Collective Action." Pp. 53-76 in *Frontiers in Social Movement Theory*, edited by A.D. Morris and C.M. Mueller.

- Ganz, Marshall. 2000. "Resources and Resourcefulness: Strategic Capacity in the Unionization of California Agriculture, 1959-1966. *American Journal of Sociology* 105(4): 1003-1062.
- Gardner, John. 2014. "A Sociology of Medical Innovation: Deep Brain Stimulation and the Treatment of Children with Dystonia." PhD dissertation, Brunel University London.
- Gawande, Atul. 2011. "Cowboys and Pit Crews." *The New Yorker*, May 26. Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/cowboys-and-pit-crews).
- "Gender Limbo." 1997. *Newsweek*, May 18. Retrieved August 14, 2014 (https://www.newsweek.com/gender-limbo-173114).
- Germon, Jennifer. 2006. Gender: A Genealogy of an Idea. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Giugni, Marco, Ruud Koopmans, Florence Passy, and Paul Statham. 2005. "Institutional and Discursive Opportunities for Extreme-Right Mobilization in Five Countries."

 Mobilization 10(1): 145-162.
- Greenberg, Julie. 2005. "Intersex and Intrasex Debates: Building Alliances to Challenge Sex Discrimination." *Cardozo Journal of Law and Gender* 12: 99-116.
- Greenberg, Julie. 2012. *Intersexuality and the Law: Why Sex Matters*. New York: New York University Press.
- Greenfield, Charlotte. 2014. "Should we 'Fix' Intersex Children?" *The Atlantic*, July 8.

 Retrieved August 1, 2014 (https://www.theatlantic.com/health/archive/2014/07/should-we-fix-intersex-children/373536/).
- Griffiths, David A. 2018. "Shifting Syndromes: Sex Chromosome Variations and Intersex Classifications." *Social Studies of Science* 48(1): 125-148.

- Gross, Terry. 1997. "Intersexuality: In Defense of Modern "Corrective" Gender Surgery." *Fresh Air*, December 11. Retrieved April 14, 2014

 (https://freshairarchive.org/segments/intersexuality-defense-modern-corrective-gender-surgery).
- Groveman, Sherri A. 1999. "The Hanukkah Bush: Ethical Implications in the Clinical Management of Intersex." Pp. 23-28 in *Intersex in the Age of Ethics*, edited by A.D. Dreger. Hagerstown, MD: University Publishing Group.
- Grumbach, Kevin. and Thomas Bodenheimer. 2004. "Can Health Care Teams Improve Primary Care Practice?" *JAMA* 291(10: 1246-1251.
- Haines, Herbert H. 2006. "Dangerous Issues and Public Identities: The Negotiation of Controversy in Two Movement Organizations." *Sociological Inquiry* 76(2): 231-263.
- Hampson, Joan G. 1955. "Hermaphroditic Genital Appearance, Rearing, and Eroticism in Hyperadrenocorticism." *Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital* 97(4): 265-273.
- Hampson, John L., Joan G. Hampson, and John Money. 1955. "The Syndrome of Gonadal Agenesis (Ovarian Agenesis) and Male Chromosomal Pattern in Girls and Women:

 Psychologic Studies." *Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital* 97(3): 207-226.
- Hausman, Bernice. 1995. *Changing Sex: Transsexualism, Technology, and the Idea of Gender.*Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Hegarty, Peter, Marta Prandelli, Tove Lundberg, Lih-Mei Liao, Sarah Creighton, and Katrina Roen. 2020. "Drawing the Line Between Essential and Nonessential Interventions on Intersex Characteristics with European Health Care Professionals." *Review of General Psychology* 25(1): 101-114.
- Hendricks, Melissa. 1993. "Is it a Boy or a Girl?" Johns Hopkins Magazine 45: 10-16.

- Hilson, C. 2002. "New Social Movements: The Role of Legal Opportunity." *Journal of European Public Policy* 9(2): 238-255.
- Hines, Melissa. 1993. "The Hormonal and Neural Correlates of Sex-Typed Behavioral Development in Human Beings." Pp. 131-149 in *The Development of Sex Differences and Similarities in Behavior*, edited by M. Haug, R.E. Whalen, C. Aron C., K.L. Olsen. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Holmes, Morgan. 2002. "Rethinking the Meaning and Management of Intersexuality." *Sexualities* 5(2): 159-180.
- Holmes, Morgan. 2004. "Locating Third Sexes." Transformations 8: 1-14.
- Holmes, Morgan. 2011. "The Intersex Enchiridion: Naming and Knowledge." *Somatechnics* 1(2): 388-411.
- Hughes, Ieuan. 1990. "Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia." *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 1(3): 123-128.
- Hughes, Ieuan A. 2008. "Disorders of Sex Development: A New Definition and Classification."

 Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 22(1): 119-134.
- Hughes, Ieuan A. 2010. "The Quiet Revolution." Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 24(2): 159-162.
- Hughes, Ieuan A. 2015. "Consequences of the Chicago DSD Consensus: A Personal Perspective." *Hormone Metabolic Research* 47(5): 394-400.
- Human Rights Watch. 2017. "'I Want to be Like Nature Made Me.'" Retrieved August 3, 2017 (https://www.hrw.org/report/2017/07/25/i-want-be-nature-made-me/medically-unnecessary-surgeries-intersex-children-us).

- Hutson, David J. 2011. "Introduction: Looking Within from Without." Pp. xxix-xxxvii in *Sociology of Diagnosis*, edited by P.J. McGann and D.J. Hutson. Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Ingersoll, Francis M. and Jacob E. Finesinger. 1947. "A Case of Male Pseudohermaphroditism:

 The Importance of Psychiatry in the Surgery of this Condition." *Surgical Clinics of North America* 27(5): 1218-1225.
- Institute of Medicine. 2001. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- InterAct. n.d. "InterAct Youth Program." Retrieved March 1, 2021 (https://interactadvocates.org/our-advocacy/interact-youth-program/).
- InterAct. 2015. "New UN Intersex Fact Sheet." Retrieved March 1, 2021 (https://interactadvocates.org/new-un-intersex-fact-sheet/).
- InterAct. 2016. "InterAct Statement on Intersex Terminology." Retrieved on March 1, 2021 (https://interactadvocates.org/?s=strategic+plan).
- InterAct 2017. "2013-2017: InterAct's Statement on M.C. v. Medical University of South Carolina." Retrieved on March 1, 2021 (https://interactadvocates.org/intersex-in-the-courts/).
- InterConnect. 2021. "A Brief History of the Androgen Insensitivity Syndrome-Differences of Sex Development (AIS-DSD) Support." Retrieved March 1, 2021 (https://interconnect.support/charmian-history/).
- Interface Project. 2019. "About." Retrieved March 1, 2021 (https://www.interfaceproject.org/about).

- ISNA. 1994. "Welcome, Readers!" *Hermaphrodites with Attitude* 1(1): 1-6. Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://isna.org/files/hwa/winter1995.pdf).
- ISNA. 1998. "Inside Edition Gets It Right and Presents Out, Unashamed Intersexed People:

 Their Words, Their Lives, and No Disguises." Retrieved April 14, 2014

 (https://isna.org/node/14/).
- ISNA. 2005. 2005 Annual Appeal. Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://isna.org/files/hwa/winter2005.pdf).
- ISNA. 2008a. "Our Mission." Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://isna.org).
- ISNA. 2008b. "Shifting the Paradigm of Intersex Treatment." Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://isna.org/pdf/compare.pdf).
- ISNA. 2008c. "What's Wrong with the Way Intersex has Traditionally Been Treated?" Retrieved April 14, 2014 (http://www.isna.org/faq/printable).
- ISNA. 2008d. "Why is ISNA Using DSD?" Retrieved on April 14, 2014 (https://isna.org/node/1066/).
- "Intersexuals." 1997. *All Things Considered*, November 28. Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://www.npr.org/programs/all-things-considered/archive?date=11-30-1997).
- Jordan-Young, Rebecca M. 2010. *Brain Storm: The Flaws in the Science of Sex Differences*.

 Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Joyce, Kelly, 2008. Magnetic Appeal: MRI and the Myth of Transparency. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press
- Jutel, Annemarie. 2009. "Sociology of Diagnosis: A Preliminary Review." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 31(2): 278-299.

- Jutel, Annemarie. 2011. *Putting a Name to it: Diagnosis in Contemporary Society*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Karkazis, Katrina. 2008. *Fixing Sex: Intersex, Medical Authority, and Lived Experience*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Kaufman, Sharon .R. 2005. ... And a Time to Die: How American Hospitals Shape the End of Life. New York: Scribner.
- Keck, Margaret E. and Kathryn Sikkink. 1999. "Transnational Advocacy Networks in International and Regional Politics. *International Social Science Journal* 51(159): 89-101.
- Kenan, Stephanie H. 1998. "Scientific Studies of Human Sexual Difference in Interwar

 America." PhD dissertation, Department of History, University of California at Berkeley.
- Kessler, Suzanne J. 1990. "The Medical Construction of Gender: Case Management of Intersexed Infants." *Signs* 16(1): 3-26.
- Kessler, Suzanne J. 1998. Lessons from the Intersexed. Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Kessler, Suzanne J. and Wendy McKenna 1978. *Gender: An Ethnomethodological Approach*.

 New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Kipnis, Kenneth and Milton Diamond 1999. "Pediatric Ethics and the Surgical Assignment of Sex." Pp. 173-193 in *Intersex in the Age of Ethics*, edited by Alice D. Dreger.

 Hagerstown, MD: University Publishing Group.
- Klawiter, Maren. 2008. *The Biopolitics of Breast Cancer: Changing Cultures of Disease and Activism*. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Kleinman, Arthur. 1988. *Illness Narratives: Suffering, Healing, and the Human Condition*. New York: Basic Books.

- Kline, Wendy. 2010. *Bodies of Knowledge: Sexuality, Reproduction, and Women's Health in the Second Wave.* Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Kollman, Kelly and Matthew Waites. 2009. "The Global Politics of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual,

 Transgender Human Rights: An Introduction." *Contemporary Politics* 15(1): 1-17.
- Koopmans, Ruud. 2005. "The Missing Link Between Structure and Agency: Outline of an Evolutionary Approach to Social Movements." *Mobilization* 10(1): 19-33.
- Lachmund, Jens. 1998. "Between Scrutiny and Treatment: Physical Diagnosis and the Restructuring of 19th Century Medical Practice." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 20(6): 779-801.
- Landzelius, K. 2006. "Introduction: Patient Organization Movements and New Metamorphoses in Patienthood. *Social Science and Medicine* 62(3): 668-682.
- Laqueur, Thomas W. 1990. *Making Sex: Body and Gender from the Greeks to Freud.*Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Leavitt, Judith W. 1989. *Brought to Bed: Childbearing in America, 1750-1950*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lee, Peter A., Christopher P. Houk, S. Faisal Ahmed, Ieuan A. Hughes. 2006. "Consensus Statement on Management of Intersex Disorders." *Pediatrics* 118(2): e488-e500.
- Lee, Peter A., Anna Nordenstrom, Christopher P. Houk, S. Faisal Ahmed, Richard Auchus,
 Arlene Baratz, Katherine Baratz Dalke, Lih M. Liao, Karen Lin-Su, Leendert H.
 Looijenga, Tom Mazur, Heino F. Meyer-Bahlburg, Pierre Mouriquand, Charmian A.
 Quigley, David E. Sandberg, Eric Vilain, Selma Witchel, and DSD Update Consortium
 Global. 2016. "Global Disorders of Sex Development Update since 2006: Perceptions,
 Approach, and Care." *Hormone Research in Paediatrics* 85(3): 158-180.

- Liao, Lih-Mei and Mary Boyle. 2004. "Surgical Feminizing: The Right Approach?" *Psychologist* 17(8): 459-462.
- Lillie, Frank R.1916. "Theory of the Freemartin." Science 43(1113): 611-613.
- Lillie, Frank R. 1917. "The Free-martin, a Study of the Action of Sex Hormones in Foetal Life of Cattle." *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 23: 371-452.
- Lobe, Thorn E., Diane L. Woodall, Gail E. Richards, Anita Cavallo, and Walter J. Meye. 1987.

 "The Complications of Surgery for Intersex: Changing Patterns over Two Decades."

 Journal of Pediatric Surgery 22(7): 651-652.
- Loe, Meika. 2004. *The Rise of Viagra: How the Little Blue Pill Changed Sex in America*. New York: New York University Press.
- Luthra, Shefali. 2020. "Boston Children's Hospital will no Longer Perform Two Types of Intersex Surgery on Children." *USA Today*, October 22. Retrieved May 11, 2021 (https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/health/2020/10/22/intersex-surgery-boston-childrens-hospitals-decision-watershed-moment-rights/3721096001/).
- Mak, Geertje. 2005. "Doubtful Sex in Civil Law: Nineteenth and Early Twentieth Century

 Proposals for Ruling Hermaphroditism." *Cardozo Journal of Law and Gender* 12: 197211.
- Mak, Geertje. 2012. Doubting Sex: Inscriptions, Bodies, and Selves in Nineteenth-century

 Hermaphrodite Case Histories. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Mak, Geertje. 2015. "Conflicting Heterosexualities: Hermaphroditism and the Emergence of Surgery Around 1900. *Journal of the History of Sexuality* 24(3): 402-427.
- Mamo, Laura. 2007. *Queering Reproduction: Achieving Pregnancy in the Age of Technoscience*.

 Durham, NC: Duke University Press.

- Mamo, Laura. 2010. "Fertility Inc.: Consumption and Subjectification in Lesbian Reproductive Practices." Pp. 173-196 in *Biomedicalization: Technoscience and Transformations of Health and Illness in the U.S.*, edited by A.E. Clarke, L. Mamo, J. Fosket, J. Fishman, J. Shim, J. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Mansbridge, Jane and Aldon Morris. 2001. *Oppositional Consciousness: The Subjective Roots of Social Protest*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Martin, Emily. 1987. *The Woman in the Body: A Cultural Analysis of Reproduction*. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Martin, Graham P. and Rachael Finn. 2011. "Patients as Team Members: Opportunities, Challenges, and Paradoxes of Including Patients in Multi-Professional Healthcare Teams." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 33(7): 1050-1065.
- Massanyi, Eric Z., Heather N. DiCarlo, Claude J. Migeon, and John P. Gearhart. 2013. "Review and Management of 46, XY Disorders of Sex Development." *Journal of Pediatric Urology* 9(3): 368-379.
- Matta, Christina. 2005. "Ambiguous Bodies and Deviant Sexualities." *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine* 48(1): 74-83.
- May, William E. 1985. "Consensus or Coercion." JAMA 254(8): 1077.
- McAdam, Doug. 1999. *Political Process and the Development of Black Insurgency, 1930-1970,* (2nd ed.). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- McCahey, James. 1938. "A New Conception of Hermaphroditism." *Surgery, Gynecology, and Obstetrics* 67: 646-654.
- McCammon, Holly J. 2003. "Out of the Parlors and into the Streets': The Changing Tactical Repertoire of the U.S. Women's Suffrage Movements." *Social Forces* 81(3): 787-818.

- McCammon, Holly J. 2012. *The U.S. Women's Jury Movements and Strategic Adaptation: A More Just Verdict.* New York: Cambridge University Press.
- McGann, P.J. and Peter Conrad. 2007. "Medicalization of Deviance." Pp. 1110-1114 in *The Blackwell Encyclopedia of Sociology*, edited by G. Ritzer. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- Mead, George Herbert. 1934. *Mind, Self, and Society from the Standpoint of a Social Behaviorist*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Mead, Nicola and Peter Bower. 2000. "Patient-centeredness: A Conceptual Framework and Review of the Empirical Literature." *Social Science and Medicine* 51(7): 1087-1110.
- Melucci, Alberto. 1996. *Challenging Codes: Collective Action in the Information Age.*Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Meyer, David S. and Suzanne Staggenborg. 2008. "Opposing Movement Strategies in U.S.

 Abortion Politics." *Research in Social Movements, Conflicts, and Change* 28: 207-238.
- Meyer, David S. and Suzanne Staggenborg. 2012. "Thinking About Strategy." Pp. 3-22 in *Strategies for Social Change*, edited by G.M. Maney, R.V. Kutz-Flamenbaum, D.A. Rohlinger, and J. Goodwin. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Meyer-Bahlburg, Heino F.L. 1998. "Gender Assignment in Intersexuality." *Journal of Psychology and Human Sexuality* 10: 1-21.
- Meyer-Bahlburg, Heino F.L. 2005. "Gender Identity Outcome in Female-Raised 46, XY Persons with Penile Agenesis, Cloacal Exstrophy of the Bladder or Penile Ablation." *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 34(4): 423-438.
- Meyerowitz, Joanne. 2002. *How Sex Changed: A History of Transsexuality in the United States*.

 Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Minkoff, Debra C. 1999. "Bending with the Wind: Strategic Change and Adaptation by Women's and Racial Minority Organizations." *American Journal of Sociology* 104(6): 1666-1703.
- Minogue, Brendan and Robert Taraszewski. 1988. "The Whole Truth and Nothing But the Truth? Commentary." *The Hastings Center Report* 18(5): 34-35.
- Mitchell, Pamela, Matthew Wynia, Robyn Golden, Bob McNellis, Sally Okun, C. Edwin Webb, Valerie Rohrbach, and Isabelle Von Kohorn. 2012. *Core Principles & Values of Effective Team-Based Health Care*. Washington, DC: National Academy of Medicine.
- Money, John. 1952. "Hermaphroditism: An Inquiry into a Human Paradox." PhD dissertation, Harvard University.
- Money, John. 1955. "Hermaphroditism, Gender, and Precocity in Hyperadrenocorticism: Psychologic Findings." *Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital* 96(6): 253-264.
- Money, John, ed. 1965. Sex Research: New Developments. New York: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston.
- Money, John 1975. "Psychological Counseling: Hermaphroditism." Pp. 609-618 in *Endocrine*and Genetic Diseases of Childhood and Adolescence, edited by L. Gardner. Philadelphia,
 PA: Saunders.
- Money, John. 1994. Sex Errors of the Body and Related Syndromes: A Guide to Counseling Children, Adolescents, and Their Families, 2nd ed. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing.
- Money, John 1995. *Gendermaps: Social Constructionism, Feminism and Sexosophical History*. New York: Continuum.

- Money, John and Anke A. Ehrhardt. 1972. Man and Woman, Boy and Girl: The Differentiation and Dimorphism of Gender Identity from Conception to Maturity. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Money, John, Joan G. Hampson, John L. Hampson. 1955a. "An Examination of Some Basic Sexual Concepts." *Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital* 97: 301-319.
- Money, John, Joan G. Hampson, John L. Hampson. 1955b. "Hermaphroditism:

 Recommendations Concerning Assignment of Sex, Change of Sex, and Psychologic

 Management." *Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital* 97: 284-300.
- Money, John, Joan G. Hampson, John L. Hampson. 1956. "Sexual Incongruities and Psychopathology: The Evidence of Human Hermaphroditism." *Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital* 98: 43-57.
- Money, John, Joan G. Hampson, John L. Hampson. 1957. "Imprinting and the Establishment of Gender Role." *Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry* 77: 333-336.
- Moore, Keith L., Margaret A. Graham, and Murray L. Barr. 1953. "The Detection of Chromosomal Sex in Hermaphrodites from a Skin Biopsy." *Surgery, Gynecology, & Obstetrics* 96(6): 641-648.
- Moreno, Angela. 1999. "In Amerika They Call Us Hermaphrodites." Pp. 137-139 in *Intersex in the Age of Ethics*, edited by A.D. Dreger. Hagerstown, MD: University Publishing Group.
- Morgan, Myfanwy. 2008. "The Doctor-Patient Relationship." Pp. 55-70 in *Sociology as Applied to Medicine*, 6th ed., edited by G. Scambler. Edinburgh: Saunders Elsevier.
- Morris, Sherri Groveman. 2006. "DSD but Intersex Too: Shifting Paradigms Without Abandoning Roots." Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://isna.org/node/1067/).

- Mouriquand, Pierre D.E., Daniela Brindusa Gorduza, Claire-Lise. Gay, Heino F.L. Meyer-Bahlburg, Linda Baker, Laurence S. Baskin, Claire Bouvattier, Luis H. Braga, Anthony C. Caldamone, Lise Duranteau, Alaa El Ghoneimi, Terry W. Hensle, Piet Hoebeke, Martin Kaefer, Nicolas Kalfa, Thomas F. Kolon, Gianantonio Manzoni, Pierre-Yves Mure, Agneta Nordenskjöld, J.L. Pippi Salle, Dix Phillip Poppas, Philip G. Ransley, Richard C. Rink, Romao Rodrigo, Léon Sann, Justine Schober, Hisham Sibai, Amy Wisniewski, Katja P. Wolffenbuttel, and Peter Lee. 2016. "Surgery in Disorders of Sex Development (DSD) with a Gender Issue: If (Why), When, and How?" *Journal of Pediatric Urology* 12(3): 139-149.
- Murphy, Michelle. 2006. Sick Building Syndrome and the Problem of Uncertainty:

 Environmental Politics, Technoscience, and Women Workers. Durham, NC: Duke
 University Press.
- Murtagh, Madeleine J., Duika L. Burges Watson, K. Neil Jenkings, Mabel L.S. Lie, Joan E. Mackintosh, Gary A. Ford, Richard G. Thomson. 2012. "Situationally-Sensitive Knowledge Translation and Relational Decision Making in Hyperacute Stroke: A Qualitative Study." *PloS One* 7(6): e37066.
- Natarajan, Anita. 1996. "Medical Ethics and Truth Telling in the Case of Androgen Insensitivity Syndrome." *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 154(4): 568-570.
- Nettleton, Sarah. 2006. "'I Just Want Permission to be Ill': Towards a Sociology of Medically Unexplained Symptoms." *Social Science and Medicine* 62(5): 1167-1178.
- Newman, Harmony D. and Laura M. Carpenter. 2018. "Embodiment Without Bodies? Analysis of Embodiment in US-based Pro-breastfeeding and Anti-male Circumcision Movements." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 36(5): 639-654.

- Newman, Kurt, Judson Randolph, and Kathryn Anderson. 1992. "The Surgical management of Infants and Children with Ambiguous Genitalia: Lessons Learned from 25 Years. *Annals of Surgery* 215(6): 644-653.
- Oliver, Michael F. 1985. "Consensus or Nonsensus Conferences on Coronary Heart Disease." *The Lancet* 325(8437):1087-1089.
- OII. 2007. "Why We Do Not Use "Disorder of Sex Development." Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://oiiinternational.com/697/why-we-do-not-use-disorder-of-sex-development/).
- OII. 2012. "Welcome and Introduction." Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://oiiinternational.com/2533/welcome/).
- OII 2013. "Your Beautiful Child: Information for Parents." Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://oiiinternational.com/2811/your-beautiful-child-information-for-parents/).
- Oudshoorn, Nelly. 1994. *Beyond the Natural Body: An Archaeology of Sex Hormones*. New York: Routledge.
- Palmer, Blake W., Amy B. Wisniewski, Traci L. Schaeffer, Ashwini Mallappa, Jeanie B.

 Tryggestad, Sowmya Krishnan, Laura J. Chalmers, Kenneth Copeland, Steven D.

 Chernausek, William G. Reiner, and Bradley P. Kropp. 2012. "A Model of Delivering

 Multi-Disciplinary Care to People with 46 XY DSD." *Journal of Pediatric Urology* 8(1): 7-16.
- Parens, Erik. 2006. Surgically Shaping Children: Technology, Ethics, and the Pursuit of Normality. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.

- Parisi, Melissa A., Linda A. Ramsdell, Mark W. Burns, Michael C. Carr, Richard E. Grady,
 Daniel F. Gunther, Gadi B. Kletter, Elizabeth McCauley, Michael E. Mitchell, Kent E.
 Opheim, and Catherine Pihoker, Gail E. Richards, Michael R. Soules, and Roberta A.
 Pagon. 2007. "A Gender Assessment Team: Experience with 250 Patients Over a Period of 25 Years." *Genetics in Medicine* 9(6): 348-357.
- Pasterski, Vickie, Philippa Prentice, and Ieuan A. Hughes. 2010. "Consequences of the Chicago Consensus on Disorders of Sex Development (DSD): Current Practices in Europe."

 Archives of Disease in Childhood 95(8): 618-623.
- Pickering, Andrew, ed. 1992. *Science as Practice and Culture*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Politi, Mary C., Carmen L. Lewis, and Dominick L. Frosch. 2013. "Supporting Shared Decisions When Clinical Evidence is Low." *Medical Care Research and Review* 70(1Suppl):113S-128S.
- Poole, Marshall S. and Kevin Real. 2003. "Groups and Teams in Health Care: Communication and Effectiveness." Pp. 369-402 in *Handbook of Health Communication*, edited by T. Thompson, A. Dorsey, K.I. Miller, and R. Parrott. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Poovey, Mary. 1995. *Making a Social Body: British Cultural Formation, 1830-1864*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Porter, Theodore M. 1986. *The Rise of Statistical Thinking: 1820-1900*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Preves, Sharon E. 1999. "For the Sake of the Children: Destignatizing Intersexuality." Pp. 51-65 in *Intersex in the Age of Ethics*, edited by A.D. Dreger. Hagerstown, MD: University Publishing Group.

- Preves, Sharon E. 2002. "Sexing the Intersexed: An Analysis of Sociocultural Responses to Intersexuality." *Signs* 27(2): 523-556.
- Preves, Sharon E. 2003. *Intersex and Identity: The Contested Self.* New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Preves, Sharon E. 2005. "Out of the O.R. and into the Streets: Exploring the Impact of the Intersex Media Activism." *Cardozo Journal of Law and Gender* 12(1): 247-288.
- Rabinow, Paul. 1999. "Artificiality and Enlightenment: From Sociobiology to Biosociality." Pp. 407-416 in *The Science Studies Reader*, edited by M. Biagioli. New York: Routledge.
- Rapley, Tim. 2008. "Distributed Decision Making: The Anatomy of Decisions-in-Action." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 30(3): 429-444.
- Redick, Alison. 2004. "American History XY: The Medical Treatment of History, 1916-1955.

 Ph.D. dissertation, Department of American Studies, New York University.
- Reiner, William G. 1996. "Case Study: Sex Reassignment in a Teenage Girl." *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 35(6): 799-803.
- Reis, Elizabeth. 2007. "Divergence or Disorder? The Politics of Naming Intersex." *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine* 50(4): 535-543.
- Reis, Elizabeth. 2009. *Bodies in Doubt: An American History of Intersex*. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Rennie, Drummond. 1981. "Consensus Statements." *New England Journal of Medicine* 304: 665-666.
- Robinson, Janice H., Lynn C. Callister, Judith A. Berry, Karen A. Dearing. 2008. "Patient-Centered Care and Adherence: Definitions and Applications to Improve Outcomes." *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners* 20(12): 600-607.

- Roen, Katrina. 2004. "Intersex Embodiment: When Health Care Means Maintaining Binary Sexes." *Sexual Health* 1(3): 127-130.
- Romao, Rodrigo L.P., Joao L. Pippi Salle, and Diane K. Wherrett. 2011. "Update on the Management of Disorders of Sex Development." *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 59(4): 853-869.
- Rothman, David J. 1991. Strangers at the Bedside: A History of How Law and Bioethics

 Transformed Medical Decision Making. New York: Basic Books.
- Rubin, Gayle.1975. "The Traffic in Women: Notes on a Political Economy of Sex." Pp. 157-210 in *Toward an Anthropology of Women*, edited by R.R. Reiter. Boston, MA: Monthly Review Press.
- Rubin, David. 2012. "An Unnamed Blank that Craved a Name: A Genealogy of Intersex as Gender." *Signs* 37(4): 883-908.
- Rubovits, William H. and William Saphir. 1938. "Intersexuality." *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 10(22): 1823-1826.
- Sackett, David L, William M.C. Rosenberg, J.A. Muir Gray, R. Brian Haynes, and W. Scott Richardson. 1996. "Evidence Based Medicine: What it is and What it Isn't." *British Medical Journal* 312(7023):71-72.
- Saguy, Abigail C. 2020. *Come Out, Come Out, Whoever You Are.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sandberg, David E. 2012. "Management of Disorders of Sex Development: Editorial Commentary." *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 59: 871-880.

- Sandberg, David E., Nina Callens, and Amy B. Wisniewski. 2015. "Disorders of Sex Development (DSD): Networking and Standardization Considerations." *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 47(5): 387-393.
- Sandberg, David E. and Tom Mazur. 2014. "A Noncategorical Approach to the Psychosocial Care of Persons with DSD and their Families." Pp. 93-114 in *Gender Dysphoria and Disorders of Sex Development: Progress in Care and Knowledge*, edited by B.P.C. Kreukels, T.D. Steensma, and A.L.C. de Vries. New York: Springer.
- Schober, Justine, Anna Nordenstrom, Piet Hoebeke, Peter Lee, Christopher Houk, Leendert Looijenga, Gianantonio Manzoni, William Reiner, and Christopher Woodhouse. 2012.
 "Disorders of Sex Development: Summaries of Long-Term Outcome Studies." *Journal of Pediatric Urology* 8(6): 616-623.
- Schwartz Cowan, Ruth. 1992. "Genetic Technology and Reproductive Choice: An Ethics for Autonomy." Pp. 244-263 in *The Code of Codes: Scientific and Social Issues in the Human Genome Project*, edited by D.J. Kevles and L. Hood. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Schwartz, William B., G. Anthony Gorry, Jerome P. Kassirer, and Alvin Essig. 1973. "Decision Analysis and Clinical Judgement." *American Journal of Medicine* 55(4): 459-472.
- Siminoff, Laura A. and David E. Sandberg. 2015. "Promoting Shared Decision Making in Disorders of Sex Development (DSD): Decision Aids and Support Tools." *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 47: 335-339.
- Simmonds, Margaret. 2006. "Was Variations of Reproductive Development Considered?" *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, August 17. Retrieved April 1, 2012 (https://adc.bmj.com/content/91/7/554.responses).

- Smith, Clinton K. and A. Lloyd Stockwell. 1940. "Female Pseudohermaphroditism." *The Journal of Urology* 43(1): 234-244.
- Smithey, Lee A. 2009. "Social Movement Strategy, Tactics, and Collective Identity." *Sociology Compass* 3(4): 658-671.
- Snow, David A. and Robert D. Benford. 1988. "Ideology, Frame Resonance, and Participant Mobilization." *International Social Movement Research* 1(1): 197-217.
- Snow, David A. and Robert D. Benford. 2005. "Clarifying the Relationship between Framing and Ideology." Pp. 205-212 in *Frames of Protest: Social Movements and the Framing Perspective*, edited by H Johnston and J.A. Noakes. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Snow, David A. E. Burke Rochford, Jr., Steven K. Worden, and Robert D. Benford. 1986. "Frame Alignment Processes, Micromobilization, and Movement Participation."

 **American Sociological Review 51(4): 464-481.
- Spurgas, Alyson K. 2009. "(Un)Queering Identity: The Biosocial Production of Intersex/DSD." Pp.97-122 in *Critical Intersex*, edited by M. Holmes. Abingdon: Ashgate Publishing.
- STAR-G. 2012. CAH (Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia). Retrieved April 14, 2014 (https://www.newbornscreening.info/cah-congenital-adrenal-hyperplasia/#3).
- Star, Susan Leigh. 1993. "Cooperation without Consensus in Scientific Problem Solving:

 Dynamics of Closure in Open Systems." Pp. 93-105 in *CSCW: Cooperation or Conflict*,
 edited by S. Easterbrook. London: Springer.
- Starr, Paul. 1982. The Social Transformation of American Medicine. New York: Basic Books.

- Stewart, Moira, Judith Belle Brown, Allan Donner, Ian R. McWhinney, Julian Oates, W. Wayne Weston, and John Jordan. 2000. "The Impact of Patient-Centered Care on Outcomes." *Journal of Family Practice* 49(9): 796-804.
- Strauss, Anselm L. 1959. Mirrors and Masks: The Search for Identity. Glencoe, IL: Free Press.
- Strauss, Anselm L. 1978. "A Social World Perspective." *Studies in Symbolic Interaction* 1: 119-128.
- Strauss, Anselm L. 1982. "Social Worlds and Legitimation Processes." *Studies in Symbolic Interaction* 4: 171-190.
- Strauss, Anselm L. 1991. Creating Sociological Awareness: Collective Images and Symbolic Representation. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books.
- Strauss, Anselm L. 1993. Continual Permutations of Action. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Strauss, Anselm and Juliet Corbin 1998. *Basics of Qualitative Research: Grounded Theory Procedures and Techniques*. London: Sage.
- Sudai, Maayan. 2018. "Revisiting the Limits of Professional Autonomy: The Intersex Rights

 Movement's Path to De-medicalization." *Harvard Journal of Law and Gender* 41: 1-54.
- Swidler, Ann. 1995. "Cultural Power and Social Movements." Pp. 25-40 in *Social Movements* and Culture, edited by H. Johnston and B. Klandermans. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Sytsma, Sharon E., ed. 2006. Ethics and Intersex. Netherlands: Springer.
- Tamar-Mattis, Anne. 2006. "Exceptions to the Rule: Curing the Law's Failure to Protect Intersex Infants." *Berkeley Journal of Gender, Law, and Justice* 21(1): 59-110.

- Tamar-Mattis, Anne, Arlene B. Baratz, Katherine Baratz Dalke, and Katrina Karkazis. 2014. "Emotionally and Cognitively Informed Consent for Clinical Care for Differences of Sex Development." *Psychology and Sexuality* 5(1): 44-55.
- Taylor, Verta and Leila J. Rupp. 1993. "Women's Culture and Lesbian Feminist Activism: A Reconsideration of Cultural Feminism." *Signs* 19(1): 32-61.
- Taylor, Verta and Nella Van Dyke. 2004. "'Get Up, Stand Up': Tactical Repertoires of Social Movements." Pp. 262-293 in *The Blackwell Companion to Social Movements*, edited by D.A. Snow, S.A. Soule, and H. Kriesi. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- "The Boy who was Turned Into a Girl." 2000. *BBC*, December 7. Retrieved April 4, 2014 (http://www.bbc.co.uk/science/horizon/2000/boyturnedgirl_transcript.shtml).
- "The Sexes: Biological Imperatives." 1973. *TIME*, January 8, 34. Retrieved April 14, 2014 (http://content.time.com/time/subscriber/article/0,33009,910514-1,00.html).
- Timmermans, Stefan. 2007. *Postmortem: How Medical Examiners Explain Suspicious Deaths*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Timmermans, Stefan and Alison Angell. 2001. "Evidence-based Medicine, Clinical Uncertainty, and Learning to Doctor." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 42(4): 342-359.
- Timmermans, Stefan and Marc Berg. 2003. *The Gold Standard: The Challenge of Evidence-based Medicine and Standardization in Health Care*. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.

- Timmermans, Stefan, Ashelee Yang, Melissa Gardner, Catherine E. Keegan, Beverly M. Yashar, Patricia Y. Fechner, Margarett Shnorhavorian, Eric Vilain, Laura A. Siminoff, and David E. Sandberg. 2018. "Does Patient-centered Care Change Genital Surgery Decisions? The Strategic Use of Clinical Uncertainty in Disorders of Sex Development Clinics." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 59(4): 520-535.
- Timmermans, Stefan, Ashelee Yang, Melissa Gardner, Catherine E. Keegan, Beverly M. Yashar, Patricia Y. Fechner, Margarett Scnorhavorian, Eric Vilain, Laura A. Siminoff, and David E. Sandberg. 2019. "Gender Destinies: Assigning Gender in Disorders of Sex Development-Intersex Clinics." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 41(8): 1520-1534.
- Tooby, John and Leda Cosmides 1989. "Evolutionary Psychology and the Generation of Culture,

 Part I: Theoretical Considerations." *Ethology and Sociobiology* 10: 29-49.
- Topp, Sarah S. 2012. "Against the Quiet Revolution: The Rhetorical Construction of Intersex Individuals as Disordered." *Sexualities* 16(1/2): 180-194.
- UN Human Rights Council. 2013. "Report of the Special Rapporteur on Torture and Other Cruel, Inhumane or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Juan E. Méndez." Retrieved on April 14, 2014 (https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G13/105/77/PDF/G1310577.pdf?OpenElement).
- UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. 1989. "Convention on the Rights of the Child." Retrieved February 1, 2021

 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/crc.pdf).

- UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. 2019. "Background Note on Human Rights Violations Against Intersex People." Retrieved February 1, 2021 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Discrimination/LGBT/BackgroundNoteHumanRightsViolationsagainstIntersexPeople.pdf).
- Vance, Carole S. 1991. "Anthropology Rediscovers Sexuality: A Theoretical Comment. *Social Science & Medicine* 33(8): 875-884.
- Vanhala, Lisa. 2009. "Disability Rights Activists in the Supreme Court of Canada: Legal Mobilization Theory and Accommodating Social Movements." *Canadian Journal of Political Science* 42(4): 981-1002.
- Vidal, Isabelle, Daniela Brindusa Gorduza, Elodie-Haraux, Claire-Lise Gay, Pierre Chatelain, Marc Nicolino, Pierre-Yves Mure, Pierre Mouriquand. 2010. "Surgical Options in Disorders of Sex Development (DSD) with Ambiguous Genitalia." *Best Practice and Research Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 24(2): 311-324.
- Vilain, Eric, John C. Achermann, Erica A. Eugster, Vincent R. Harley, Yves Morel, Jean D.Wilson, and Olaf Hiort. 2007. "We Used to Call Them Hermaphrodites." *Genetics in Medicine* 9(2): 65-66.
- Vilain, Eric and David E. Sandberg. 2009. "Disorders of Sex Development: Nomenclature." *Growth, Genetics, and Hormones* 25(1): 9-10.
- Waddington, Ivan. 1990. "The Movement Towards the Professionalisation of Medicine." *British Medical Journal* 301(6754): 688-690.
- Waitzkin, Howard. 1991. *The Politics of Medical Encounters: How Patients and Doctors Deal with Social Problems*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

- Watson, Duika Burges, Richard G. Thomson, and Madeleine Murtagh. 2008. "Professional Centred Shared Decision Making: Patient Decision Aids in Practice in Primary Care."

 BMC Health Services Research 8(1): 1-9.
- Wilffenbuttel, Katja P. and Naomi S. Crouch 2014. "Timing of Feminising Surgery in Disorders of Sex Development." *Endocrine Development* 27: 210-221.
- Wilkins, Lawson, Roger A. Lewis, Robert Klein, Lytt I. Gardner, John F. Crigler, Jr., Eugenia Rosemberg, Claude Jean Migeon. 1951. "Treatment of Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia with Cortisone." *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* 11(1): 1-25.
- Williams, Simon J. and Michael Calnan. 1996. "The 'Limits' of Medicalization? Modern Medicine and the Lay Populace in 'Late' Modernity." *Social Science and Medicine* 42(12): 1609-1620.
- Wilson, Edward O. 1975. *Sociobiology: The New Synthesis*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wilson, Bruce E. and William G. Reiner 1999. "Management of Intersex: A Shifting Paradigm."

 Pp. 119-135 in *Intersex and the Age of Ethics*, edited by A.D. Dreger. Hagerstown, MD:

 University Publishing Group.
- Wisniewski, Amy B. and David E. Sandberg. 2015. "Parenting Children with DSD: A Developmental Perspective Beyond Gender. *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 47(5): 375-379.
- Wit, JM, CJ Kelnar, and MB Ranke. 2007. ESPE Classification of Paediatric Endocrine Diagnoses. *Hormone Research* 68 (Suppl 2): 1-120.

- Yankovic, Francisca, Abraham Cherian, Lisa Steven, Azad Mathur, and Peter Cuckow. 2013. "Current Practice in Feminizing Surgery for Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia: A Specialist Survey." *Journal of Pediatric Urology* 9(6): 1103-1107.
- Young, Hugh Hampton. 1937. *Genital Abnormalities, Hermaphroditism, and Related Adrenal Diseases*. Baltimore, MD: Williams and Wilkins.
- Zavestoski, Stephen, Rachel Morello-Frosch, Phil Brown, Brian Mayer, Sabrina McCormick, and Rebecca Gasior Altman. 2004. "Embodied Health Movements and Challenges to the Dominant Epidemiological Paradigm." *Research in Social Movements, Conflicts, and Change* 25: 253-278.
- Zill, Jördis M., Isabelle Scholl, Martin Härter, and Jörg Dirmaier. 2015. "Which Dimension of Patient-Centeredness Matter? Results of a Web-Based Expert Delphi Study." *PloS One* 10(11): 1-15.
- Zola, Irving K. 1972. "Medicine as an Institution of Social Control" *Sociological Review* 20: 487-504.